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Opening remarks

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS, LADIES
AND GENTLEMEN,
The year 2017 confirmed the success of the adopted long-

term strategy and stabilization of the Group, it reached a
crucial milestone by successfully commissioning the new
chlor-alkali electrolysis conversion and continued the
process of complex refinancing.

The new chlor-alkali electrolysis conversion project is the
largest investment in the history of the Group, at a cost of
2 billion crowns. The state-of-the-art, environmentally-friendly
technology replaced mercury electrolysis after 49 years.

Since the successful start of operation in April 2017, the new
technology has been producing high-quality products with
high efficiency. Successful implementation of this investment

is a key moment which ensures long-term functioning of the
Group, since our fundamental competitive advantage lies in
vertical chlorine processing based on the new electrolysis.

In September 2017, the Group signed new financing terms
within the complex refinancing process, to distribute the

banking debt service of the creditor - Poštová banka - over

The Group also consistently adheres to the new business

defer the maturity period until 30 September 2018 for non-

long-term contracts both in products and raw material, and

15 years with a grace period of 2 years. We managed to
banking loans from AB - CREDIT with the possibility to
extend the deferred payment to 30 September  2019. Within

the restructuring process, we managed to significantly

reduce the interest rate of both above-stated financial
partners to 2 % p.a. At the end of 2018, the Group reached

an agreement with the creditor AB - CREDIT to prolong the

maturity date of loans in total amount of CZK 1 169 million.
The prolongation was agreed until 31 December 2019.

As to the economic performance of the Group, the total
consolidated EBITDA reached CZK 338.6 million.

strategy by pursuing a more stable structure of customers,
eliminating risk. The Group continues the restrictive costsavings policy and strives to improve the working capital.

Last year, the Group carried out projects to increase safety
and intensify individual operations.

With respect to the completed investment projects, the

Group is planning an increase in EBITDA in 2018. The
Group significantly exceeded the plan as of the date the

annual report was issued, the expected EBITDA exceeding
CZK 850 million.

Positive influences were the ongoing large sales and margins
in epoxy resins and compliance with the restrictive cost-

effective regulations during the whole year. On the other

hand, capacity limitations in the inorganics group adversely
influenced the figures, as the technical condition of the old
electrolysis and transfer to the new membrane technology
led to generally lower production of hydroxides and chlorine

balance-linked products. From the fourth quarter of 2017,
the volume of inorganic production significantly grew.  

Ing. Daniel Tamchyna, MBA

Chairman of the Board and General Manager
In Ústí nad Labem, 21 December 2018
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Group profile
The industrial revolution in the late 19th century brought
a number of breakthrough inventions, innovations and
new technologies to human life. New industries were
established, and factories started developing and
producing new materials and products improving human
life. Many successful companies were established
based on innovative ideas, initiatives of entrepreneurial
spirit and the potential of educated people working
in research and production. One of the most famous
drivers of the industrial technical revolution is also the
key company of the Group - Spolek pro chemickou
a hutní výrobu, a.s. The factory, manufacturing soda
and calcium hypochlorite, opened its gates in 1856
in Ústí nad Labem to establish a tradition of chemical
entrepreneurship in the Ústí Region which significantly
contributed to the development of chemistry in
Bohemia. For over 160 years, the Group has been one
of the key players on the market due to its innovations,
quality, knowledge and care of customers.
The current fully integrated production of the Group is
based on the same pillars. Two R&D centres for research
into inorganics and resins, the technical service based
directly in Ústí nad Labem and the research institute for
synthetic resins in Pardubice provide the starting point
for the production of innovative synthetic resins and
inorganic specialities.
The 520 thousand square meter Group premises in Ústí
nad Labem particularly feature modern structures with
new technologies, built in this millennium. To maintain
its top position in the European chemicals industry, the
Group has invested over CZK 5 billion on the premises
since 2004.
The production portfolio of the Group is presently
profiled in five fundamental areas:   Inorganics, Epoxy
resins, Special epoxy systems, Alkyd resins and Other
polymers.
For the inorganics segment, completion of the new
chlor-alkali electrolysis conversion project was crucial
and is the largest investment project of the Group
in its history at a cost of CZK 2 billion. The state-ofthe-art, environmentally-friendly technology replaced
the mercury electrolysis after 49 years. Production
successfully started in April 2017, and the facility meets
the declared production quality and volumes.
Apart from the production of sodium and potassium
hydroxide, inorganics also include special chlorine
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„

The production portfolio
of the Group is presently
profiled in five fundamental
areas: Inorganics, Epoxy
resins, Special epoxy
systems, Alkyd resins and
Other polymers.

derivatives. The unique production technology allows
us to change the production ratio of sodium hydroxide
and potassium hydroxide in flexible response to market
fluctuations and changes in market demand.
Production for the epoxy resin segment is provided
primarily by two modern epoxy resin manufacturing
plants built in 2004 and 2008. The Epoxy resins
can boast a very high quality also due to Japanese
technology.
Efforts to increase production efficiency, improve
material properties and mitigate environmental impacts
led to the development of our own technology. The
Group is the first in Europe to manufacture a unique
certified ”green” epoxy resin. The source material
is ECH-G, which is produced by the Group in the
integrated production process.
The special epoxy systems of the Group are based on
the high quality of the basic epoxy resin and proficiency
based on the long-term research done in our own R&D
centre. This enables the Group to supply customers
with technically demanding specialities with a high
margin. The Group has established itself on the quicklygrowing market of composite materials, which are
replacing more and more frequently standard metal and
non-metal structural parts in civil engineering, transport
and storage of substances, etc.

Consolidated group

11
companies

4

of which

key

Spolek

CHS EPI

Inorganics,
obsolete chlor-alkali
electrolysis (operation
terminated in 4/2017)

Chlorine block

Epispol
Epoxy resins

Spolchemie
Electrolysis

Inorganics, new membrane
electrolysis (operation
started in 4/2017))

Alkyd resins are a complementary part of the production
portfolio of the Group and together with epoxy resins, in
which the Group is one of the leaders on the European
market, they cover a great part of the portfolio for paint
and coating manufacturers.
The long-term expertise passed down from generation
to generation as well as the enthusiasm for chemistry
of the employees, who come primarily from the Ústí
and Pardubice regions, is a guarantee of a professional
approach, high quality of production and reliable
customer service. Every day, more than 800 employees
do their best to satisfy our customers´ needs and
requirements. High-quality products, flexibility towards
customer requirements and high-quality customer
service have always been a competitive advantage of
the Group on the highly competitive and challenging
European market.

Group profile
GROUP – STRUCTURE OF CONSOLIDATED
SALES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES
FOR 2017

PRODUCT APPLICATIONS
Areas

Inorganics

Cleaning agents, fertilisers, food
processing industry, biofuel, 		
pharmaceuticals industry

Epoxy resins

Paints and coatings, civil 		
engineering, automotive, wind 		
energy and systems for electrical
engineering, transport

Special epoxy
systems

Electrical engineering, composites,
civil engineering, building 		
chemicals and composites

Alkyds

Paints and coatings, printing inks

28

Product group

%

52 %
%

INTERNATIONAL AND NATIONAL SOCIETIES
AND ASSOCIATIONS

6%
1%

13

The Group is a member of prestigious international and
national professional associations and societies.
EURO Chlor
ECSA

Epoxy resins
Inorganics
Special epoxy systems
Alkyds
Other polymers

Plastics Europe
CEFIC
Chemical Industries Association of the Czech Republic
and a number of other professional associations

* the figures show the situation before terminating activities were reflected

TIMELINE
COMPANY SALES ABROAD

OTHER
16 %

GERMANY
32 %

OTHER
EU
COUNTRIES
40 %
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CZ
12 %

1856


foundation of the key company of the Group
(Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu, akciová
společnost)

1945

Start of synthetic resins production

1973

Start of epichlorohydrin production

1999

Start of unsaturated polyesters production

2004

New Epispol I plant producing low molecular
epoxy resins (LER)

2005

New solid epoxy (SER) production plant

2006

New polyester production plant

2007

Start of new plant producing ECH from glycerol

2008

Start of Epispol II plant with LER production 		
capacity doubled

2009

New alkyd resins production plant

2014

Start of construction of the membrane 		
electrolysis

2017

Sale of the polyester manufacturing plant

2017

Full launch of the new membrane electrolysis

our strategy and objectives

„

The Group successfully implements its adopted longterm strategy, which includes:

1. To rank among the leading European resin
manufacturers with a strong focus on special
and environmentally-friendly products.
2. To provide full capacity utilization of the
new, environmentally-friendly membrane
electrolysis within the vertical integration of
the chlorine block.
3. To continue the strong support for our
research and development, to start new
business projects using our innovative
technology and the strong patent position of
the Group.
4. To maintain its position as a safe and
reliable supplier by implementing a strict
safety policy and intensifying the existing
production and continuous improvements.

To meet the strategy, the process is divided into
several phases with emphasis placed on certain
priorities.

To be an example of
a vertically integrated
chemicals company which
is a leading manufacturer
of hydroxides, innovative
chlorine derivatives
and is one of the top
manufacturers of special
synthetic resins in Europe.

The first phase is stabilization of the Group. After the
dissatisfactory performance in past years and large
investment projects, the Group adopted a tough
restructuring plan with the main objective to stabilize the
company financially and recover the confidence of our
partners.
The second phase after the successful completion of
the electrolysis conversion is the full capacity use of
all production within the vertical interconnection. The
change in customer portfolio, long-term contracts and risk
diversification are fundamental pillars of the new business
model.
The third phase lies in the progressive implementation
of new strategic projects for the production of special
products based on our research and development or
technical service. It is an undisputed priority that the Group
ranks among manufacturers of chemical specialities.
The key priorities of the Group are:
• safety
• human resources
• automation and digitization
• new R&D centre in Ústí nad Labem.

product portfolio

INORGANICS
The Group is the largest manufacturer of potassium
hydroxide in Central and Eastern Europe and, at the
same time, is also a local manufacturer of sodium
hydroxide. Sales of these products form key sales in
inorganics.
Last year, the Group successfully completed the
transfer from chlor-alkali electrolysis technology to
modern and more environmentally-friendly membrane
electrolysis technology. The objective of the investment,
apart from its positive impacts on the environment, is
to provide long-term sustainability of production in the
Group.   The production of the new electrolysis was
successfully fully launched on 20 April 2017.
The Group can roughly double its current production
capacity due to the new technology with up to 60 thou
tonnes of potassium hydroxide and 43 thou tonnes of
sodium hydroxide produced annually.
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The new technology offers high-quality hydroxides in a
complete range of modifications from industrial quality
to use in the pharmaceuticals and food processing
industries.
Potassium hydroxide is offered in three different forms
(liquid, flakes, pellets) and many types of packaging,
which allows us to satisfy an exceptionally wide portfolio
of customers and diversify margins on the highly
demanding and highly competitive European market.
Further products directly linking to the membrane
electrolysis with the consumption of produced chlorine
are inorganic specialities such as perchloroethylene
and allyl chloride. Hydrochloric acid is now offered in
two qualities. Another chlorine-based product is the
„green“ epichlorohydrin, used by the Group primarily
for its own consumption to produce epoxy resins. Any
surplus production of epichlorohydrin is sold with a
high added value.

„

The Group is the largest
manufacturer of potassium
hydroxide in Central
and Eastern Europe.“

SPECIAL EPOXY SYSTEMS
The stormy development of the special epoxy
system market in Europe, particularly in applications
such as renewable sources of energy, electrical
engineering, civil engineering and transport, provides
huge opportunities for the Group. They build on our
production of basic top-quality material, proprietary
research and development, technical service, human
skills, long-term expertise of chemical engineers and
business skills on European markets.
Group activities focus on growing highly-specialised
areas with a high added value and demands for
development, understanding customer needs and
visits to customer premises for testing, sales and
consultancy which provide a substantial advantage
over the competition.

EPOXY RESINS
The Group owns modern epoxy manufacturing
technology. The high quality of the products is ensured
by two modern plants and primarily the systematic
coordination of technical development and production.
A full understanding of the market and customer
requirements helps us achieve the required quality in
general production. The proprietary epichlorohydrin
production technology from glycerol allows the
Group to maintain its cost competitiveness and, at
the same time, the Group is the sole manufacturer in
Europe producing epoxy resins with a low carbon
footprint, which is confirmed by the world-wide EPD
environmental certification. This gives the Group the
lead in the Western European market of low-molecular,
solid and solution epoxy.

The unique „green“ resin opens up access to
environmentally-sensitive market segments (public
transport, sports and hobby or luxury articles) for the
Group.

ALKYDS
Alkyd resins represent a traditional part of the
portfolio specified primarily for customers in the
field of production of coatings and paints. These
customers, including the distribution network, buy
both epoxy and alkyds and the Group effectively uses
the synergy. The Group is the sole manufacturer of
alkyd resins in the Czech Republic and is a significant
player in Central Europe. The alkyd market is changing
in connection with the legislative environment and
customer preferences. The support for strong R&D
and technical service allows the Group to comply
with the changes and place innovative products on
the market.

innovations
INNOVATIONS
Innovation and research are a fundamental and important
driver of the company’s development. The research
in the Group is based on tradition, human expertise,
knowledge and skills gained over generations. The
Group systematically and continuously monitors the
latest and state-of-the-art trends on the market and all
teams cooperate in synergy to sustain competitiveness.
Research and development focuses on the maximum use
of renewable resources, recycled material and waste raw
materials to ensure safer and more environmentally-friendly
applications with a minimum impact on the environment,
the protection of health of the Group employees and the
broader neighbourhood, as well as end users of final
products. A bilateral flow of information from research to
our customers and vice versa runs continuously.
The Group carries out research and development
particularly in the field of synthetic resins, which are
its core business, in particular resins used for the
production of paints and coatings, composite materials,
casting systems and fire-resistant systems for electrical
engineering, as well as adhesives in all industries.

„

95% of the Group’s
technologies have been
built since 2000.

35 personnel work in the research and technical service
of resins and inorganics. The research groups pursue a
strong focus on technology and customers. The technical service responds to clients´ requirements and cooperates with our customers in the development of the
latest products and technology. The Group´s research
facilities also partly include the leading-edge research
centre Synpo Pardubice, which operates with a budget
of CZK 130 million and employs 120 staff. On top of
that, Synpo features accredited laboratories where independent certifications and analytical measurements
are provided to customers. Synpo also provides independent research activities as well as start-up or
low-tonnage production for the Group. All of the teams
work on more than fifty deliverables of the technical development plan and are flexible in responding to specific customer needs.

MAIN DIRECTIONS OF RESEARCH
AND DEVELOPMENT

25

patents

66

patent applications

THE GROUP RUNS TWO RESEARCH
AND DEVELOPMENT CENTRES
• proprietary R&D centre for research into inorganics
and synthetic resins, including technical service,
based in Ústí nad Labem
• SYNPO Pardubice, providing research for resins and
technical service of resins.

26 | 27

Management report

• Fundamental and applied research and development
• Study and innovation of processes and technologies
• Specifically focused development for our customers
The fundamental research, for example, is focused on the
replacement of bisphenols in epoxy resins and technology with the maximum use of environmentally-friendly and
renewable resources, and complies with the environmental and legislation requirements as well as market requirements. The Group received 4 patents and nearly 40 new
applications were filed in 2017. The Group boasts a total
of 25 valid patents and 66 active patent applications.
An example and trend of the applied research in 2017
was the focus on more sophisticated special epoxy
systems with a higher added value, an increase in
production of more environmentally-friendly resins, i.e.,
water-based, high content in dry matter and solventfree products, and a further reduction in emissions and
impacts on the environment. Last year, the Group´s
portfolio was extended by alkyd resins containing over
93% of bio components, for example.

FOCUS ON TECHNOLOGY AND CUSTOMERS
• Focus on special products with leading properties
and quality that can handle the most challenging
applications
• Focus on the latest technologies
• Focus on more environmentally-friendly products
and technologies
• Focus on customers to build competitive advantages
The Group focuses on special epoxy systems, special
epoxy and alkyd resins and areas with a higher added
value, as well as products meeting the most challenging
environmental or quality requirements within sustainable
development. It also focuses on long-time traditional
areas and builds on its expertise in production,
development and market knowledge. Fundamental
domains in inorganics are process innovations in
the field of manufacturing technologies as well as
protection of the environment, with emphasis on the
use of advanced technologies with maximum efficiency
and minimal environmental impacts, the development of
new types of chlorine derivatives such as precursors of
new product areas, and the development of monomer
synthesis for polymer chemistry. The main domains in
synthetic epoxy resins are primarily systems and resins
for composites, adhesives and paints and coatings for
the NH industry, civil engineering, energy, transport,
sports and/or engineering.

INCREASE IN THE SPECIAL SYSTEMS SEGMENT

All teams also work in close cooperation with our
customers not only to attain customer satisfaction
but they are also involved in technical support for the
successful start-up and placing of products on the
market.

In 2017, the Group substantially increased its market
share in systems for electrical engineering and civil
engineering. As for casting systems, the Group is
gradually becoming a European leader and has become
a leader on the Russian market. Special systems for the
latest technologies have been developed for customers
in cooperation with production line manufacturers.
Applied research helps dozens of modifications and the
optimisation of technologies annually. Many products
and unique procedures are patented. Their development
is based on cooperation between the Group and
renowned chemical companies around the world. The
Group successfully renewed its EPD certification for the
production of environmentally-friendly low-molecular
EnviPOXY epoxy resins, which are becoming a more
sought-after article.

work for the group

Our employees, their skills, competences and initiative
as well as positive relationship to the company, are the
most valuable asset for the Group.

During the year 2017, the Group continued the
modernization process of human resource management.
Emphasis is placed on the following activities:

It is important for the Group to create an attractive
environment (in terms of perspectives, career growth,
professional development, internal equality and
competitiveness) not only for the existing male and
female co-workers, but also for potential new talents,
both university graduates and erudite experts with an
interesting professional history.

• To identify opportunities for a more efficient
organisational structure of individual parts of the
Group and changes to some work procedures. The
Company increased its annual production volume by
14 % with more or less the same staffing levels as in
2016.
• To speed up the movement of wages towards the
levels of a comparable market. Average increase in
wages reached 5.5% in the Group in 2017 compared
with 2016, with an increase in workers´ wages of
approx. 7.1 %.
• To streamline the employee recruitment process for
the Group using social networks more intensively and
the extended portfolio of partner personnel agencies.
We have also developed a scholarship programme
targeting talented students of master and bachelor
courses at chemical and technical universities.
• To streamline the training process of new employees
in cooperation with the Dr. Václav Šmejkal Grammar
School and Vocational School in Ústí nad Labem.
• To strengthen stabilizing core employees by introducing
a loyalty bonus with effect from 1 September  2017.

As of 31 December 2017, the Group had 880
employees. The average number of Group staff in 2017
was 882.
The number is influenced by the three following
aspects:
1. Increase in workforce productivity
2. Looking for personnel to strengthen strategically
important departments (sales, technical service for
sales, research, technology, etc.),
3. Increase in the number of production plant workers
in connection with rising production volumes and
related shifts in some operations.
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corporate responsibility programme
RESPONSIBLE ENTREPRENEURSHIP
AND CORPORATE CARE
Social responsibility and corporate care; awareness
of our own identity in the area where the Group does
business and identifying itself with the environment and
the people are important aspects across all the activities
of the Group.
The Group pays attention to the environment on a longterm basis. New manufacturing units are designed
according to the BAT concept (best available technology)
with huge sums invested into the projects. The most
important step in this respect is the expansion and
launch of the new membrane electrolysis in April 2017,
thanks to which the use of mercury was completely
discontinued. Stringent environmental requirements
of European legislation were met in advance of the
mandatory deadline.
The Group is one of the most important employers in
the region and ensures a healthy environment for its
employees and their physical and mental development.
At the turn of 2016/2017 the Corporate Responsibility
programme was launched in the categories „Human
health“ and „Sound mind“. The programme focuses
on voluntary civic activities and provides support to
residents of the Ústí region who care for other people
in their neighbourhood. The green light is given to small
projects for which sponsorship is usually difficult, or
projects where the promoters did not originally think
about obtaining any sponsorship.
Due to the open and completely transparent
programme for obtaining financial mini-grants, the
Group supported 35 activities in 2017. The promoters
were regional residents, company employees as well
as non-profit and budgetary organizations, including
education and healthcare facilities. The support covers
a wide spectrum of people, embracing the activities
of children’s team and community amateur sports,
organizations helping disadvantaged teenagers to
integrate, local cultural events to encourage meeting
people in the region and removing cultural and social
barriers, up to initiatives focusing on the elderly. The
Group also provided support to healthcare projects,
particularly activities less popular for sponsorship or
the media, which, however, can help specific persons,
e.g., a contribution to purchase respiratory mats for the
local maternity hospital or the purchase of an electronic
reader for the Centre for visually impaired people.

ÚSTÍ ½ MARATHON
The Group supports the development of the Ústí Region.
It is a long-term official partner of the traditional Ústí nad
Labem 1/2 Marathon together with the Ústí Region and the
general partner of the Czech Handbike Cup for handicapped
athletes. It has become a tradition for the team of Spolek
employees and their families to take part in the race wearing
the colours of the Group. They can take part in any race and
voluntarily represent the close link between the Group and
the region. The Group provides security and organization
of the part of the race route running through the company
premises. Running through such a unique site is a popular
and attractive part of the race, is covered by photographers
and TV crews, and it has become a traditional part of the
image of Ústí nad Labem.

OVER 20 YEARS OF PROVIDING
RESPONSIBLE CARE
Safety, helpfulness, information openness, health
protection, complex protection of the environment, ecomanagement, anti-emergency preparedness – these
activities are crucial for the responsible functioning of
the Group, and accordingly have been voluntarily fully
implemented into everyday operations. The Group was
among the first eight chemicals companies in the Czech
Republic to introduce the programme of Responsible
Care - responsible entrepreneurship in chemistry,
specified by the Swiss Association of the chemicals
industry under the auspices of the Czech Association of
Chemicals Industry since 1994.

ECOVADIS - THE HIGHEST RATING
IN THE INDEPENDENT INTERNATIONAL
CSR RATING SYSTEM
Following an extensive analysis by Ecovadis based on 21
criteria for the rating of corporate care, the Group achieved
the highest rating - GOLD MEDAL. This medal is only
granted to 5% of all companies evaluated worldwide in
the Ecovadis rating system. Over 20 thousand companies,
including 120 large global ones, from 140 countries
worldwide are involved in the system. The independent
rating system in which the Group achieved the top rating
covers four main areas: Environment, Labour and Human
rights, Ethics and Sustainable procurement. The issues
are based on the CSR international standards of the UN,
ILO, GRI and ISO and CERES systems.

business year 2017

„

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT 2017
The world economy saw a considerable increase in the
growth rate in 2017. Global GDP reached +3.1 % in
2017 (2016: +2.4 %). The average price of Brent Crude
went up to 54 USD/bbl in 2017 (2016: 44 USD/bbl).
The EU economy accelerated in 2017 with a growth
rate of 2.5 % (2016: 1.9 %). The annual growth rate of
the German economy went up to 2.5 %, while France’s
GDP growth rate was a little lower - 1.9%.
The EUR/USD exchange rate experienced
moderate strengthening of 2.1 %.

only

The industrial production growth rate in Europe of
3.3% in 2017 (2016: 1.4%) positively influenced the
European economic environment. The increase in the
output of the European chemicals industry rose in total
by 3.8 % in 2017 (2016: 0.4 %)
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The European chemicals
industry reported a growth
rate of 3.8 % in 2017“.

GROWTH RATE IN KEY SEGMENTS
Total – Industry

2017
2016

3.3 %
2.1 %

Transport

2017
2016

2.6 %
2.7 %

Energy

2017
2016

1.6 %
0.2 %

Civil engineering 2017
2016

2.9 %
3.1 %

Consumables

2017
2016

3.1 %
2.3 %

Electronics

2017
2016

7.9 %
4.5 %

Agriculture

2017
2016

3.1 %
1.7 %

2017 economic results
The scheduled transfer from chlor-alkali electrolysis
technology to the modern and more environmentallyfriendly membrane electrolysis technology completed
in April 2017 had a considerable influence on 2017´s
economic results.
The transfer from chlor-alkali electrolysis to membrane
technology adversely affected the Group´s economic
results in the first four months of 2017, as particularly
the technical condition of the obsolete electrolysis did
not allow the company to operate it at full capacity.
The planned regular maintenance shutdown of the
whole chlorine block of the Group followed in May
2017. From the 4th quarter 2017, the Group operated
the new electrolysis at full capacity and managed to
significantly increase the yearly volume of produced
hydroxides due to the higher production capacity.
In the epoxy resin sector, the Group focused on
maximum use of its production facilities and increasing
its market share. The Group managed to conclude
long-term contracts with a number of important
European customers for the purchase of products,
and achieved good annual results in the epoxy resin
segment also due to the great demand from European
customers for epoxy resins.
The consolidated loss after taking into account the
terminating activities for the year 2017 amounted to
CZK 72.4 million (2016: loss of CZK 52 million). The
operational performance expressed by the EBITDA
consolidated amounted to CZK 338.6 million (2016:
CZK 347.4 million).

The Group manages exchange and other financial risks - see
the Consolidated Financial Statements, Section 3, item w) and
Section 31 for details.

business assessment
according to segments

In 2017, consolidated sales before posting the terminating
activities related to the sales of the Group´s own products
amounted to CZK 4.9 billion, which is an increase of CZK
436 million compared to the previous year.
The epoxy resin segment made the highest contribution
to growth last year in absolute terms. Uncompetitive
Asian imports into Europe positively influenced the first
quarter, particularly due to the high prices (thanks to the
shortage of the key raw material - BPA in Asia). Another
positive factor was that the Group concluded a number
of long-term contracts with several important European
customers to sell products.
The second quarter was considerably influenced by the
increasing demand from European customers, which ensured higher utilization of the European production facilities despite the greater competition from Asian importers.  
These circumstances lasted up to the end of the year. In
addition, further restrictions on Asian articles were imposed by a number of environmental measures adopted
and introduced by the Chinese government. This resulted
in the temporary closing down of some production facilities manufacturing epoxy resins or their precursors. Most
of the closed-down facilities were not able to comply with
the new emission limits and will remain closed in 2018.
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Epoxy resins – the epoxy market in Europe continued
growing in 2017, which helped to significantly increase
production volumes as well as sales compared to
previous years. The market was exposed to many
external factors during the year, i.e., shortage of raw
materials, strengthening of the euro compared to the
U.S. dollar, and a lack of imports from Asia. This led
to an increase in sales volumes and price increases
in the last quarter of 2017. Sales in this segment
amounted to CZK 2.039 billion in 2017 (2016: CZK
1.684 billion).
The epoxy resin market was marked by continuing
strong growth. In 2016, the sales volumes reached the
figures of pre-crisis years and continued increasing
by 5.8% in 2017 to establish very sound markets for
manufacturers and a promising future. The key driver
of the growth was the good condition of the European
economy, particularly the automotive sector. The
Group took advantage of the market situation and
concluded contracts with strategic partners to
increase the sales volumes.
Sales volumes – epoxy resins
2016
2017

+5.8 %

Inorganics – 2017 was absolutely crucial for
the Inorganics business segment. In early 2017,
the business launched activities focused on
communicating the changes in the manufacturing
technology and their influence on customers.
After the launch of the new membrane electrolysis,
the Group successfully re-entered the KOH and
NaOH market (in 2016, the Company reported lower
production capacity utilization due to the technical
limits of the obsolete chlor-alkali electrolysis) and
managed to increase its market share in KOH and
NaOH as a result of a significant increase in production
capacity of the new membrane electrolysis.

„

Consolidated revenues
before posting the
terminating activities
of the Group amounted
to CZK 4.9 billion

As for profitability, there was a significant increase
in the unit contribution margin in sodium hydroxide,
which was moderately corrected by the decline in
margin in potassium hydroxide.
Despite the necessary and planned interruption of
production in April 2018 connected with the closing
down of the obsolete chlor-alkali electrolysis and
launch of the new membrane electrolysis, sales of
products and services in this segment amounted
to CZK 1.093 billion compared to CZK 1.073 billion
in 2016. While the first half of the year 2017 was
adversely affected by the technical condition of
the obsolete chlor-alkali electrolysis, which limited
production capacity, the completed new membrane
electrolysis produced KOH and NaOH at full capacity
given by the chlorine balance, mostly from the 4th
quarter of 2017. The Group increased sales in this
period by 20% on a year-on-year basis. Emphasis
was placed on increasing sales to our customers and,
at the same time, entering into contracts with new
customers. The total results were postively influenced
by the progressive increase in margin in other products
of the Group and optimalization of transportation costs
for greater distances by using rail.  
Sales volumes – Inorganics
2016
2017

+12.5 %

Special epoxy systems – consolidated sales
amounted to CZK 520 million in 2017 and CZK 498
million in 2016. Such a moderate increase was primarily
affected by the consolidation of the market share in
the electrical engineering segment. The Group had
to protect the market share gained in previous years
by successfully building its relations with perspective

customers in the field of electrical engineering and
civil engineering.   The Group manages to maintain
the share thanks to a strong cost structure and the
assistance of the customer-driven business team
and technical service with their extensive expertise.
In compliance with its strategy, the Group introduced
new building chemicals products and continued its
acquisition policy in composites.
Alkyds – the long-term decline in sales of alkyd resins
continued in 2017, too. The trend is affected by several
factors. The Group further reduced commodity types
due to the fierce competition from Polish, Slovak
or Bulgarian manufacturers. On the other hand, the
Group introduced environmentally-friendly types of
alkyd resins with a high rate of recoverable ingredient,
containing either a minimum content of solvents or
water-based solvents instead of aromatic solvents.
New marketing activities promoting innovations in our
portfolio were presented to support growth and the
business development of this field was strengthened.
Total sales amounted to CZK 228 million, which
represents a decline of CZK 10.6 million, respectively
4.4 %.

supply chain management

The main task of the Group Purchasing Department for
2017 was to secure raw materials for growing production volumes, since the need was influenced by the
successful launch of the membrane electrolysis as well
as the ongoing total economic growth. As for sales,
the upswing had not only a positive influence on the
Group´s business, but also resulted in price increases
of raw materials. Accordingly, consistent cost checking
was of extreme importance as well as obtaining the
most advantageous purchase agreements to strengthen
product competitiveness. Another important objective
of the Group was the conclusion of long-term contracts
with important suppliers to purchase raw materials and
to strengthen continuity of supplies for production.
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Further suppliers of sodium and potassium salts were
qualified for purchasing raw materials for membrane
electrolysis. The Group achieved greater security and
stability of supplies of both raw materials for the key
production of hydroxides and chlorine.
Cooperation with the Inorganics sales department
contributed to stable supplies of glycerol as well. A
considerable number of customers purchasing hardened potassium hydroxide use glycerol for the production of biodiesel. The by-product of this technology
is raw glycerine, which is purchased by the Group,
reworked and used as a basic raw material for our
patented epichlorohydrin production technology.

„

The strategy for purchasing
raw materials for special
epoxy systems focused
on expansion of the number
of suppliers.

The strategy for purchasing raw materials for special
epoxy systems focused on expansion of the number
of suppliers. Some types of raw materials are very
specific and the implementation of our plan to increase our specialities market share would be impossible without having a sufficient number of sources of
supply.
As the biggest European customer for BPA, the main
raw material for the production of epoxy resins, the
Group actively works on all available markets. Due
to the limited number of manufacturers in Europe the
Group also did purchasing on Asian markets in 2017.
This was very important in order to secure sufficient

quantities of BPA and price competitiveness of epoxy
resins.
In purchasing of non-chemical articles, the Group managed to gradually increase the number of tenders
organised in the form of E-auctions. Concluding long-term framework agreements as well as E-auctions
increased the transparency of the purchasing policy,
reduced the prices of purchased services and, finally,
reduced administrative burdens on individual purchasers. The Group has introduced a system of leading
managers who are in charge of individual areas of purchasing. The objective was to better define and check
technical requirements for individual purchased items.

ecology and environment

AIR EMISSIONS
In 2017, the Group managed to significantly
reduce environmental impacts, too. Apart from the
completion of the electrolysis conversion, i.e., transfer
to non-mercury technology, air emissions and energy
consumption were further reduced. We also reduced
specific production of adsorbable organically-bound
halogens in waste water. The other environmental
indicators are maintained by the Group at a more or
less constant level on a long-term basis.
Due to the start of production of potassium and sodium
hydroxides in the new membrane electrolysis, the year
2017 was a breakthrough for operations and business
as well as protection of the environment, sustainable
development and corporate care, which are key
aspects of the Group´s strategy on a long-term basis.
By launching the new membrane technology the Group
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made a further fundamental step in modernizing its
manufacturing facilities and developing new products
with lower environmental impacts, either in production
or in applications. By terminating the use of mercury
in the production process we have eliminated
one of the most negative environmental aspects
of the Group which is also monitored on a global
level.
In 2017, the trends of previous years, where we
managed to improve the environmental profile of
the Group, i.e., reduce or maintain the values of key
environmental indicators, continued.
Last year, there was a further reduction in air
emissions, not only related to the production volume,
but also in absolute figures, i.e., nearly 18%.

kg/t

Development of specific air emissions

0.20

0.17

0.15

0.15
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Development of specific energy consumption
7373

7500

In 2017, the Group
managed to significantly
reduce its environmental
impacts, too.

0.06

The specific energy consumption in production
continued to fall, particularly due to the start of the
membrane electrolysis technology, which is generally
connected with lower energy demands compared to
mercury technology. We expect further reductions in
this indicator in the future, however, the development
depends on the structure of production, and/or demand
for products linked to different energy demands.
GJ/t

„

The specific production of hazardous waste and
specific consumption of non-potable water recorded
a moderate year-on-year increase of 1%, respectively
3%, mostly due to the changes in production volumes
of individual products. In the long term, these
indicators remain more or less on a constant level
with year-on-year deviations in percent units.

Air emissions
2017
15.8 t 
2016
19.2 t
2017
6.0 g/t of production 
2016
7.4 g/t of production

reduction of  17.7 %
reduction of 19.3 %
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2016

6228
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The changed quantity rate of the produced epoxy
resins and epichlorohydrin also resulted in a decrease
in specific production of contamination contained in
waste water in the case of organically bound halogens
(AOX), which is one of the main water quality indicators
of the Group, with a reduction of more than 18%.
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Specific energy consumption
2017
6 228 GJ/t of production  reduction of 1.0 %
2016
6 289 GJ/t of production

Specific AOX production in waste water
2017
0.16 kg/t of production  reduction of 18.4 %
2016
0.196 kg/t of production

safety and health protection

The year 2017 was also crucial for the Group in terms
of safety and health protection. The replacement of the
obsolete mercury electrolysis technology with the new
manufacturing technology of membrane electrolysis
resulted in a reduction in total risk from the point of view
of emergency prevention and safety.
The adopted programmes and investment projects
aimed at modernizing and increasing the reliability and
safety of the operated facilities continued in 2017 as
part of the close link between safety and prevention of
serious emergencies, however, the rising trend in the
number of accidents at work was negative.
As early as at the beginning of 2017, a considerable
increase in the number of occupational accidents was
recorded, which was also significantly influenced by
a large number of newly hired employees. The Group
management immediately responded to the increase in
occupational accidents by launching “Safety culture in
SPOLCHEMIE”.
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The programme consists of a number of partial
objectives which, among others, target the increased
personnel turnover and the necessity to train new
staff members more intensively. The objective of the
programme is to improve the approach, habits and
behaviour of all employees. Accordingly, the programme
involves particularly activities in the following areas:
• education and training of employees with an
emphasis on new items,
• positive incentives of safe work,
• more effective safety-related communication,
• greater number of audits and inspections with
corporate and senior managers involved in the
process.
We managed to slow down the negative trend in
occupational accidents from the start of 2017 during
the year, however, we did not manage to stop it. The
programme is designed for three years, and positive
effects can be expected mostly in 2018/19.

„

In 2017, we recorded a
negative trend in occupational
accidents. The corporate
management immediately
responded with the launch
of the “Safety culture in
SPOLCHEMIE” programme,
the objective of which is to
achieve positive changes in the
behaviour, habits and approach
of all employees over a period
of three years.

REGULAR EXTERNAL INSPECTIONS
Inspections carried out by the national authorities did
not indicate any serious breaches of existing legislation
in 2017. Measures were adopted and implemented to
correct minor deficiencies established by the inspection
authorities within the introduced system. The inspection
authorities are continuously informed of compliance with
the measures.
Safety and health protection, including emergency
planning, continued the successful tradition of the
management system certification subject to the BS
OHSAS 18001:2007 standard, designed for continuous
improvement of the safety activities of the Group. Two
TÜV Nord audits were carried out in 2017, i.e., the socalled extension audit in spring and IMS recertification
audit in autumn (in connection with the transfer to
the new version of ISO 9001 and 14001 standards).
SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis – the operator of the new
membrane technology - was successfully certified within
the recertification audit as well.
In connection with the submission of the updated Report
on Group safety and the amendment to the related
safety documentation in 2016 (in compliance with the
requirements of Act No. 224/2015 Coll. on the prevention
of Serious Emergencies), risk assessment was developed

in 2017 after the implementation of the measures
recommended in the Report within the preparation for
solutions implemented in the future to reduce the risk of
serious emergencies.

important events in 2017

IMPORTANT EVENTS IN 2017
As for operations, the top priority in 2017 was to
start successful operation of the new membrane
electrolysis and replace the obsolete chlor-alkali
electrolysis operation, as production at full capacity
was impossible due to its technical condition.
To implement the successful start of the new
technology, it was necessary first of all to terminate
operation of the old mercury electrolysis. The
new membrane electrolysis operation was started
gradually with individual electrolysers being put
into operation. The new electrolysis as a whole was
successfully put into full operation on 20 April 2017.
From the 4th quarter of 2017, the Group manufactured
at maximum performance within the specific chlorine
balance.
In terms of financing of the membrane electrolysis, the
Group sold part of the shares issued by SPOLCHEMIE
Polyesters, a.s. to a third party on 8 February 2017
and the proceeds from the sale of the shares were
used to complete financing of the investment.
As for the financing of the Group, first phase of the
negotiations on the restructuring of the total credit
burden of the Group were finalised during September
2017. Negotiations with the financing partners led to
the distribution of instalments of the existing bank
loans from the Lender - Poštová banka, a.s. over a
period of 15 years with a two-year suspension for
principal repayments. At the same time, the interest
rate was reduced to 2 % p.a. from 1 October 2017.
At the beginning of October 2017, the lender - AB
CREDIT, a.s. - deferred the maturity of all credits lent
by it to 30 September 2018, with an option to extend
the maturity period to 30 September 2019 and reduce
the interest rate to 2% p.a.
As for trade in 2017, the European epoxy resin market
played the key role. The market was affected by many
external factors during the year, i.e., shortage of raw
materials, strengthening of the euro against the U.S.
dollar, and a lack of imports from Asia. The low Asian
imports led to an increase in sales volumes and
price increases in the fourth quarter, which positively
influenced the economic results of the Group.
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OUTLOOK FOR 2018
The top priority of the Group in 2018 will be to utilize
the production capacity and satisfy the great demand
from European customers for epoxy resins and
hydroxides.
As for the economic performance and approved
consolidated plan, the Group expects EBITDA - the
key operational performance index - for the year 2018
to significantly exceed the level of the yearly result.
At the time the annual report for 2017 was compiled,
the Group expects to achieve EBITDA of over CZK
850 million.

FOLLOW-UP EVENTS
In respect of a number of facts which occurred in
2018, we refer to the Section Follow-up events, see
the Consolidated Financial Statements, Section 41.

„

The top event of 2017
was successful start
of operation of the new
membrane electrolysis.

4

management and structure

management and structure

SPOLEK PRO CHEMICKOU A HUTNÍ VÝROBU, AKCIOVÁ SPOLEČNOST
- KEY COMPANY OF THE GROUP

General
Meeting
Supervisory
Board
Board
of Directors
General
Manager

Purchasing Director

Production Director

Sales Director
Inorganics

Sales Director Resins
and specialties

Technical Director

Financial Director

Human Resources
Director

Development
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Daniel Tamchyna

Jan Křička

Jaromír Florián

Jan Dlouhý

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
		
Name
				
Ing. Daniel Tamchyna, MBA
Ing. Jaromír Florián
Ing. Jan Šrubař

Ing. Jan Dlouhý, CSc.
Mgr. Jan Křička

Date
Position
of birth		
9. 12. 1970

Chairman

16. 6. 1975

Vice-chairman

17. 3. 1965

Member

5. 2. 1949

26. 5. 1963

Changes during
the year

Vice-chairman
Member

EMBERS OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
		
Name
				
		

Date
Position
of birth		

JUDr. Petr Sisák

31. 8. 1967

Mgr. Petr Kovařík

15. 3. 1978

Ing. Pavel Jiroušek

Ing. Mgr. Ivo Hala

Changes during
the year

Chairman

10. 8. 1970

Vice-chairman

30. 5. 1974

Member

Member

Since
1 November 2017

COMPANY MANAGEMENT
		
Name
				
Ing. Daniel Tamchyna, MBA

Date
Position
of birth		
9. 12. 1970

Ing. Jaromír Florián

16. 6. 1975  

Ing. Jan Chudoba

6.12.1968

Ing. Jan Dlouhý, CSc.
Ing. Tomáš Loubal

Ing. Zdeněk Moravec
Mgr. Jan Křička
Ing. Pavel Žák

Ing. Jakub Racek

17. 3. 1965
9. 12. 1967

General Manager

Financial Director

Production director
HR Director

Development Director

17. 3. 1976

Sales Director Resins and Specialties

29. 11. 1976

Technical Director

26. 5. 1963
25. 2. 1977

The company has no organizational divisions abroad.

Changes during
the year

Purchasing Director

Sales Director Inorganics

Since 1 May 2017

share capital and securities

SPOLEK PRO CHEMICKOU A HUTNÍ VÝROBU,
AKCIOVÁ SPOLEČNOST
- A KEY COMPANY IN THE GROUP
The company share capital amounts to CZK 1,939,408
thousand, it is fully paid and divided into 3,878,816
certificated ordinary shares registered to bearer with
a nominal value of CZK 500 per share.
Taxation of the proceeds from securities is regulated
by Act No. 586/1992 Coll., On income tax, the issuer is
a tax payer in respect of dividend payments. The right
to dividends becomes statute-barred in the period
stipulated by law. The Company has no securities that
authorize exercising of the right of exchange for other
shares and securities or preferential subscription of
other shares and securities on a pre-emptive basis. A
company or entity in which the Company has a direct
or indirect holding exceeding 50 % of the registered
capital or voting rights has no own securities which
would not be posted in a special item of the balance
sheet.
Transferability of shares of the Company is not limited
in any way. The Company did not issue any shares
connected with any special rights.
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and company assets in 2017

SPOLEK PRO CHEMICKOU A HUTNÍ
VÝROBU, AKCIOVÁ SPOLEČNOST
- KEY COMPANY OF THE GROUP
The consolidated loss after posting the terminating
activities for the year 2017 amounted to CZK
72.4 million (2016: loss of CZK 52 million). The
operational performance expressed by the EBITDA
consolidated amounted to CZK 338.6 million (2016:
347.4 million).
The consolidated income before posting of
terminating activities of the Group amounted to CZK
4,887 million, which is 8 % more compared to 2016.
The epoxy resin segment contributed most to the
increase in revenues.
The value of consolidated long-term assets before
posting the terminating activities of the Group
amounted to CZK 4.818 billion as of 31 December
2017 (31 December 2016: CZK 4.947 billion).
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At the beginning of April 2017, production using the
obsolete chlor-alkali electrolysis was terminated since
it did not meet the requirements of environmental
regulations. Consequently, in April 2017, the Group
successfully put into operation the modern new
membrane electrolysis and started production. It is
one of the most important investment projects of the
Group in its recent history.
As of 28 April 2017, all claims based on loans
provided to the Group by Expobank CZ as well as all
related covenants were assigned to AB - CREDIT a.s.,
which fully assumed all the rights and obligations
of Expobank CZ following from the related credit
documentation. All contract terms and conditions
agreed between the Group and Expobank CZ
remained unchanged.
In September 2017, another milestone in the project
for the strategic restructuring of the Group´s total

Report of the board of directors on business activity and the level of assets for the year 2017

credit exposure was successfully completed.
Negotiations with the financing partners led to the
distribution of instalments of the existing bank loans
from Poštová banka, a.s., the lender, over a period
of 15 years with a two-year suspension of principal
repayments. At the same time, the interest rate was
reduced to 2 % p.a. from 1 October 2017.
The extension of the bank loan maturity period
to 15 years also extended the maturity period of
the subordinated short-term non-banking credits
amounting to a total of CZK 429 881 thousand to
the same maturity period of 15 years. We refer to
the section Follow-up Events, see the Consolidated
Financial Statements, Section 41, as there was a
number of amendments to the repayment parameters
of the above-stated non-banking loans in the 1st
quarter of 2018.
At the beginning of October 2017, the creditor, AB
CREDIT, a.s., deferred the maturity of all credits
provided by it to 30 September 2018, with an option
to extend the maturity to 30 September 2019, and
reduced the interest rate to 2% p.a. At the end of
2018, the Group reached an agreement with the
creditor AB - CREDIT to prolong the maturity date
of loans in total amount of CZK 1 169 million. The
prolongation was agreed until 31 December 2019.
The main priority of the Group in 2018 will be to use
the production capacity to its maximum and satisfy
the high demand of European customers for epoxy
resins and hydroxides.

6
consolidated
financial statements

consolidated financial statements
Consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with IFRS as adopted by the EU
for the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017
of

SPOLEK PRO CHEMICKOU A HUTNÍ VÝROBU,
AKCIOVÁ SPOLEČNOST

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
		
Year ended
Year ended
		
31 December 2017
31 December 2016
Note
TCZK
TCZK
ASSETS			
			
Property, plant and equipment
6,19
4 133 912
4 152 628
Investment property
8
39 179
65 443
Intangible assets
9
94 577
154 250
Available-for-sale financial assets
14
20
20
Deferred expenses
19
217 909
0
Provided loans and other long-term receivables
10
307 215
306 216
Deferred tax receivables
32
25 312
5 423
			
Total non-current assets		
4 818 124
4 683 980
			
Non-current assets as held for sale
7
0
263 133
Inventories
11
485 904
381 656
Trade receivables
12
591 098
602 826
Other short-term receivables
12
89 856
113 957
Income tax receivables
13
292
733
Deferred expenses
19
26 344
0
Advances paid		
18 612
11 859
Cash and deposits		
49 713
34 665
			
Total current assets		
1 261 819
1 408 829
			
TOTAL ASSETS		
6 079 943
6 092 809

The notes on pages 60 to 107 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended
Year ended
		
31 December 2017
31 December 2016
Note
TCZK
TCZK
EQUITY			
			
Share capital
15
1 939 408
1 939 408
Reserve fund
15
77 500
77 500
Other comprehensive income
16
- 990
-16 108
Accumulated losses		
-1 314 616
-1 252 476
			
Equity attributable to the
shareholders of the Company		
701 302
748 324
			
Non-controlling interests		
51 414
51 613
			
TOTAL EQUITY		
752 716
799 937
		
		

LIABILITIES			
			
Long-term bank loans
17
0
679 499
Other loans
18
2 673 658
660 067
Deferred tax payable
32
69 168
73 968
Provisions
24
64 392
9 896
Retention of investment
21
8 808
63 333
			
Total non-current liabilities		
2 816 026
1 486 763
			
Short-term bank loans
17
0
1 256 506
Other loans
18
1 253 723
1 190 442
Trade and other payables
22
1 013 296
1 155 644
Income tax payables
13
3 824
1 560
Advances received
23
230 063
189 796
Provisions
24
10 295
12 161
			
Total current liabilities		2 511 201
3 806 109
			
Total liabilities		
5 327 227
5 292 872
			
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES		
6 079 943
6 092 809

The notes on pages 60 to 107 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Note
Year ended
Year ended
		
31 December 2017
31 December 2016
		TCZK
TCZK
Revenues

25

4 880 463

4 443 558

66 003

11 931

26

-3 552 584

-3 055 911

29

-412 266

-379 103

Change in inventories of finished goods
and work in progress		
Capitalisation of own production		
Consumption of material and energy
Logistics, leases and other services
Personnel expenses

Depreciation and amortisation
Other operating income

Other operating expenses

27
6,8,9
28
28

5 440

-617 304
-289 963
66 367

-158 102

3 347

-645 106
-268 644
38 417

-109 538

			
Operating profit/loss		
-11 945

38 951

Financial income

58 101

			
Financial costs

30
30

91 844

-213 090

-182 153

			
Financial profit/loss		
-121 246

-124 052

			
Profit/loss before income tax		
-133 191

-85 101

			
Income tax

32

24 057

13 706

Loss from further work		

-109 134

-71 395

7

36 675

19 436

NET LOSS FOR THE PERIOD		

-72 459

-51 959

			
Profit from winding-up activities

The notes on pages 60 to 107 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note
Year ended
Year ended
		
31 December 2017
31 December 2016
		
TCZK
TCZK
Items that are or may be reclassified
to profit or loss

Foreign exchange diff. on
foreign subsidiary company		
Gains/losses from hedging instruments		

Total other comprehensive income		

-990

17 050

16 060

942

10 596

11 538

			
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME		

-56 399

-40 421

			
Loss attributable to shareholders		

-72 260

-50 600

Total profit/loss		

-72 459

-51 959

Loss attributable to non-controlling interests		

-199

-1 359

			
Total comprehensive income attributable
to shareholders		

-56 200

Total comprehensive income		

-56 399

Comprehensive income attributable
to non-controlling interest		

-199

-39 062
-1 359

-40 421

			
Basic and diluted profit/loss per share (TCZK)
Basic and diluted profit/loss per share (TCZK)
              From further work

              From winding-up activities

35

-18.63

-13.04

9.46

5.01

-28.07

The notes on pages 60 to 107 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
				
			
Other
comprehen  
Share
Statutory
-sive
capital
reserve fund
income
TCZK
TCZK
TCZK
Balance at
1 January 2016

1 939 408

Retained
earnings
TCZK

Total equity
attributable to
shareholders
TCZK

Noncontrolling
interests
TCZK

Total
equity
TCZK

77 500

-19 987

-1 189 703

807 218

52 973

860 191

							
Profit/loss for the year 2016

0

0

0

-50 600

-50 600

-1 359

-51 959

from winding-up activities

0

0

0

19 436

19 436

0

19 436

from further work

Other comprehensive income
for the year 2016

0

0

0

-70 035

0

-7 659

-12 173

-19 832

0

-19 832

1 939 408

77 500

-16 108

-1 252 476

748 324

51 613

799 937

-72 260

-199

36 675

0

0

0

0

from winding-up activities

0

0

0

Other comprehensive income
for the year 2016
Changes in subsidiaries

0

0

0

0

0

0

1 939 408

77 500

0

16 060

-72 260

-108 935

-108 935

0

16 060

36 675

-942

10 120

-990

-1 314 616

0

-71 395

0

from further work

11 538

-1 359

11 538

Profit/loss for the year 2017

0

-70 035

0

Changes in subsidiaries
Balance at
31 December 2016

0

11 538

-72 459

-199

-109 134

0

16 060

9 178

0

701 302

51 414

36 675

9 178

							
Balance at
31 December 2017

The notes on pages 60 to 107 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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752 716

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended
31 December 2017
TCZK

Net loss for the period		

-72 459

Year ended
31 December 2016
TCZK

-51 959

			
Adjustment for non-cash transactions:		
Depreciation and amortization of non-current assets
Change in adjustments and provisions
Gain on sale of non-current assets

Loss/(gain) on sale of financial investments
Interest income and expenses
Income tax

Other non-cash transactions

Change in trade and other short-term payables
Changes in inventories

312 297

255 692

202 325

28

-34 386

1 504

10, 24
30

120 770
-5

24 407

-56 224

30

179 476

136 717

16,32

23 315

17 274

32

Changes in non-cash
components of working capital:		
Change in trade and other non-current receivables

520 805

6,9

10

17, 21,22,22

-609 039
-254 752
-249 679

-13 706

144 470
82 600
91 916

Changes in non-cash components of
working capital before interest and taxes		

-104 608

-30 046

-160 693

404 808

Interest paid

30

-117 076

-105 837

Repayment of income tax

32

0

Acquisition of non-current assets

6,9

-199 551

Proceeds from sale of financial investments

30

Interest received

11

-24 057

30

0

Net cash flows from operating activities		 -277 769
Cash flow from investment activities
Proceeds from sale of non-current assets

28

Net cash from (used in) investment activities		
Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from long-term liabilities and loans

Expenses from long-term liabilities and loans

17,18

2 000

120 327

297 725

2 702

302 984

-847 525

1 425

2 824

-843 276

744 733

-121 615

-253 136

173 801

490 177

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents		

16 360

-50 115

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January		

34 665

84 768

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

49 713

34 665

Payments of financial leasing

Net cash used in financing activities

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations

17,18

317 878

1 311

20

-2 309

-1 312

The notes on pages 60 to 107 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial
statements
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu, akciová společnost (the
“Company”) was incorporated on 31 December 1990. The
address of its registered office is Ústí nad Labem, Revoluční
1930/86, ID 000 11 789. The Company is recorded in the
Commercial Register kept by the Regional Court in Ústí nad
Labem, Section B, Insert 47.
Principal activity of consolidated group (the “Group”) is the
research, development, manufacturing and processing of
chemicals and chemical products.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
a) Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRS“) adopted by the International Accounting Standards
(International Accounting Standards Board, IASB) approved
for use in the European Union (EU).
b) Basis of preparation of financial statements
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis and going concern assumption, except for hedging
instruments, financial instruments charged to profit or loss at
fair value and available-for-sale financial assets valued at fair
value.
These financial statements are presented in Czech crowns
(CZK), which is the Group’s functional currency. Every
subsidiary that is part of the Group has its own functional
currency, i.e. the currency of its primary economic region. In
the event of a variation between the functional and reporting
currency the Group revaluates all the balances and results
from the functional to the reporting currency. The closing rate,
i.e. the spot rate at the year-end, is used for the revaluation for
all assets and liabilities, the historical rate for equity and the
average rate for income and expenses. All financial information
presented in CZK has been rounded to the nearest thousand
(TCZK) (unless stated otherwise).
c) Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with
IFRS as adopted by the European Union requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of accounting policies and the reported
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amount of assets, liabilities, income and expenses as at the
reporting date. These estimates and assumptions are based
on historical experience and various other factors that are
considered to be reasonable under the circumstances that
form the basis for estimating the carrying values of assets and
liabilities and that are not readily apparent form other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates mainly relate to the assessment of the fair value
of financial instruments and investment property, the remaining
useful lives of the building and equipment, non-current assets,
impairment losses on non-financial and financial assets,
adjustments to inventories and the valuation of provisions.
Estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis and any change
(if no error is detected) is recognized in the period in which the
estimates are revised and in any affected future periods.
d) Group consolidation
The Group consists of the Company and subsidiaries in which
the Company has decisive control, i.e. either directly or indirectly
holding a share of more than half the voting rights or otherwise
exercising control over their operation. The meaning of the
control is the fact that the Company may, directly or indirectly,
govern the financial and operating policies so that the activities
of the consolidated companies should have the benefit.
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of acquisition
of control of the Company until losing control by the full
consolidation method. It includes shares on the achievements
resulting from the ownership interest of the Company as well as
the overall results of companies in which the control is applied,
including the overall view of the structure of their assets and
liabilities. The inclusion of each of the assets and income in the
full amount regardless of the amount of ownership in terms of
this ratio are separated off non-controlling interests represent
the share of other owners on the equity in the consolidated
financial statements.
Upon consolidation, all mutual transactions within the
consolidated entities, intercompany balances and unrealized
gains and losses on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated in the
event of transferred asset impairment, but only to the extent
so as not to exceed the recoverable value of assets. Where
necessary to ensure sonsistency with the policies adopted by
the Group, the accounting procedures used by consolidated
companies have been changed.
e) Investments in associated companies
Consolidated companies with a significant influence are those

in which the Company has either a direct or indirect share of
less than half of the voting rights and more than 20% of the
voting rights and it does not exert control over its operations.
Businesses with a significant influence are measured at
acquisition cost and then until the loss of influence they are
consolidated using the equivalence method. The equivalence
method means that the valuation of investments is increased
or decreased equally to the change in equity of a related
company. Attributed profits of the related company decrease
the value of the investment.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Intangible assets
Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without
physical substance. Intangible assets are identifiable when
they are separable i.e. they can be separated from the group
of the Group’s assets and sold, transferred, licensed, rented
or exchanged, either individually or together with a related
contract, by an identifiable asset or liability regardless of
whether the Group intends to do so or it arises from contractual
or other legal rights regardless of whether those rights are
transferable or separable from the Group or from other rights
and obligations.
Intangible assets are measured at acquisition cost less
accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment
losses. Internally-generated intangible assets are measured at
direct costs and overheads or replacement costs, if lower.  
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives, usually for up to five years.
Amortisation begins when the intangible asset is available
for use, i.e. when it is in the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management, over its estimated useful life.
The appropriateness of amortisation periods and rates is
reviewed on a regular basis (at least at each reporting date),
with any changes in amortisation applied in subsequent
periods.
b) Land, constructions and equipment
Land, constructions and equipment are initially measured
at acquisition cost after the deduction of related grants and
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of these assets includes all expenditures that are

directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working condition
for their intended use. Self-constructed assets are measured
at internal production costs. Acquisition costs of these assets
include the estimated cost of dismantling and removing the
items and restoring the original condition of the place where
the assets are located, if such an obligation is associated with
the acquisition and construction of these assets.
The Group capitilizes borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the construction or production of a qualifying
asset as part of the acquisition cost of the asset. Borrowing
costs are those borrowing costs that would not arise if
expenses on a qualifying asset were not incurred. The Group
begins to capitalize borrowing costs as part of the acquisition
cost of the qualifying asset on the commencement date and
terminates the capitalization of borrowing costs when all
essential activities necessary to prepare a qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are completed.
The depreciation of plant and equipment items begins when
they are available for use, i.e. from the month that they are in
the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management.
Depreciation is recognized in order to depreciate the cost of
assets, except for land, to their residual value on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives:
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Fixtures and fittings
Vehicles

9-80 years
4-20 years
2-25 years
3-25 years

The appropriateness of amortisation periods, rates and
residual value are reviewed on a regular basis (at least at each
reporting date), with any changes in amortisation applied in
subsequent periods. Land, constructions and equipment
(components) which are significant with regard to the overall
assets are depreciated separately in accordance with their
useful lives.
The cost of significant repairs and regular maintenance
is recognized as a tangible asset and is depreciated in
accordance with their useful lives. The costs of the day-to-day
servicing and repairs of the property, plant and equipment are
recognized as incurred in the profit or loss.
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an
asset is determined as the difference between net selling
price of the property and the carrying amount of the asset.
The difference is recognized in the profit or loss and in other
comprehensive income.
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c) Business combinations under common control
Business combinations resulting from acquiring shares in
accounting units which were managed by a parent company of
the Group are charged as if they happened at the beginning of
the year. The comparable information is not adjusted. Acquired
assets and liabilities are reported in the same values as they were
reported in the financial statements of the acquired company.
Each part of equity of the acquired entity is accumulated to the
same item of the Company’s equity and the prospective profit
or loss is reported in equity as well. The differences from the
elimination of preceding relations are comprised directly into the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
d) Investment property
Investment property is land or buildings held either to earn
rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, not for the
Group’s own use.
Investment property is measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The
purchase costs of real estate investments include the purchase
price and all directly attributable costs, i.e. professional fees for
legal services, property transfer taxes and other transaction
costs. The cost of the investment property by the Group is its
cost at the date when the construction is completed and ready
for rent.
Investment property is depreciated on a straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life, i.e. 10-50 years, from the date of
acquisition. Every year there is a revision of the estimates used
in the depreciation.
The income from investment property is recognized when the
rental service is rendered, and is classified as revenues from
services.
Investment property is derecognized when it is withdrawn or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefits are expected.
The Group leases part of manufacturing and office space to
third parties in its registered office in Usti nad Labem. Items
of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually to
see whether they fulfill the conditions of recognition as an
investment property. Annual transfers between classifications
of land, constructions and equipment and investment property
are presented separately under „Transfer of property, plant
and equipment“. The investment property is measured at
acquisition cost therefore the transfers between classifications
has no impact on the valuation. The only thing that differs is the
presentation of the reported item.
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e) Impairment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group reviews each asset
individually to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment, i.e. the carrying amount of the asset exceeding
its recoverable amount. Whether there is any impairment
of tangible fixed assets and other assets is reviewed at the
level of the identified cash-generating units, i.e. depending on
production segments. An impairment loss is recognized to
the extent that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is
the greater of its value in use and its fair value less selling costs.  
f) Leases
Leases under which all the substantial risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are
recognized as costs in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease.
If an operating lease is terminated early, all penalty payments
required by the lessor for early termination are charged to
expenses for the period in which the operating lease was
terminated.
Leases of tangible assets in terms of which the Group
assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as financial leases. Upon initial recognition the
leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower
of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Each lease payment is apportioned between
liabilities and financial expenses. The interest element of the
finance expense is charged to the income statement over the
lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest
on the remaining balance of the liability. Lease obligations
after the deduction of financing costs are included in other
short-term and long-term payables (depending on maturity).
Tangible assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated
over the shorter of their useful lives and the term of the lease.
The sale and leaseback operation includes the sale of the asset
and the leaseback of the same asset. Leaseback is considered
to be a finance lease in cases where the lessor provides the
Group with the leased asset with the leased asset as collateral.
Therefore, the surplus between the proceeds from the sale
and the reported carrying amount is not considered a profit.
Such surplus is deferred and amortized over the lease term.
g) Non - current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if the Group‘s
management has firmly accepted the plan to sell the asset, an
active buyer search program and completion of the plan are

launched and the sale is considered highly probable within one
year from the date of classification.
Non-current assets held for sale are valued at the lower of their
book value at the date of classification and fair value less costs
to sell. Non-current assets held for sale (whether individually or
as part of a disposal group) are not depreciated.
h) Winding-up activities
Winding up activity represents a part of the Group that is either
for sale or sold / disposed in the current period, and at the same
time (i) represents the Group‘s individual significant business
activity or a significant area of the Group‘s geographical
scope; and (ii) is part of the coordinated plan (intention) to
dispose such a part of the Group.
i) Financial assets
Financial assets represent equity with passive influence and
lending financial instruments. The Group classifies financial
assets as financial assets held for trading, available for sale or
investments held to maturity, though only for credit financial
instruments.
Financial assets held for trading and available for sale
are measured at fair value with revaluation to profit/loss,
respectively, to other comprehensive equals. In the case of
equity financial assets classified as financial assets available
for sale, for which a reliable real value cannot be specified
on a continuing basis, the acquisition costs are used for the
valuation sith any decrease in the economic results. If such a
decrease is caught, it is irreversible for the next period.
Investments held to maturity are measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest rate.
j) Inventories
Inventories are assets held for sale in the ordinary business, in
the process of production for sale or as material including raw
materials for consumption or supplies that are consumed in
the production process or in the provisioning of services.
The cost of materials and goods for resale includes expenditures
associated with acquiring the inventories and bringing them to
their present location and condition, e.g. freight costs, custom
duties and insurance costs. Finished products, semi-finished
goods and works-in-progress are initially measured at the
cost of production. The costs of finished products and semifinished goods include raw materials, direct wages, other
direct costs and related production overheads. The cost is
determined using the first-in first-out method.
Inventories are valued at the end of the financial year in

production costs or net realizable value, if lower. The net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the costs of completion and selling
expenses.
k) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or pre-determined payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Receivables are initially recognized in fair value,
which is usually equal to the nominal value in the case of
short-term receivables and subsequently carried at the initial
measurement value, net of impairment loss.
Loans and long-term receivables are financial assets that are
measured at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs. Fair
value corresponds to the present value of future cash flows
using the internal interest rate at the time of the borrowing
taking into account the credit risk of the borrower. For the
period of time until maturity, long-term receivables (loans) are
measured and carried at amortized cost using the effective
interest method.
Loans granted are classified as short-term receivables if they
are due within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
As at the date of the financial statements, the Company
reviews events or changes which suggest or could cause
the accounting value to exceed the value of the cash flows
from the asset in the future (individually for each asset). The
impairment loss of financial assets which is measured at
amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its
accounting amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. This
amount of the impairment loss is the difference between the
carrying amount and the recoverable amount. This impairment
is reflected in the current year net result. An impairment loss is
reversed if the reversal can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. The
reversal of impairment losses is recognized in the profit or loss
as an increase of the net result of the current year.
l) Cash and cash equivalents / consolidated statement of
cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash and bank deposits
with no disposition restriction. Cash equivalents comprise
current risk-free money market investments with original
maturities of less than three months.
The consolidated cash flow statement is processed using the
indirect method in cash flow from operating activities.
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Received dividends are reported in cash flows from investment
activities. Interest paid on bank loans, cash pools, issued debt
securities and interest paid on leases are reported in cash
flows from operating activities.

adjustments on non-deductible income and expenses. If the
amount of income tax paid by advances during the calendar
year exceeds the amount of the estimated tax liability, the
difference is recognized as a receivable.

m) Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to Czech
crowns, which is the Group’s functional currency, at exchange
rates as at the dates of the transactions.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method of the
balance sheet, i.e. on all temporary differences between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts.
The deferred tax is calculated using the tax rates and legal
provisions that are expected to be enacted or substantively
enacted when the asset is realized or liability settled.  

At the end of the reporting period:
- finances denominated in foreign currencies held by
the Company as well as receivables and liabilities due in
foreign currencies are converted at the closing rate i.e. the
spot rate at the year-end,
- non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical costs in a foreign currency are converted at the
dates of the transactions, and
- non-monetary items that are measured at fair value are
converted at the rates prevailing on the date when their fair
value was determined.
Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from transactions involving monetary assets
and liabilities executed in foreign currencies are recorded in the
statement of comprehensive income. This does not apply to
cash flow hedging instances in which the effective portion of
FX differences arising from hedging instruments is reported in
“Other comprehensive income”.
n) Loans and non-current liabilities
Loans and non-current liabilities are financial instruments
that are recognized at an amount equal to the consideration
received net of transaction costs. Loans and non-current
liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest method. The company reports received bank loans
and other loans, trade liabilities, and liabilities from retentions.
Loans and liabilities are classified as current liabilities if they
are due within 12 months from the balance sheet date.
Other financial liabilities are classified as long-term in the
consolidated statement of the financial position.
o) Income tax
The income tax expense comprises current and deferred
taxes. Current and deferred taxes are recognized in the profit
and loss statement, except amounts related to items charged
to other comprehensive income (eg. cash flow hedges).
The current tax is the expected liability or receivable from the
taxable base calculated using tax rates enacted as at the
balance sheet date. The tax base is derived from the profit
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A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it
is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized and presented
as long-term assets or long-term liabilities.
p) Revenues
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, net of all discounts and value added
tax (VAT).
Revenues from own products and services are recognized
when it is probable that the economic benefits of a sale will
be transferred to the Group and can be measured, when the
significant risks of ownership have been transferred to the
customer and the income and costs arising in connection with
the transaction can be estimated reliably.
Rental income from investment property is recognized in the
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.
Service income is recognized according to compliance with
the degree of completion of the service, which considering
the character of services mostly corresponds to lumpsum recognition of the service as at the date of finishing of
the service. Part of the sales of services are also fees for
reprocessing of the material supplied by the customer using
the production technology and the employees of the Group.
q) Other operating income and expenses
Other operating income and expenses particularly include the
net result from the liquidation and sale of non-financial assets,
surplus of assets, court fees resp. their return, received or paid
contractual penalties and fines, property acquired/granted free
of charge, the creation/cancellation of provisions (excluding
those recorded as financial expenses), the cost of recovery
and loss on sales of investment properties and amortisation of
construction in progress which have not produced the desired
economic effect.

r) Financial income and financial expenses
Financial income includes income from the sale of shares
and other securities, dividends received, interest earned from
cash in bank accounts, term deposits and loans, increasing
the value of financial assets and net foreign exchange gains.
Dividend income from investments is recognized when the
shareholders are entitled to receive payment.
Financial costs include losses from sales of securities and
investments and costs associated with this sale, impairment
losses relating to financial assets such as stocks, bonds and
interest receivables, net foreign exchange losses, interest on
own bonds and other securities issued, interest on finance
leases, fees for bank loans, loans, guarantees.
s) Provisions
A provision is recognized when, as a result of a past event,
the Group has a legal or contractual obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. At
the same time, there must be a reasonable estimate of the
amount that can achieve the commitment.
If the Group expects a reimbursement of some or all of
the cost of the addition of a provision by another party,
the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset, but
only when it is virtually certain that the Group will fulfil its
commitment. The reimbursement amount shall not exceed
the amount of the provision. In profit or loss, the expense
relating to the provision is recognized together with revenue
from reimbursements.
In the case of a significant influence of the time value of
money, part of the provision is reported in the present value of
expected expenses needed to pay the liability.
t) Employee benefits
The following categories of employee benefits are recognized
and observed:
Short-term employee benefits
The short-term employee benefits include monthly wages
and salaries, health and social insurance (adjusted for the
amount of pension contributions) paid by the Group for
employees, annual incentive bonuses, contributions towards
in-house catering, preferential phone and internet packages
and recreational packages for employees. A provision is
established for incentive bonuses based on the probability
of their payment. Most short-term employee benefits are
governed by a collective agreement.

Employee benefits after termination of employment (defined
contribution pension plans)
The Group pays monthly employee pension contributions to
the state pension plan. The Czech government is responsible
for providing pensions. The Group pays monthly contributions
for its employees in the form of pension fund plans. In both
cases, the scheme is a defined contribution pension plan and
these contributions are charged to the profit and loss in the
period when the employee is entitled to these benefits.
Other long-term employee benefits
A provision is established for retirement benefits. The provision
is calculated annually using reasonable statistical estimates.
Employee benefits - early termination of employment
These benefits are governed by a collective agreement.
Statutory severance pay is due to employees who terminate
their employment for organizational reasons during the year.
Severance pay increases to three times average earnings,
depending on the length of employment. The expense
associated with the provision of such employee benefits
is recognized in profit or loss at the time of the decision to
terminate the employment prematurely.
u) Grants
Government grants are support from the state, state agencies
and similar local, national or international institutions in the form
of the transfers of funds in favor of the company in exchange
for the past or future compliance of certain conditions relating
to the operating activities of the entity.
Grants related to expenses are recognized as compensation
of the expenses in the period in which they are incurred. A
surplus of the received grants over the expenses recognized
in the same period is presented in “Other operating income”.
A grant related to the acquisition of an asset is recognized by
subtracting the amount of the grant from the cost of the asset
and ultimately leads to the lower depreciation of related assets.
v) Research and development
Expenditures on research and development are recognized
in the profit or loss, except for expenditures on development
projects accounted for as intangible assets where future
measurable benefits are expected and the related costs are
measurable. Development expenditures previously recognized
in profit or loss shall not be considered non-current assets in
any subsequent period.
Development expenditures that are recognized as intangible
assets are amortized from the start of production of the
product to which they relate on a straight-line basis over the
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estimated useful life of the intangible asset, which shall not
exceed five years.
w) Hedge accounting
Within the overall currency risk management strategy the
Group is required to manage its exposure to changes in cash
flows from business activities resulting from the fluctuations in
foreign exchange rates. In accordance with these requirements
the Group enters into hedging transactions (foreign currency
financing) aimed at reducing the risk of changes in the amount
of future cash flows from foreign currency collection (converted
to Czech crowns).
The Group applies hedge accounting based on a decision
to define a hedge relationship and upon the fulfilment of
hedge accounting criteria. Hedge relationships are properly
documented from the date they are established and their
effectiveness is assessed regularly.
For cash flow hedging, the effective portion of gains or losses
from hedging instruments is reported in “Other comprehensive
income”. The ineffective portion of these gains or losses is
recognized in profit or loss.
The balance reported in “Other comprehensive income” is
charged to expenses or revenues at the moment the hedged
cash flows affect the result of operations, using the “Finance
costs” and “Finance income” accounts.
If a hedge relationship no longer meets the criteria for the
application of hedge accounting, i.e. the hedging instrument
is terminated, sold, utilized or its validity has expired or the
Group has decided to terminate the hedge relationship, hedge
accounting is terminated. The balance reported in “Other
comprehensive income” is charged to expenses or revenues
at the moment the hedged cash flows affect the result of
operations.
If it is expected that a hedged future transaction will not
take place, hedge accounting is terminated and the balance
reported in other comprehensive income is immediately
charged to expenses or revenues.
The Group determines the proportionate parts of the principals
relating to received loans denominated in EUR as hedging
instruments.
The hedged items are always the adequate parts of expected
collections from the sale of services and products to customers
denominated in EUR and applicable to the individual periods
(quarters) of the financial plan according to planned revenues.
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In 2017, the remaining part of the hedging instrument was
applied and the hedge accounting application was terminated.
In 2017, the Company did not set up a new hedging instrument
to apply hedge accounting.
x) Subsequent events
The impact of events that occur between the reporting date
and the date of the signing and approval of the financial
statements is recognized in the financial statements if the
events provide further evidence of conditions that existed at
the reporting date.
If any significant events indicative of conditions that arose after
the reporting date occur between the reporting date and the
date of the signing and approval of the financial statements,
the effects of such events are disclosed in the notes but are
not recognized in the financial statements.
y) Changes in accounting policies, estimates and errors of
previous periods
The entity only changes a used accounting policy if:
- The change is required by IFRS, or
- It results in the financial statements providing reliable and
more relevant information about the effects of transactions
and about events which affect the financial position,
financial performance and/or cash flows,
In case of a change in the accounting policy, unless otherwise
specified by IFRS, it is expected that the procedure has always
been used. The Group has to amend comparative information
in the financial statement of the reporting period and the
start of the comparative period is adjusted with an impact
on the opening balances of equity. This will not happen if it is
impracticable to determine the effects for the current period or
the cumulative impact of the changes.
The items presented in the financial statements based on
the estimates are regularly revised if the circumstances on
which they are constituted change. The Group obtains new
information or extends their experience. In this case there are
corrections of accounting estimates with a prospective impact
on the financial statements.
The correction of a significant mistake from previous periods
is performed similarly to the change in accounting policy, i.e.
retrospectively with the correction of the reported period with
a correction of the opening balance of the same period with
an impact on equity. During the preparation of the financial
statements it is expected that all mistakes were recorded in
the period in which they occurred.

4. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED IFRS STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS

and were not used by the Group in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements:

Newly released and revised IFRS standards and IFRIC
interpretations adopted by the Group
The Group has considered the following IFRS amendments
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements,
effective from 1 January 2017 and which, with the exception of
the first amendment with impact on disclosure, did not affect
the results and disclosures in these consolidated financial
statements compared with the previous consolidated financial
statements for the year 2016:

Amendments to IFRSs effective since 1 January 2018

•Amendments to IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ named
‘Disclosure Initiative’ that require an entity to provide disclosures
that enable users of consolidated financial statements to
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. The Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities consist of borrowings
including finance lease obligations and certain other financial
liabilities. A reconciliation between the opening and closing
balances of these items is newly provided in the notes.
Consistent with the transition provisions of the amendments,
the Group has not disclosed comparative information for
the prior period. Apart from the additional disclosure, the
application of these amendments has had no impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
• Amendments to IAS 12, ‘Income Taxes’ named ‘Recognition
of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses’ that clarify how
an entity should evaluate whether there will be sufficient future
taxable profits against which it can utilise a deductible temporary
difference. The application of these amendments has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the
Group already assesses the sufficiency of future taxable profits
in a way that is consistent with these amendments.
• Amendments to IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of Interest in Other
Entities’ resulted from Annual Improvements to IFRSs 20142016 Cycle state that an entity need not provide summarised
financial information for interests in subsidiaries, associates or
joint ventures that are classified (or included in a disposal group
that is classified) as held for sale. This is the only concession
from the disclosure requirements of IFRS 12 for such interests.
The Group has no assets held for sale..
Newly released and revised IFRS standards and IFRIC
interpretations, which have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been used by the Group
Until the date of approval of these consolidated financial
statements, the following new and revised IFRSs were issued
but were not effective at the beginning of the current period

• IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’, issued in June 2014 sets
out requirements for recognising and measuring financial
assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell
non-financial items. This standard replaces IAS 39, ‘Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’.
Classification – Financial assets
IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement
approach for financial assets that reflects the business
model in which assets are managed and their cash flow
characteristics. IFRS 9 contains three principal classification
categories for financial assets: measured at amortised cost, at
fair value through other comprehensive income and at fair value
through profit or loss. The standard eliminates the existing IAS
39 categories of held to maturity, loans and receivables and
available for sale.
Based on its assessment, the Group does not believe that the
new classification requirements will have a material impact
on its accounting for trade receivables and loans that are
presented as at 1 January 2018. The Group does not present
any investments in both debt and equity securities that are
managed on a fair value basis. All financial assets presented as
at 31 December 2017 are classified in the category “loans and
receivables” under IAS 39 and measured at amortised cost
and these assets will be classified in the category “measured
at amortised cost” under IFRS 9.
Impairment – Financial assets
IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with a
forward-looking “expected credit loss” (ECL) model. This
will require considerable judgement about how changes in
economic factors affect ECLs which will be determined on
a probability-weighted basis. The new impairment model
will apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost or
at fair value through other comprehensive income, except for
investments in equity instruments, and to contract assets.
Under IFRS 9, loss allowances will be measured on either
of the following bases: (i) 12-month ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from possible default events within the 12 months
after the reporting date; and (ii) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from all possible default events over the expected
life of a financial instrument. The lifetime ECL measurement
applies if the credit risk of a financial asset at the reporting
date has increased significantly since initial recognition and
the 12-month ECL measurement applies if it has not. An
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entity may determine that a financial asset’s credit risk has
not increased significantly if the asset has low credit risk at the
reporting date. However, lifetime ECL measurement always
applies for trade receivables and contract assets.
Regarding the Group’s consolidated financial statements all
financial assets are measured at cost and are represented by
trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Therefore,
the Group will apply lifetime ECL measurement on trade
receivables and 12-month ECL measurement on cash and
cash equivalents to determine impairment losses. The Group
believes that impairment losses are likely not to increase in
the scope of the IFRS 9 impairment model. Moreover based
on actual credit risk loss experience over the past three years
regarding trade and other receivables, the value of receivables
written-off was low. The Group’s business partners are, in
particular, major international companies, and all claims in the
past have always been paid, albeit sometimes with a slight time
delay. The impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 as of 1 January
2018 should therefore be minimal, insignificant and should not
substantially impact the results and financial position of the
Group presented in future consolidated financial statements
compared to the presentations provided so far.
Most cash of the Group is held at banks - Česká spořitelna
a.s .; Poštová banka, a.s .; Raiffeisenbank a.s. a Expobank CZ
a.s. The Group assessed the possible depreciation of cash
deposited with banks as a low rate.
Classification – Financial liabilities
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39 for
the classification of financial liabilities. However, under IAS 39
all fair value changes of liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss, whereas
under IFRS 9 these fair value changes are generally allocated
between other comprehensive income (if change of fair value
is due to changes in the credit risk of the debtor) and profit or
loss (remaining changes).
The Group has not designated any financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss except for derivative instruments,
to which the change in the rules does not apply, and therefore
the use of IFRS 9 as of 1 January 2018 will not result in any
changes in the reporting.
Hedge accounting
Upon the initial application of IFRS 9, a decision may be taken
either to continue with the amendments in IAS 39 or to adopt
the new adjustments included in IFRS 9. The Group has
decided to apply the IFRS 9 rules.
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IFRS 9 requires an entity to reconcile its hedge accounting
with its internal risk management objectives and to use a more
qualitative and forward-looking approach to assess hedge
effectiveness. IFRS 9 also introduces new requirements for
the reassessment of hedging relationships and prohibits the
voluntary interruption of hedge accounting. According to the
new model, more risk management strategies, which include,
in particular, the hedging of non-financial risk, may be classified
as hedge accounting. However, this does not currently apply
to the Group.
The Group has used hedge accounting. In 2017, the remaining
part of the hedging instrument was applied and the hedge
accounting application was terminated. In 2017, the Group did
not set up a new hedging instrument to apply hedge accounting.
Transition to IFRS 9
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of
IFRS 9 will generally be applied retrospectively. However, the
Group will take advantage of the exemption allowing it not to
restate comparative information for prior periods with respect
to classification and measurement (including impairment)
changes. Differences in the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities resulting from the adoption of
IFRS 9 will generally be recognised in retained earnings as at 1
January 2018. Furthermore, the determination of the business
model within which a financial asset is held is made on the
basis of the facts and circumstances that exist at the date of
initial application of IFRS 9, i.e. as at 1 January 2018.
• IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, issued
in May 2014 (effective for annual reports beginning on or after
1 January 2018) establishes a comprehensive framework
for determining whether, how much and when revenue is
recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance,
including IAS 18, ‘Revenue‘, IAS 11, ‘Construction Contracts‘
and IFRIC 13, ‘Customer Loyalty Programmes‘.    
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise
revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services
to a customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. Specially, the Standard introduces a 5-step
approach to revenue recognition: (i) Identify the contract(s)
with a customer; (ii) Identify the performance obligations in
the contract; (iii) Determine the transaction price; (iv) Allocate
the transaction price to the performance obligations in
the contract; (v) Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity
satisfies a performance obligation. Under IFRS 15, an entity
recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services

underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been
added in IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore,
extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.
The Group’s core business is the production and processing
of chemicals and chemical products. Revenue is recognized
at the time the product is transferred to the customer. The
product cycle is technologically short-term. Within the
manufacturing process, chemical substances are produced
that are either separately marketed or are further used as a
manufacturing raw material for a higher level product.
The Group also realizes the revenues from the sale of goods
in connection with the core business activity and the revenue
is recognized at the moment of transferring the control of the
goods to the customer. The Group does not carry out complex
multiple deliveries, it does not concern the long-term financing
of the activity by the customer.
Revenues also include revenue from the services of
reprocessing the material supplied by the customer using the
production technology and employees of the Group. Such  
reprocession is of a technologically short-term nature, and the
payment for the service provided is realized at the moment
of its provision (completion). Therefore, the nature of the
services provided does not require the use of the percentage
completion method or, for longer periods of time, the deferred
revenue method. Services are provided continuously on the
basis of a customer’s order (demand) and are also continuously
captured in the profit or loss. Therefore, the adoption of IFRS 15
will have a minimal impact on the Group’s income statement.
The Group will continue with the accounting policies used so
far and will only assess whether the consolidated financial
statements for the year 2018 should be accordingly adjusted.
Other revenues arise from real estate rent that is outside the
scope of IFRS 15 and falls within the scope of IAS 17 and of
IFRS 16 from 2019 and therefore will not be affected by IFRS
15 adoption
• Amendments ‘Classification and Measurement of Sharebased Payment Transactions‘ on IFRS 2, ‘Share-based
Payments‘ (effective for annual reports beginning on or after 1
January 2018) was issued in June 2016. The Group does not
report any transactions in the scope of IFRS 2, therefore the
amendment will have no impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements.
• In December 2016, IFRIC 22 ‘Foreign Currency Transactions
and Advance Consideration‘ (effective for annual reports

beginning on or after 1 January 2018) was issued and it relates
to IAS 21, ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates‘. It clarifies when and when not to calculate transaction
differences from the advance payments when a transaction
denominated in foreign currency is realized (acquisition of
fixed assets and inventories or their sale). When an advance
payment is classified as a non-monetary item as defined in
IAS 21, no exchange differences are recognized. The Group
records foreign currencies and therefore perceives the
amendment as it affects its operations, but no significant
impact is expected in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements in the following years.
• Amendments ‘Transfers of Investment Property‘ on IAS 40,
‘Investment Property‘ (effective for annual reports beginning
on or after 1 January 2018) was issued in December 2016 and
it clarifies conditions that shall be met for transfer of property
between categories investment property and property, plant
and equipment. The transfer is recognised only when a way of
use has been changed. Management of the Group perceives
the amendment as it affects its operations, but no significant
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements is
expected in following years.
• Amendments to IFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of IFRS’ and
IAS 28, ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ resulted
from Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle state
(effective for annual reports beginning on or after 1 January
2018) was issued in December 2016. The amendments to IAS
28 clarify that the option for a venture capital organisation and
other similar entities to measure investments in associates
and joint ventures at fair value through profit or loss is available
separately for each associate or joint venture, and that
election should be made at initial recognition of the associate
or joint venture. Since the Group is neither a venture capital
organisation nor any other similar entity, the amendments to
IAS 28 do not have any effect on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements. Amendments to IFRS 1 delete shortterm exceptions included in IFRS 1 but not needed any
more. These amendments have no effect on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
Amendments to IFRSs effective since 1 January 2018
and later
• In January 2016, IFRS 16, ’Leases’ (effective for annual
reports beginning on or after 1 January 2019) was issued
and introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both
lessors and leases. It especially brings a significant change in
the accounting policies for lease contracts for lessees.  IFRS
16 will supersede the current lease guidance including IAS
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17, ’Leases’ and the related interpretation when it becomes
effective. IFRS 16 distinguishes leases and service contracts
on the basis of whether an identified asset is controlled by
a customer (lessee). Distinctions of operating leases (offbalance sheet) and finance leases (on-balance sheet) are
removed for lessee accounting, and are replaced by a model
where a right-of-use asset and corresponding liability have to
be recognised for all leases by lessees (all on-balance sheet)
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value underlying
assets. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and
subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of
the lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at that
date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and
lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications,
amongst others. It would lead to an increase of the value of noncurrent assets and liabilities and would have a positive effect
on operating income because interest expenses are presented
under the “Profit from operations” line in the statement of
comprehensive income. Furthermore, the classification of cash
flows will also be affected as operating lease payments under
IAS 17 are presented as operating cash flows, whereas under the
IFRS 16 model, the lease payments will be split into a principal
and an interest portion which will be presented as financing and
operating cash flows respectively. As a consequence of the new
model, IFRS 16 requires extensive disclosures.
Operating leases currently used are of a short-term nature
and are not irrevocable for a long time. The specific impacts
of the adoption of IFRS 16 by the Group’s management will be
analyzed during 2018.
• In May 2017, IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts‘ (effective for
annual reports beginning on or after 1 January 2021) was
issued and it will supersede the currently effective IFRS 4. The
standard provides complex accounting policies (recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure) regarding
insurance contracts. Since the business of the Group is
different than an insurance company and it does not present
any insurance contracts, the standard will not affect the
consolidated financial statements.  
• In June 2017, IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments‘ (effective for annual reports beginning on or after
1 January 2019) was issued and it relates to IAS 12, ‘Income
Taxes‘. The interpretation provides an accounting policy on
how to reflect uncertainty over the income tax treatment used
by an entity in the financial statements – uncertainty whether
the tax authority will accept the tax treatment used by the
entity. The Group’s management will evaluate the impact of the

70 | 71

Consolidated financial statements

new interpretation on the financial position and performance
and will consider whether there is a situation that would result
in adjustments in the information presented as a result of the
adoption of the new interpretation. At present, after the initial
analysis of the new rules, no major changes are expected.
• Amendments to IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” in
conjunction with IFRS 11 “Joint Arrangements”, IAS 12 “Income
Taxes” and IAS 23 “Borrowing Costs” resulted from Annual
Improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle state (effective
for annual reports beginning on or after 1 January 2019) was
issued in December 2017. The amendment to IFRS 3 specifies
that when an entity acquires control over a joint venture, it
will revaluate the investment balance of such an entity. The
amendment to IFRS 11 states that an entity does not reassess
the entity’s shareholding so far if an entity acquires shareholding
in a joint venture. The amendment to IAS 12 specifies that any
potential income tax consequences resulting from a dividend
payment, profit shares should be recorded in profit or loss. The
amendment to IAS 23 states that when specific (dedicated)
debt financing (credit, bond, etc.) remains unpaid after its asset
has been completed, debt financing becomes part of generally
attributable debt financing through activation. None of the
amendments adopted should have a material impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
5. CRITICAL JUDGMENTS FOR THE APPLICATION
OF ACCOUNTING RULES AND KEY RESOURCES OF
UNCERTAINTY IN ESTIMATES
Critical judgments when applying accounting policies
In applying the accounting policies set out in the previous
section, management is required to make judgments, assess
the content of economic transactions and events, and
decide to apply accounting policies in such a way that the
consolidated financial statements provide users with useful
information for their decision-making.
In the year 2017, no specific considerations or decisions
regarding the use of appropriate IFRS accounting policies were
made in connection with the preparation of these consolidated
financial statements.
In September 2017, an agreement was reached on the
restructuring of the Group’s total lending burden on 1 October
2017.
Key sources of uncertainty in estimates
The Group makes some estimates and assumptions about
the future. Estimates are continuously reassessed based on
historical developments and experience. In the future, the

reality may differ from the currently made and recognized
estimates and judgments. Estimates and assumptions that are
associated with a significant risk that the Group will be forced
to accrue significant changes in the carrying amounts of the
presented assets and liabilities in the next financial year are
as follows:
a) Depreciation period of fixed assets
Non-current assets in the land, buildings and equipment
category and intangible assets are measured over their
useful life using the cost model, i.e, the acquisition cost
less depreciation and any impairment. The Group makes
relevant estimates of the useful life of the assets used and the
depreciation is calculated on an equal basis over its useful life.
In the following years, a reassessment of the useful life may
occur, which may result in adjustments in the calculation of
future depreciation, as well as the premature disposal of the
asset, resulting in a loss in the amount of the unrecognized
carrying amount of the asset. The Group annually performs
a revision of the accounting estimates associated with the
depreciation of assets.
b) Provisions to bad debts
Before the customer is offered standard payment and delivery
terms, the customer goes through an individual credit rating.
This rating takes into account external ratings and other
referrals from specialized companies. Trade receivables
are continually evaluated for any impairment and, if there is
objective evidence that casts doubt on the smooth conduct of
expected future cash flows, an impairment loss is recognized
and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.
c) Income taxes
The Company and most of its subsidiaries are subject to
the same tax legislation, and according to the applicable
regulations, they calculate the tax impact. The Group does not
recognize the tax liability as at 31 December 2017, nor the tax
payable in profit or loss because it has a tax profit to which
it uses the tax loss transferred from the past. The balance
of accumulated tax losses can be used in the coming years
as a reduction in taxable profits, and since the Group has
demonstrated the ability to use the loss in the past, the deferred
tax asset is recognized and recorded in the consolidated
financial statements that offset and partially reduce the
total deferred tax liability resulting from a comparison of the
accounting and tax values of the balance sheet items.
However, if future business developments do not meet
expected plans and the Group will suffer tax losses in the
future, there may be a situation where a deferred tax asset can
not be accounted for and will have to be derecognised, which

may have a negative impact on profit or loss in the future.
Deferred tax is measured using tax rates that arise from the
applicable tax legislation, which may be amended in the future
without the Group’s influence and may result in a change in the
amount of deferred tax. The actual tax impact may in the future
be different from current estimates caused either by a change
in the tax law or by a change in the Group’s business conduct.
d) Litigation and other legal disputes
The Group, in the context of its business activities, is part
of court and other legal disputes for which it evaluates their
capture and / or disclosure in the consolidated financial
statements. In most cases, it acts as a plaintiff, and in the
successful conclusion of the dispute, the Group may incur
cash payments. In these cases, the Group charges the dispute
only when the dispute is terminated.
If the Group is in the position of a defendant, it captures a
provision if there is a present obligation arising from a past
event, its settlement is probable and the amount of settlement is
reliably measurable. If these conditions are not met, the Group
considers disclosure of a contingent liability in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements if its potential impact on the
Group would be material. Liabilities that result from published
contingent liabilities or even those not recognized and
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements may have a
material impact on the Group’s financial position, therefore the
Group continuously evaluates ongoing and unresolved court
and other legal disputes. Group´s management cooperates
with legal counsel and results in a decision to capture a
provision or to disclose a contingent liability or conditional
asset, if the Group is a party to the claimant’s claim.
Information on litigation is disclosed in the commentary on
contingent liabilities in Part 23.
e) Provisions
A provision is recognized when, as a result of a past event,
the Group has a legal or contractual obligation that can
be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. At
the same time, there must be a reasonable estimate of the
amount that can achieve the commitment.
If the Group expects a reimbursement of some or all of the cost
of addition of provision by another party, the reimbursement
is recognized as a separate asset, but only when it is
virtually certain that the Group will fulfil its commitment. The
reimbursement amount shall not exceed the amount of the
provision.
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6. LAND, CONSTRUCTION AND EQUIPMENT
Acquisition cost

Balance at 1 January 2017
Additions

Property,
plant and
structures

2 807 093

10 260

Disposals

Transfers to investments to property
Transfers

At 31 December 2017

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2017
Depreciation

-842

48 907

At 31 December 2017

Adjustments

Balance at 1 January 2017

0

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles

-59 284

-174 392

-1 343 687

837

-30 455

-1 432 589

Property,
plant and
structures
-40 812

0

0

Transfers

0

At 31 December 2017

At 31 December 2017

-68 347

Property,
plant and
structures

3 304 527

Release of adjustments

Balance at 1 January 2017

170 595

1 438 320

Additions to adjustment

Carrying amount

3 920 885

439 109

Disposals

Transfers to investments to property

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles

-40 812

1 422 594
1 831 126

5 461 453

Other

7 515

8 863 528

-99

-64 437

-133 725

0

-1 877 429

0

103
0

7 519

Other

-7 275

61 228

99

0

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles
-22 012

-7 449

-32
0

-7 208

Other

0

0

8 574
0

194 743

Under
construction
and advances

0

0

Under
construction
and advances

-233 708
-30 455

-4 694 484

Total

-155 591

-218 415
64 477

-5 725

0

-76 337

240

1 972 444

311

Total

62 164

-22 697

757 350

8 968 242

0

0

57 713

2 184 069

48 907

-4 492 485

0
0

189 532

0

6 764

0

Total

2 128 035

-3 141 523

-3 254 687

Under
construction
and advances

27 266

118 406

-13 174
27 266

-139 846

4 152 628

4 133 912

In 2017, the Group put into use technology - membrane electrolysis. As part of the valuation and asset review, part of the

investments from which the Group did not expect any economic benefit was identified and therefore was written off to
the profit or loss of the current year of  57 713 TCZK. The Group has created 100% adjustment in 2016.
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Comparable period balances:
Acquisition cost

Balance at 1 January 2016
Additions

Disposals

Transfers to inv. property

Transfer to assets held for sale
Transfers

At 31 December 2016

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2016
Depreciation
Disposals

Transfers to inv. property

Transfer to assets held for sale
Transfers

At 31 December 2016

Property,
plant and
structures

3 202 587

10 941

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles
4 200 201

41 839

-21 987

-78 587

-176 316

-436 499

2 807 093

3 920 885

-65 392

-142 740*

0

193 931*

Property,
plant and
structures

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles

-59 691

-127 327

-1 539 035
21 987
50 134
70 030

112 888*

-1 343 687

Other

7 122

9

-175
0

0

559

7 515

Other

-3 255 839

-6 844

74 320

175

279 652

0

0

-112 329*

-3 141 523

-47
0

-559

-7 275

Under
construction
and advances

Total

1 392 180

8 802 090

-4 021

-104 770

0

-612 815

2 128 035

8 863 528

791 626
0

-51 750

Under
construction
and advances

844 415
-65 392
0

Total

0

-4 801 718

0

96 482

0
0

-187 065
50 134

0

349 682

0

-4 492 485

0

0

* Transfers represent the reclassification part of the fixed assets.

Adjustments

Balance at 1 January 2016
Additions to adjustment
Release of adjustments
At 31 December 2016

Carrying amount

Balance at 1 January 2016
At 31 December 2016

Property,
plant and
structures
-40 812
0

0

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles
-15 621
-6 764

Other

0
0

Under
construction
and advances
-87 964
-67 627

-144 397

-74 391

-40 812

-22 012

373

0
0

-155 591

-218 415

1 622 741

928 741

278

1 304 216

3 855 976

1 422 594

757 350

240

0

Total

1 972 444

373

4 152 628
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In 2017, the following key properties were completed and put into use (depreciation started):
Asset
Electrolysis conversion
Calcium milk technology
Reservoir lining
Pilot model glycidol preparation unit
Transformer station modernization

Total expenditures
mil CZK
1 807
20.0
4.2
1.7
1.3

In 2017, the Group activated borrowing costs totaling 21 580 TCZK (in 2016: 66 042 TCZK). Activated borrowing costs
represent complete borrowing costs directly related to the construction of new membrane electrolysis.
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7. LONG-TERM ASSETS HELD FOR THE PURPOSE OF SALE AND DISCONTINUED ACTIVITIES
Production technologies and real estate related to the production of polyesters are classified and held in the financial
statement as held for sale following approval of their sale by the Group‘s management on 29 April 2016. The completion
of the transaction took place in February 2017 in the form of an increase in the share capital of the subsidiary Spolchemie
Polyesters by non-cash deposit and subsequent sale of the business share to a third party.
The valuation of assets held for sale is at the level of the carrying amount at the date of classification. As at 31 December
2016, no impairment loss was recognized as the sale realized was at a cost that exceeded the carrying amount of the asset.
Structure of non-current assets held for sale:

Acquisition Cost

Accumulated depreciation
Net value

Property, plant  
and structures
176 316

-70 030

106 286

Machinery, equipment  
and motor vehicles
436 499

-279 652

156 847

Total

612 815

-349 682
263 133

Profit from the sale of long-term assets is presented under other operating income, comments in Chapter 28.

The analysis of the result of winding-up activities is as follows:

31 December 2017
31 December 2016
		TCZK
TCZK
			
Revenue - services
6 594
81 042
Change in inventory from own products
-138
-1 028
Material, energy consumption
-1 134
-11 815
Logistics, rent and other services
-1 255
-24 017
Personnel expenses
-1 057
-12 736
Depreciation
0
-7 700
Other operating income
33 874
3 092
Other operating expenses
-9
-215
		
Operating profit/loss
36 875
26 623
		
Financial expenses
-200
-7 187
		
Profit before tax of winding-up activities
36 675
19 436
		
Income tax
0
0
		
Profit/loss of winding-up activities
36 675
19 436
		

consolidated financial statements
Cash flow of winding-up activities in 2017 is as follows:

Profit / loss for 2017

Winding-up
activities (TCZK)
36 675

Further
work (TCZK)
-55 540

Total
cash flow (TCZK)
-18 865

			
Adjustments of non-cash operations
Changes in non-cash components
in working capital
Interest and taxes

-34 067

501 278

467 211

-78

-608 961

-609 039

-200

-116 876

-117 076

			
Net operating cash flow

2 330

-280 099

-277 769

0

173 801

173 801

36 197

-19 837

16 360

Cash and cash equivalents on 1 January 2017			

34 665

Impact of FX difference

-1 312

Cash and cash equivalent on 31 December 2017			

49 713

Cash flow from investment activities
Cash flow from financing activities

33 867

86 460

120 327

			
Net increase/decrease in cash
and cash equivalents

			
			
			

Cash flow of winding-up activities in 2016 follows:

Profit / loss for 2016

Winding-up
activities (TCZK)
19 436

Further
work (TCZK)
-71 395

Total
cash flow (TCZK)
-51 959

			
Adjustments of non-cash operations

14 887

297 409

Interest and taxes

-7 187

5 108

139 362

Net operating cash flow

32 244

Changes in non-cash components
in working capital

312 296
144 470

-94 637

-101 824

270 739

302 983

			
Cash flow from investment activities
Cash flow from financing activities

-2 942
2

-840 334
490 175

-843 276
490 177

			
Net increase/decrease in cash
and cash equivalents

29 304

-79 419

-50 115

Cash and cash equivalents on 1 January 2016			

84 768

Impact of FX difference

12

			
Cash and cash equivalent on 31 December 2016 			
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34 665

8. INVESTMENT IN PROPERTY

Balance at 1 January 2017

Acquisition costs

Accumulated depreciation

Carrying amount

0

-7 812

-7 812

150 198

Depreciation

Transfer to plant and equipment

-48 907

65 443

101 291

-62 112

30 455

-18 452

Acquisition costs

Accumulated depreciation

Carrying amount

0

-2 445

-2 445

Balance at 31 December 2017

Balance at 1 January 2016

-84 755

Depreciation

Transfer to plant and equipment
Balance at 31 December 2016

Assignables to the statement of the full result

84 806
65 392

150 198

-32 176
-50 134
-84 755

31 December 2017
		TCZK
		
Rental income
10 965
Depreciation
-1 361
Direct operating costs (maintenance)
-1 583
Operating result associated with investment property
8 021

39 179

52 630
15 258
65 443

31 December 2016
TCZK
10 713
-2 445
-1 498
6 770

The group leases real estate to other companies, especially for specific properties within the production area in Ústí nad
Labem. Due to the nature and especially the location inside the production site, alternative market use is limited.

consolidated financial statements
9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Acquisition costs
Balance at 1 January 2017
Transfers

Additions

Disposals

Impact of exchange rate conversion
Balance at 31 December 2017

Licenses		Under
and patents
Software
construction
272 483

19 149

3 332

0

10 722

-1 261

-7 134

278 142

15 757

307 389

6 687

10 019

0

-10 722

0

0

0

19 149

0

11 722

Accumulated amortisation/adjustments
Licenses		Under
and patents
Software
construction
Balance at 1 January 2017
Depreciation
Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2017
Allowances
Balance at 1 January 2017
Depreciation
Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2017
Carrying amount

At 1 January 2017

At 31 December 2017
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-136 885

-7 038
1 261

-142 662

-16 254

0

0

0

-394

-16 648

Total

0

0

Licenses		Under
and patents
Software
construction

0

-1 261

-7 134

309 013

Total

-153 139

-7 432
1 261

-159 310

Total

0

0

0

-27 266

0

0

-27 266

135 598

2 895

15 757

154 250

-27 860

-55 126

80 354

0

0

2 501

0

0

11 722

0

-27 860

-55 126

94 577

Acquisition costs
Balance at 1 January 2016
Transfers

Additions

Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2016

Licenses		Under
and patents
Software
construction
291 902

164

14

-19 597

272 483

39 569

12 908

83

3 013

19 149

15 757

0

-20 503

-164
0

Accumulated amortisation/adjustments
Licenses		Under
and patents
Software
construction
Balance at 1 January 201
Depreciation
Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2016
Carrying amount

At 1 January 2016

At 31 December 2016

Tota

344 379

0

3 110

-40 100

307 389

Tota

-145 120

-36 129

0

-181 249

19 822

-136 885

20 491

-16 254

0
0

40 313

-153 139

146 782

3 440

12 908

163 130

-11 587

135 598

-616

2 895

0

15 757

-12 203

154 250

10. PROVIDED LOANS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Receivable STZ Development, a.s.

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

514 454

514 454

Impairment loss

-213 239

-213 239

Other receivable

6 001

5 001

Total

301 215

307 216

301 215

306 216

Long-term receivables are almost exclusively a receivable from STZ Development, a.s., which was acquired by assignment
in 2008 at a nominal value of 400 mil. CZK. The receivable is remunerated at the annual average rate of 1YEAR PRIBOR,

increased by 2.5% p.a. STZ Development is a subsidiary of Via Chem Group, a.s. In the past, impairment was indicated in

connection with the credit risk analysis associated with this receivable and recognized impairment loss of 213 239 TCZK. In
2017 and 2016, the Group records entitlement to the related interest, but it does not show it, because it doubts their earnings.
The Group‘s receivable is subject to other long-term liabilities of STZ Development.
The Group does not record receivables with a maturity of more than 5 years.
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11. INVENTORIES

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

Raw materials

196 350

161 001

Finished goods

281 227

214 842

Carrying amount

485 904

381 656

Work in progress
Goods for resale

823

7 504

2 045
3 768

The gross amount of inventories as at 31 December 2017 is 503 330 TCZK (2016: 398 722 TCZK) and the fair value of inventories less cost to sell is 485 904 TCZK (2016: 381 656 TCZK).

The amount of inventories charged to cost in 2017 is 3 006 743 TCZK (2016: 2 551 396 TCZK).

12. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Gross value of trade receivables
Impairment loss
Total
Other short-term receivables (net)
VAT
Other short-term receivables
Impairment loss
Total

31 December 2017
TCZK
778 321
-187 223
591 098

31 December 2016
TCZK
841 645
-238 819
602 826

31 December 2017
TCZK
69 542
37 685
-17 371
89 856

31 December 2016
TCZK
76 109
37 848
0
113 957

The credit risk analysis is described in the Financial Risk Management section.

13. TAX RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES
The balance of tax receivables amounting to 292 TCZK. (As of 31 December 2016: 733 TCZK) is mainly due to overpayments of corporation tax.

The balance of tax liabilities in the amount of 3 824 TCZK. (As of 31 December 2016: 1 560 TCZK) is due to corporation
tax.
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14. FINANCIAL ASSETS
Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets of 20 TCZK represent the ownership interest (1%) in the Company aus. based in Par-

dubice, which the Company intends to hold for an unspecified period. The investment is measured at cost and has not
yet been recognized as any impairment.

15. REGISTERED CAPITAL AND FUNDS

Authorized and issued shares
Ordinary shares with a nominal
value of CZK 500, fully paid

Number
units
3 878 816

31 December 2017
TCZK
1 939 408

Number
units
3 878 816

31 December 2016
TCZK
1 939 408

Issued Shares

As at 11 December 2007, the Company had issued 3 878 816 ordinary certificated bearer shares at the nominal value of
CZK 500 per share.

The Company recorded no receivables as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 for subscribed equity; the share
issue was fully paid. None of the entities controlled by the Company or companies in which the Company has property
participation own any shares of the Company.

Change in the form of shares from 1 January 2014

As at 1 January 2014, certificated bearer shares that are not immobilized, i.e. including those issued by the Company, are

automatically transformed into certificated registered shares pursuant to Act no. 134/2013 Coll., some measures to increase
the transparency of joint-stock companies and on the amendment of other laws.

The Company proceeds in line with valid legal regulations. In March 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company called
upon the shareholders to exchange their shares in a manner required for the summoning of the General Meeting.

In 2017, the exchange of shares is still pending. As at 31 December 2017 all shares were exchanged in the amount of

1 634 090 TCZK (i.e. 3 268 180 units of shares), even though the proportion of previously redeemed shares amounts to
16% (resp. 610 636 units).
Shareholders

Via Chem Group, a.s., holding a 33.12% share in the registered capital and in the voting rights in the Company, is its

major shareholder as at 31 December 2017. According to the information of the Company no other entity has a higher

share in the Company, it can be assumed that the parent company is the Via Chem Group, Inc. Information about the
controlling entity is listed in point 1.

Pursuant to Section 333 of Act No. 182/2006 Coll., on Insolvency and Methods of its Resolution (the Insolvency Act), the
transfer of shareholder rights in Via Chem Group to insolvency trustee with the exception of appointment of members of
statutory bodies.
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The reserve fund is created in accordance with the current statutes of the Company by contributions from the period net
profit up to a minimum of 20% of the registered capital.

The Company procedures according to Section 777 (2) of Act. no. 90/2012 Coll., on Business Corporations (hereinafter

referred to as the “BCA”) adapted its statutes according to the provisions of the BCA and the revised text of the rules
within the statutory deadline delivered to the Registry Court. It has not been decided about the submission of the Company to the BCA as a whole within the meaning of Section 777 (5) of the BCA.

16. ACCUMULATED OTHER FULL RESULT
The accumulated other comprehensive income is mainly the result of exchange rate differences as at 31 December 2017,
while in the previous year it was mainly the result of hedging instruments at the amount of -17 050 TCZK.

17. BANK LOANS
Already in 2016, AB-CREDIT, a.s. took over the position of creditor from Raiffeisenbank, a.s. Similarly, in 2017 this company entered the same position for loans from EXPOBANK CZ, a.s.

During the first half of 2017, the Company conducted intensive negotiations with its funding partners, and in September
2017, a partial agreement was reached on the restructuring of the Company‘s total lending burden as follows.

As of 30 September 2017, the Group concluded supplements to existing (taken over) loan agreements with AB-CREDIT,

a.s., setting the interest rate of 2% p.a. for all loans, while the maturity of all loans was set at 30 September 2018 with
an option to extend the maturity date to 30 September 2019. Due to these conditions, these loans are reported as short-term.

At the same date, the Group and Poštová banka, a.s. supplemented the credit agreements which set an interest rate

of 2% p.a. for all loans and set a new repayment schedule with a final maturity of 30 September 2032 and a two-year
postponement of loan repayments.

In December 2017, ISTROKAPITAL, a.s., took over the position of a creditor from Poštová banka.
As of 30 June 2017, the Stabilization Agreement expired. Its provisions are superseded by the determination of loan parameters in individual loan agreements, respectively in the supplements to these contracts and by separate Treaties on
the adjustment of mutual rights and obligations in case of ISTROKAPITALU, a.s. and the By-Laws for AB-CREDIT, a.s.

Given that the two lending entities are not banking institutions, the liabilities from these loans are reported as non-bank
loans.
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The following breakdown of bank loans corresponds to existing contracts as amended.
31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

Loans due within one year

0

1 256 506

Long-term loans payable from two to five years

0

370 282

Long-term loans payable within two years
Long-term loans over five years
Total long-term loans

0
0

0

123 427
185 790

679 499

		
Total

0

1 936 005

Pledged assets
In 2009, a lien on the Company’s assets was established in favor of bank creditors as collateral for loans provided to the
Company.

In EPISPOL, a.s. both movable and immovable property are stopped in favor of non-bank creditors such as credit pro-

tection. As of 31 December 2017, the outstanding part of the loan was 227 747 TCZK (As at 31 December 2016: 188 184
TCZK). The company provided its subsidiary EPISPOL, a.s. liability for an investment loan amounting to 600 000 TCZK.

In CHP Epi, a.s. and SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, a.s. both movable and immovable property for non-bank creditors are

pledged as collateral for drawn-up investment loans. Withdrawals of loans towards the end of 2017 are made in CHS Epi,
a.s. for 187 112 TCZK (as at 31 December 2016: 151 942 TCZK) and in SPOLCHEMII Electrolysis, a.s. for 758 947 TCZK
(As at 31 December 2016: 802 926 TCZK).

Meeting conditions of bank loans (covenants)
Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu, a.s., Epispol a.s., SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, a.s. and CHS Epi, a.s must comply

with selected financial indicators (EBITDA, Equity ratio, DSCR, Default rate, and CAPEX) on a semi-annual and annual

basis. These indicators are calculated on the basis of the simplified consolidation of the aforementioned companies. The
required minimum benchmarks for 2017 were met.

In case of the non-fulfillment of one of the indicators, the interest rate increase for bank loans is agreed at 2% p.a. for a

period of time before it can again prove the fulfillment of the credit conditions in the required amount or the possibility of
the premature termination of obligations.
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18. OTHER LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Long-term loans

ISTROKAPITAL, a.s.

Via Chem Group, a.s.
MONTE BRAVIA, a.s.

Pembroke Trading Ltd

Non-bank loan 1 – long-term part
AB – CREDIT a.s.

Supplier loan 1 – long-term part
Supplier loan 2 – long-term part
Supplier loan 3 – long-term part

Liabilities from leasing contracts

31 December 2017
TCZK
1 422 288

0

261 685

276 781

261 365

282 598

62 573

66 199

12 543

0

281 956
153 240
187 112
21 622
4 050

Supplier loan 4 – long-term part

2 694

Supplier loan 5 – long-term part
Other
Total

31 December 2016
TCZK

750

1 779

2 673 657

0
0
0

29 943
3 299
0

0

1 247

660 067

ISTROKAPITAL, a.s.: the non-banking company ISTROKAPITAL, a.s. assumed the Group‘s liabilities to the Poštová ban-

ka, a.s. in December 2017. Under the new supplements, the payables are remunerated at 2% p.a. and the final maturity
was set at 30 September 2032 with a two-year postponement of repayments, therefore these liabilities are classified as
long-term. In 2016, they were reported as bank loans.

On 5 October 2009, the Group (Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu) entered into a loan agreement with Via Chem
Group, a.s., under which it received a loan of 200 000 TCZK with a maturity of one year from the date of the conclusion of
the contract. The agreed interest is 7% p.a. Under a separate agreement, this is a commitment subject to commitments

vis-à-vis both bank and non-bank creditors. In 2016, the principal and interest on this loan were reported as short-term

as the senior payables were due to be due by 30 June 2017 as of 31 December 2016. Due to the changes in the maturity
of senior commitments in 2017, this liability as of 31 December 2017 is classified as long-term.

MONTE BRAVIA, a.s.: The Group entered into credit agreements in 2014. Loans were remunerated at a fixed rate of 10%
p.a. Liabilities on loans were subject to a specific contract subject to liabilities to bank creditors and to non-bank credi-

tors of AB - CREDIT a.s. In 2018, the receivables of MONTE BRAVIA were transferred to ISTROKAPITAL, see Chapter 41.
Subsequent Events. MONTE BRAVIA, a.s. represents an asset or personally related entity.

In 2014, the Group (or the Company) entered into a credit agreement with Pembroke Trading Limited with a credit line of

up to 6 000 TEUR. The drawn loan is remunerated at a fixed rate of 10% p.a. The maturity of the loan is at the creditor‘s
request; but not earlier than 30 September 2017, but under a special agreement this is a commitment subject to other
credit commitments. In 2016, the loan was presented under short-term liabilities as senior liabilities were due to mature
by 30 June 2017 as of 31 December 2016. Due to the changes in the maturity of senior commitments that occurred in
2017, this liability is classified as long-term as at 31 December 2017,.
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Non-bank loan 1 - long-term part: In 2016, the Company and SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis a.s. have entered into contracts
with a non-bank entity, the essence of which is to provide funds to finance the acquisition of fixed assets. The transaction resulted in liabilities totalling 333 369 TCZK. Which were already partially reduced in 2016. In 2017, the structure
of the repayment schedule, which defines deferred installments, was modified. The effective interest rate is 5.49% p.a.,
respectively 6.31% p.a.

AB-CREDIT, a.s.: In 2016, AB-CREDIT, a.s. took over the position of creditor from Raiffeisenbank, a.s. Similarly, in 2017
this company entered the same position for loans from EXPOBANK CZ, a.s. (for more details, see Chapter 17).

An addendum was concluded in 2017, which sets the final maturity of one of the loans borrowed on 30 September 2019,
and therefore the outstanding portion of the loan is reported as a long-term commitment.

Suppliers Loan 1 - Long Term: In 2016, the Group (SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis a.s.) concluded a repayment schedule of

2.8 mil. EUR with a final maturity of 30 June 2024 and an interest rate of 5% p.a. with one of the technology suppliers
for the Diagram Electrolysis Investment Project. In 2017, new supplements were made to the supplier, adjusting the final

maturity date to 30 June 2025 and setting an interest rate of 5.5% p.a. The short-term portion is recognized under Short-term non-bank borrowings.

Suppliers Loan 2 - Long Term: In 2016, the Group (the Company) entered into a contract for the construction of a new

R110 kV RVC substation, a TS110 transformer station and a TS236B substation for the new distribution power supply

for the Group. The repayment schedule was closed for a period of 48 months with a final maturity of November 2020. In
2017, the Group (the Company) acquired additional assets financed by supplier loans in the total amount of 2 019 TCZK
payable until November 2021. The short-term portion is recognized under Short-term non-bank borrowings.

Suppliers Loan 3 - Long Term: In 2017, the Group (the Company) acquired part of the production facility amounting to

18 815 TCZK. The investment is funded by a supplier loan due by December 2020. The short-term portion is reported
under Short-term Non-Bank Loans.

Supplier Loan 4: In 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with a business partner to change the maturity of
business liabilities by a repayment schedule until February 2019. Liabilities due in 2019 are reported as long-term.

Supplier Loan 5: In 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with a business partner to change the maturity of business liabilities in a repayment schedule until August 2019. Liabilities due in 2019 are reported as long-term.
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Short-term loans

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

979 185

565 685

30 468

0

47 446

23 181

10 933

10 266

AB – CREDIT a.s.

ISTROKAPITAL, a.s.

113 733

Supplier loan 6
Supplier loan 7

14 783

Non-bank loan 1 – short-term part
Supplier loan 1 – short-term part

12 872

Supplier loan 2 – short-term part
Supplier loan 3 – short-term part

6 272

Supplier loan 4 – short-term part

8 939

Supplier loan 5 – short-term part

8 968

Liabilities from leasing contracts

2 346

Other loans from non-bank entity

17 779

Via Chem Group, a.s.

0

Pembroke Trading Limited
Non-bank loan 2
Total

0

0

1 253 724

0

0

11 348
0
0
0

1 748

34 773

267 761
162 120

113 560

1 190 442

AB – Credit a.s.: see more. Chapter 17 and long-term non-bank loans.
Liabilities to ISTROKAPITAL, A.S .: were created in 2017 by the acquisition of Non-Bank Loans 2 by another entity. Loans
taken over are at a rate of 2% p.a. The recognized short-term loans are due in September 2018. During 2018, the maturity
of these loans was extended until 30 September 2032, see point 41. Subsequent events.
Supplier Loan 6: In 2017, the Group entered into an agreement with a business partner to change the maturity of the
payable business liabilities by a repayment schedule until December 2018.
Supplier Loan 7: In 2017, the Group entered into an agreement with its trading partners to change the maturity of payable
business liabilities by a repayment schedule until December 2018.
Non-bank loan 1 - short term: See Long-term non-bank loans.
Supplier Loan 1 - 5: - Short Term: See Long-term non-bank loans.
Non-bank Loan 2: Before the end of 2016, the Group (the Company and SPOLCHEMII Electrolysis) received a loan of
4 200 TEUR from another non-bank entity. The loan interest is set at 8% p.a. The maturity of the loan was 30 September
2017. As of 30 September 2017, the receivable from this loan was transferred to ISTROKAPITAL, a.s. The principle was
increased by unpaid interest, the interest rate was changed to 2% p.a., the maturity of the loans was set at 30 September
2018.
Via Chem Group, a.s. and MONTE BRAVIA, a.s. are asset or personally related.
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19. ACCRUALS
In September 2017, an agreement was reached on the restructuring of the Group‘s total lending burden as of 1 October
2017.
The condition of signing an agreement on the restructuring of the loan burden of a major bank creditor was the granting
of a restructuring fee of 250 953 TCZK. The remuneration represents additional borrowing costs, it has been capitalized
to the principal of the loan and the total cost of the remuneration is accrued over the life of the credit agreement in the
form of the effective interest rate of the loan in question. Prepaid borrowing costs in 2018 are reported separately as a
short-term asset (deferred expenses). The balance of prepaid borrowing costs at 31 December 2017 amounted to a total
of 244 253 TCZK, with a long-term part of 217 909 TCZK and short-term part of 26 344 TCZK.

20. FINANCE LEASES
The Group recognizes machinery and equipment leased under finance leases as part of tangible fixed assets. Upon the
termination of the contract, the Group has the right to purchase the leased items at pre-agreed prices. During the lease,
the landlord has title to the subject of the lease. The net book value of these assets as at 31 December 2017 is 6 396
TCZK (as at 31 December 2016: 5 141 TCZK).
The depreciation of the assets in question for the year 2017 amounted to 2 116 TCZK (in 2016: 1 230 TCZK) and the
interest related to the financing of these assets, declared at cost in 2017, amounted to 194 TCZK (in 2016: 189 TCZK).
31 December 2017

Maturity

total value
of future
repayments
TCZK

interest
TCZK

31 December 2016

net value
of future
repayments
TCZK

total value
of future
repayments
TCZK

interest
TCZK

net value
of future
repayments
TCZK

Up to 1 year

2 637

290

2 347

1 986

238

1 748

Total

7 073

677

6 396

5 637

590

5 047

From 2 to 5 years

4 436

387

4 049

3 651

352

3 299

21. INVESTMENT SUSPENSIONS
Other long-term liabilities consist of retentions related to the Group‘s investment activity of 8 808 TCZK. (As of 31 December 2016: 63 333 TCZK). The retainer is not remunerated due to the immaterial impact on the Group´s net result.
Suspension of investments by maturity
Maturity date
2018

31 December 2017
TCZK
0

53 880

3 181

4 973

2019

2 878

2021

2 570

2020
2022
Total

31 December 2016
TCZK

179

8 808

1 846
2 634

0

63 333
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22. CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables

Accruals (deferred expenses)
Estimated payables
Total trade

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

891 741

1 018 656

24 466

40 474

46 996

35 721

956 681

1 101 373

22 225

20 026

7 018

5 007

		
Payables to employees

Payables to social security

Payables to health insurance

Interest on guarantees Via Chem Group
Tax liabilities

Other payables
Total other

14 147
2 663
7 234

3 328

13 907
2 663
5 809

6 859

56 615

54 271

1 013 296

1 155 644

		
Total

Trade payables breakdown according to their maturity

The maturity date

0-90 days after the due date

90 to 180 days after the due date

180 to 360 days after the due date

More than 360 days after the due date
Total

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

665 411

698 792

24 817

30 600

186 726
13 028

1 759

891 741

285 287
3 138

839

1 018 656

23. ADVANCES RECEIVED
As at 31 December 2017, the Group has advances received amounting to 230 063 TCZK (2016: 189 796 TCZK), of which
197 954 TCZK (2016: 186 222 TCZK) are advances received based on regression factoring.
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24. PROVISIONS
		Short-term
Litigation and
employment
other disputes
benefits
TCZK
TCZK
Balance as at 1 January 2016

Other
TCZK

2 594

3 071

12 872

0

11 048

0

11 048

0

-243

-1 912

-2 155

			
Additions

Utilisation
Released

Total
TCZK

-1 531

-2 828

-1 014

18 537

-5 373

				
Balance as at 31 December 2016

1 063

11 048

9 946

22 057

Additions

50 626

13 910

43

64 579

Released

0

-1 645

Balance as at 31 December 2017

51 689

13 910

9 088

74 687

of which long-term reserves

51 689

4 262

8 441

64 392

				
Utilisation

0

-9 403

-901

0

-10 304

-1 645

				
				
of which short-term reserves

0

9 648

647

10 295

In 2017 the Group created a provision for the potential risk ensuing from the litigation for the payment of the submitted
promissory note for TCZK 40 116, in the amount of the promissory note increased by interest and an estimate of expenses for the litigation, i.e. in a total amount of TCZK 50 626. The promissory note was issued in 2013 as a security pro-

missory note, whereas it secured the debt of the Company’s controlling entity. The promissory note was applied by the
creditor’s insolvency administrator at the end of 2017. Seeing that the debt of the controlling company, the fulfilment of

which was secured by the promissory note in question, was fulfilled to the full extent back at the end of 2009, the security

was extinguished and the promissory note was supposed to have been destroyed. Seeing that the promissory note no
longer has any case which should be fulfilled on it, the Group is convinced that the unjustified right from the promissory

note applied in the litigation will not be recognised for the plaintiff and it will not be necessary to draw on the provision.
A description of the status of the litigation is given in point 41 of the Subsequent events.

Since it cannot be expected that the dispute would be concluded before the end of 2018, the Group has reported the
provision as long-term.

The remaining provision for legal and other disputes is made for possible compensation for a defective delivery in 2001.
Short-term employee benefit provisions represent 2017 earnings provisions, which are expected to be paid in the course
of 2018. In 2017, the Group defined a new 3 year bonus policy for selected key employees. Rewards will be paid in the
course of 2019.

A significant portion of other provisions comprises long-term provisions for employee benefits, to which the Group has
committed itself in a collective agreement. These are the one-off bonuses paid to employees on retirement. At the end

of 2017, the reserve amounted to 8 966 TCZK (2016: 9 896 TCZK). The portion of the one-off remuneration, which is
expected to be paid in the course of 2018, is reported as a short-term reserve.

consolidated financial statements
25. REVENUES

Sales for goods

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

398 097

357 938

565 096

Sales for services

- sales for Toll Fee

592 546

232 539

251 602

Sales for products

3 923 864

3 574 116

Total revenues

4 887 057

4 524 600

6 594

81 042

4 880 463

4 443 558

Winding up activities - sales for services
- sales for Toll Fee

6 526

Total revenues from further work

77 703

Sales for products
2017
Inorganics

Epoxy resins
Polyesters

Special resins
Alkyds

Other polymers

Domestic
TCZK
267 255

Foreign
TCZK

825 807

Total
TCZK

1 093 062

28 255

2 010 369

138 831

381 053

519 884

36 725

4 896

41 621

0

68 903

2 488

159 282

2 038 624
2 488

228 185

Total sales for products

539 969

3 383 895

3 923 864

Sales for products from further work

539 969

3 383 895

3 923 864

Winding up activities

2016
Inorganics

Epoxy resins
Polyesters

Special resins
Alkyds

Other polymers

0

Tuzemsko
TCZK
207 890

0

Zahraničí
TCZK

0

Total
TCZK

865 171

1 073 061

35 608

35 608

71 962

1 611 941

124 346

373 622

497 968

39 517

5 279

44 796

0

71 636

167 144

1 683 903

238 780

Total sales for products

515 351

3 058 765

3 574 116

Sales for products from further work

515 351

3 058 765

3 574 116

Winding up activities
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0

0

0

26. COST OF MATERIAL AND ENERGY

Material consumption

Costs of processing raw materials
Energy consumption
Total
Winding up activities
- Consumption of material and energy
from continuing operations
- Change in stocks of finished goods
and incomplete production

2017
TCZK

2016
TCZK

2 861 080

2 562 299

481 110

505 427

3 553 718

3 067 726

1 134

11 815

3 552 548

3 055 911

-65 865

-11 931

138

1 028

-66 003

-10 903

211 528

0

		
Winding up activities

		
Change in stocks of finished products and work
in progress from continuing operations

The amount of the inventory of material booked in 2017 in total costs is 3 006 743 TCZK (2016: 2 551 396 TCZK).
The increase in raw material processing costs is due in particular to the change of production technology and the emergence of new raw material processing costs.

27. SERVICES

Logistics services
Waste disposal

Operating lease

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

154 520

155 626

80 115
50 144

76 409
56 916

Other services

333 780

380 172

Total

618 559

669 123

1 255

24 017

617 304

645 106

Winding up activities
Total services from further work

Mainly railway vehicles are rented under operating leases. For more comments related to future payments we refer to
Chapter 38.
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28. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES AND INCOME

Other operating income
Profit from sale of fixed assets

Profit from sale of purchased stocks
Operating grants received
Determined surplus stock

Clearance of provisions and adjustments

31 December 2017
TCZK
51 147
4 782

20 668
4 747

31 December 2016
TCZK
0

1 835
7 947
1 994

0

14 218

537

1 559

Damages compensation

13 261

Other operating income

5 099

13 690

100 241

41 509

66 367

38 417

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

Received indemnity

Total of other operating income
Winding up activities

Other operating income from further work

Other operating expenses
Insurance

Creation of provisions and adjustments
Mankins and damage to fixed assets
Taxes and fees

Fines and penalties

Contributions and gifts

Depreciation of receivables

Loss on sale of fixed assets
Other operating expenses

33 874

39 580
86 425
9 931
7 445
3 033
3 017

266

3 092

35 402
0
0

7 178
6 301
3 145

5 007

50 028

3 673

6 195

0

1 504

		
Total

158 111

109 753

Total from further work

158 102

109 538

Total from winding up activities

9

215

The creation of provisions and adjustments is primarily influenced by the increase of the long-term provisions, see Chapter 24, Provisions.

Amounts of subsidies received are operating grants for spending on chemical research, particularly in the field of nano-

technologies and synthetic polymers, implemented mainly by Synpo, a.s. These are subsidies from the APPLICATION
program and TRIO of the Ministry of Industry and Trade of the Czech Republic, the EPSILON program and the COMPETITION CENTER of the Czech Technology Agency and some Horizon 2020 European Union framework programs.
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29. PERSONNEL EXPENSES
Personnel expenses

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

284 351

270 476

26 605

25 222

Short-term employee benefits		
Wages and salaries

Bonuses to members of statutory and supervisory bodies
Social security and health insurance expenses
Other social expenses

17 126
1 358

14 245

2 723

		
Employee benefits after termination of employment
Pension plans

82 967

78 251

		
Employee benefits for early termination of employment
Severance pay

Total personnel expenses

916

923

413 323

391 839

1 057

12 736

		
Winding up activities

Personnel expenses from further work

Average number of employees, personnel expenses
Total average number of employees
- of which winding up activities
- of which managers

412 266

2017

882
32
6

379 103

2016

873
33
5

		
Total personnel expenses (TCZK)

- of which winding up activities (TCZK)
- of which managers (TCZK)

The structure of personnel expenses of managers
Wages and salaries

Social security and health insurance expenses
Pension plans
Total

413 323

391 839

10 311

6 888

1 057

31 December 2017
TCZK
7 798

686

1 828

10 311

12 736

31 December 2016
TCZK
5 264

499

1 124
6 888

The item “Managers” comprises the average number of employees in the positions of CEO and directors of various departments.
The Group does not provide any additional monetary or in-kind benefits except for the liability insurance of members of management and supervisory bodies, including former members.
Pension insurance

Since 2000, the Group has contributed to the employees’ supplementary pension plans with the state insurance contribution.
Since January 2014, the monthly individual contribution is 1 TCZK. The total amount of this compensation is 7 769 TCZK in
2017 (2016: 6 921 TCZK).

The Group does not record any incurred or contracted pension liabilities to former members of statutory and supervisory bodies.
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30. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS
Financial income

2017
TCZK

Interest income		
- bank accounts
- other interest

0

2016
TCZK
2

0

1 309

5

56 612

Total finance income

91 844

58 101

Financial expenses

2017

2016

Net foreign exchange gains on foreign currency transactions
Profit from sold of held shares
Other finance income

91 837
2

- other interest

Factoring fees

Exchange losses on foreign currency transactions
Loss from sale of securities
Other finance expenses

Total financial expeneses

168

TCZK

TCZK

61 623

78 822

21 236

18 753

Interest expenses		
- bank loans

0

117 852
0
0

12 579

59 233

23 223
388

8 921

213 290

189 340

200

7 187

213 090

182 153

		
Of which winding up activitiesi
Total financial expeneses from further work

The gain on the sale of financial assets recognized in 2016 is the result of the sale of an equity interest in INFRASPOL, s.r.o. In
2017 Spolchemie Polyesters a.s. was sold.
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors
The overall risk management strategy seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group‘s financial performance.
In its activities, the Group faces the following financial risks:
a) Market risk

a. Currency risk

b. Commodity risk

b) Interest rate risk
c) Credit risk

d) Liquidity risk

e) Operating risk
(a) Market risk
The market risk for the Group is derived primarily from changes in market prices, interest rates, share prices or commodity prices and their impact on the Group’s profits. The total exposure to market risk depends on the structure of profit
and loss and the sensitivity of individual assets and liabilities to any changes in market prices.
a. Currency risk
Currency risk is the type of risk generated by the changing value of one currency against another currency. Because the

Group exports and imports most of its production and material, it is exposed to currency risk, primarily with respect to
the euro. The currency risk is significantly eliminated by natural hedging due to the Group´s sales and purchases of raw
material and energy denominated in the same currency.

The Group does not use hedging instruments offered by banks yet. the Group seeks to use natural hedging of exchange
rate risks as the most effective way to eliminate currency risk. The supply of electrical energy and gas is also invoiced in
euros, which increases the coverage from natural hedging.

The Group applies hedge accounting to record hedging against currency risks in relation to expected future proceeds
denominated in EUR.

The Group used hedge accounting to capture the hedge of expected future earnings denominated in EUR, to hedge the

currency risk. The effective date of hedge accounting application is 1 October 2013. The hedge accounting management
terminated the Group as of the expected date of 30 September 2017. The reinsurance instrument was the selected fore-

ign currency financing received - loans totaling CZK 28 479 TEUR as at 30 September 2017 (2016: 28 479 TEUR), with
the effective portion being 36 795 TEUR at the end of 2013.

In relation to the application of hedge accounting in 2017 and as a result of the hedging cash flows from the amount re-

ported in Other comprehensive income, a loss of 21 049 TCZK (2016 a loss: 13 083 TCZK) was transferred to expenses.
The transfer is reported in Finance costs in the Statement of comprehensive income.
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Sensitivity analysis of financial instruments in foreign currency to changes in foreign exchange rates
The appreciation (depreciation) of the Czech crown by CZK 0.25 against EUR and USD, as described below, would result
in an increase/decrease of the profit/loss as follows:
In TCZK
Appreciation of EUR – impact on income statement

31 December 2017
TCZK
-25 357

Appreciation of EUR – impact on equity

0

Appreciation of USD

73

		

Depreciation of EUR – impact on income statement
Depreciation of EUR – impact on equity

-24 327
2 403
130

25 357

24 327

73

-130

0

Depreciation of USD

31 December 2016
TCZK

-2 403

b. Commodity risk
The Group is exposed to commodity risk arising from changes in the prices of raw materials and energy. The Group ma-

nages the commodity risk in a way that includes contractual agreements with customers to adjust the selling price if a
change in the purchase price of raw materials and energy occurs.
(b) Interest rate risk
The interest rate risk arises from movements in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to changes in interest rates,
particularly in the credit area, depending on the development of the announced interest rates.

The Group reports the following interest-bearing financial instruments as at the date of the financial statements:
Financial instruments with fixed interest rate
Long-term receivables
Non-bank loans

Financial instruments with variable interest rate
Long-term receivables

31 December 2017
TCZK
6 000

3 927 381

31 December 2017
TCZK
301 215

Loans in CZK

0

Non-bank loans

0

Loans in EUR
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0

31 December 2016
TCZK
5 000

1 284 824

31 December 2016
TCZK
301 216

482 908

1 453 097
565 685

Sensitivity analysis of financial instruments with variable interest rates
A change of 100 basis points in the interest rate would increase or decrease profit as follows:

Finanční nástroje s pohyblivou úrokovou sazbou
Sensitivity to cash flow – increase of interest rate

Sensitivity to cash flow – decrease of interest rate

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

3 012

-27 952

-3 012

27 952

Effective interest rate and evaluation analysis
The table shows the effective interest rates of interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities as at the balance
sheet date and the periods in which they are revalued.
31 December 2017
Total interest-bearing receivables

Effective
interest rate
%
3.08

Receivable
liability amount
TCZK
301 215

Future
change in
interest rate
*

Due date

				
Total non-bank loans CZK

Total non-bank loans EURR
Total Financial liabilities

31 December 2016
Total interest-bearing receivables

4.91

1 632 931

*

6.48

2 294 450

*

Effective
interest rate
%

Receivable
liability amount
TCZK

Future
change in
interest rate

2.95

2018-2032

2018-2032

3 927 381		

306 216

*

Due date

				
Total bank loans in CZK

5.85

Total non-bank loans in CZK

5.83

Total bank loans in EUR

Total non-bank loans in EUR
Total financial liabilities

482 908

*

921 118

*

4.71

1 453 097

8.68

929 392

2017

*

2017, 2023

*

2017-2023

2017-2027

3 786 515		

		

* No change is expected in the contractual interest rates. The current interest rate depends only on changes in the rates
announced by central banks according to individual bank loan agreements.

In the event of breach of the specified obligations according to the enclosed amendments to the credit agreements, the
creditors of ISTROKAPITAL a.s. and AB-Credit a.s. raise the interest rate by 2% p.a. possibly prematurely discharging
the obligations.
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Book-keeping and fair values
In TCZK

Trade receivables, other receivables without
tax receivables, advances paid
and deferred expenses
Long-term receivables

Cash and cash equivalents
Non-bank loans

Unpaid interest on non-bank loans
Loans in CZK

Loans in EUR

Carrying
value
2017
TCZK

Fair
value
2017
TCZK

Carrying
value
2016
TCZK

Fair
value
2016
TCZK

874 277

874 277

652 533

652 533

49 713

49 713

34 665

34 665

307 215

307 215

-3 911 982

-3 911 982

0

0

-15 399

-15 399

0

0

Trade and other receivables and advances paid

-1 321 335

-1 321 335

Total

-4 017 511

-4 017 511

306 216

306 216

-1 765 764

-1 765 764

-84 745

-84 745

-482 908

-482 908

-1 453 097

-1 453 097

-1 494 567

-1 494 567

				
-4 287 667

-4 287 667

(c) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk arising from the inability or unwillingness of counterparties to honor their commitments. Counterparty (customer) solvency is the most important criterion that must be reviewed and evaluated periodically.

The Group has, within its internal credit policy, a defined strategy (internal rules and regulations) which ensures that pro-

ducts and services are sold to customers under appropriate terms and conditions. Before offering the customer standard
payment and delivery terms, the credit status of each individual customer is assessed. This evaluation takes into account

external credit ratings and references from specialised firms. Customer credit limits are set corresponding to the score
results. The evaluation and implementation of customer credit limits is carried out by the Finance Department (Credit Manager). The credit policy also includes rules against exceeding the credit limit or the deterioration of payment discipline.

The Group also uses the services of a credit insurance firm, and insures the major part of its receivables. This insurance
also minimizes the negative impact of any expected credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the balance sheet date was as follows:
Carrying value

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

Long-term receivables

307 216

306 216

Other receivables and advances

108 468

125 816

Trade receivables
Cash

591 098
49 713

602 826
34 665

		
Total

1 056 495

1 069 523

The Group does not have any customer having a more than a 10% share in the total balance of trade receivables.
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Analysis of maturity of trade receivables (net)

Due

0 - 90 days overdue

90 - 180 days overdue

180 - 360 days overdue
360 days and over

31 December 2017
TCZK
524 248
65 592

280
336

642

31 December 2016
TCZK
543 918
48 131

5 193
5 452
132

		
Total

Changes in impairment losses related to trade receivables
TCZK

Balance at 1 January

Reported earnings on settlement

591 098

2017
TCZK

-238 819

51 596

602 826

2016		
-293 347
54 528

		
Balance at 31 December

-187 223

-238 819

(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity is the ability to meet due financial obligations at any time. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able

to meet its financial obligations at their maturity dates. Prudent liquidity management requires maintaining sufficient cash

on hand and cash equivalents and the availability of funding through an adequate number of committed credit facilities.  
To control the cost of their own products and services, the Group uses a method of cost allocation by activity, which
allows the monitoring of cash flow requirements and optimizes the return on investment.

To ensure sufficient liquidity to cover operating expenses, the Group uses a standardized system of working capital ma-

nagement, especially the management of receivables and inventory optimisation. Funds tied in inventory are minimized,

however the inventory level does not affect the normal course of business. The Group also uses the services of factoring
companies for portfolios of receivables with longer maturities to minimize tied funds.

consolidated financial statements
The payment of the Group’s liabilities according to their maturity including estimated interest payments is stated below:
As at 31 December 2017

Contractual cash flows

Due or up
to 2 months
TCZK
Non-bank loans

52 905

2-6
months
TCZK

6 – 12
months
TCZK

55 629

1 145 190

Other liabilities

1 022 467

136 278

88 068

Total

1 075 372

191 907

1 233 258

2-6
months
TCZK

1–2
years
TCZK

2–5
years
TCZK

503 219

422 363

14 122

63 854

Over
5 years
TCZK
1 748 075

Total
TCZK
3 927 381

370

1 325 159

1 748 445

5 252 540

							
517 341

486 217

6 – 12
months
TCZK

1–2
years
TCZK

2–5
years
TCZK

Over
5 years
TCZK

Total
TCZK

705 900

478 224

54 804

121 414

483 849

1 850 509

246 480

69 606

As at 31 December 2016
Due or up
to 2 months
TCZK
Non-bank loans
Bank loans

6 318

87 462

Other liabilities

1 030 914

Total

1 124 694

1 107 329

61 714

123 427

127 848

370 282

9 453

185 791

0

1 936 005

1 484 301

							
2 059 709

609 544

306 079

501 149

669 640

5 270 815

(e) Operational risk
Operational risk is generally defined as the possibility of loss due to operational deficiencies and errors. In the narrower definition, operational risk is a risk arising from operating business activities. In a broader sense, operational risk includes all the
risks that are not attributed to credit risk, market risk or liquidity risk.
The Group manages its operational and production risks to avoid financial losses and damage. These risks primarily relate to
gradual depreciation (wear and tear) of the Group’s machinery and equipment, potential shutdowns and insurance.
The effects of everyday use of equipment and machinery continually increase over time. Every year the Group prepares plans
to carry out preventive maintenance and shutdowns to eliminate the risk of unplanned shutdowns.
A significant reduction in operational risk occurred during April 2017, when the operation of old amalgam electrolysis was
terminated and the operation of new membrane electrolysis was successfully launched in the 100% subsidiary SPOLCHEMIE
Electrolysis a.s. The membrane electrolysis technology is also called Best Available Technology (or BAT) - it is a much greener
and more cost-effective technology (mainly the cost of maintenance and operations).
The Group has insurance coverage for most of its important assets (e.g. insurance for property and equipment and liability
insurance) to cover most of the risks and major claims.
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32. INCOME TAX
2017
TCZK

2016
TCZK

Current tax		
Returns of tax for the previous period
Current tax - Current year

Total current tax

0

-4 630

-4 630

2 701

-1 920

782

Deferred tax		
Impact of changes in temporary differences

28 687

12 924

Total income tax

24 057

13 706

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2017
TCZK

2016
TCZK

		

Profit/loss before tax from further work

Profit/loss before tax from winding up activities
Loss before tax

Income tax rate

-133 191

-85 101

-96 516

-65 665

36 675
19%

19 436
19%

		
Income tax calculated

18 338

12 476

-35 976

-47 066

		
Impact of tax non-deductible expenses
Impact of tax-exempt income

41 695

45 594

		
Total calculated income tax

24 057

11 005

24.92 %

16.76 %

0

2 702

24 057

13 707

24.92 %

20.87 %

		
Effective income tax rate

		
Repayments of income tax from previous period
Total calculated income tax
Effective income tax rate
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Deferred tax

Assets

2017
The difference between accounting and
tax depreciation of fixed assets
Inventories

Receivables
Provisions

Unpaid penalties and insurance
Securing cash flow

Liabilities
2016

2016

2017

24 815

10 651

-110 427

-109 443

13 180

30

59

0

0

-29

3 311
5 119

402
0

3 243
3 649
3 055

3 999

0

Changes

0

0

68

0

0

0

1 470

0

-2 653

0

16 652
24 689

0

Tax losses carried forward

32 894

16 242

0

Gross deferred tax receivables/(payable)

66 571

40 898

-110 427

-109 443

Recorded deferred tax liability

25 312

5 423

-69 168

-73 968

-3 999

					

					

The breakdown of the revaluation of the amount before tax and after tax is shown in the following table:
Revaluation of hedging derivatives under cash flow hedge
Revaluation before tax

Tax effect - deferred tax
Revaluation after tax
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31 December 2017
TCZK
0

0
0

31 December 2016
TCZK
21 049
-3 999

17 050

33. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The Group is involved in the following transactions with related parties:
Receivables as at 31 December
2017
2016

Payables as at 31 December
2017
2016

Shareholders				
Via Chem Group, a.s.

0

0

284 504

270 424

				
Other related parties				
STZ Development, a.s.

301 215

301 216

24 498

32 789

Total of related parties

325 713

334 065

266 773

285 648

Total

325 713

334 065

551 277

556 072

MONTE BRAVIA, a.s.
CSS, a.s.

HS facility, s.r.o.

0

0

0

0

0

261 685

276 781

60

0

0

5 088

8 867

				

2017
Other related parties
CSS, a.s.

HS facility, s.r.o.

36 624
0

Purchases

2016

2017

39 271

2 582

980

0

Sales

2016

2 482
83

				
Total

36 624

40 251

2 582

2 565

Comments on transactions and balances with STZ Development, a.s. and Via Chem Group, a.s. are set out in points 10
and 18.
Members of statutory and supervisory bodies, and members of management
In addition to bonuses, the Group also covers the liability insurance of members of statutory and supervisory bodies and
management. In 2017, the Group paid 581 TCZK in liability insurance (2016: 564 TCZK). In 2017 and 2016, members of
the Group´s management did not receive any non-monetary benefits. For more information, see also comments in Section 27. ANALYSIS OF EMPLOYEES.
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34. CONSOLIDATED COMPANIES
Name and share

Headquarters

Note

SYNPO, a.s.  (100 %)

Czech republic

Share acquired in 1994 to 2009

CHS Resins, a.s. (100%)

Czech republic

Share acquired in 2008

EPISPOL, a.s. (90 %)

Czech republic

Bakelite Epoxy GmbH (100%)

Federal Republic of Germany

SPOLCHEMIE N.V. (100%)

Kingdom of the Netherlands

SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, a.s. (100%)

Czech republic

CHS Epi, a.s. (100%)

Czech republic

SPOLCHEMIE Distribution, a.s. (100%)

Czech republic

SPOLCHEMIE, a.s. (100%)

Czech republic

SpolchemieRus OOO (99%)

Russian federation

Founded in 2002
Founded in 2008

Founded in 2011

Share acquired in 2011

Subsidiary company SPOLCHEMIE N.V.

Subsidiary company SPOLCHEMIE N.V.

Subsidiary company SPOLCHEMIE Distribution,
a.s. – share acquired in 2015

Subsidiary company SPOLCHEMIE Distribution,
a.s. – founded in 2015

35. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The indicator of comprehensive earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued for the year.

Net profit (+)/ loss (-) in TCZK
Continuing activities

2017

2016

-72 260

-51 959

36 675

19 436

-108 935

Winding up activities

-71 395

		
Number of ordinary shares issued

Basic earnings/loss per share indicator in CZK

3 878 516

3 878 516

-28.07

-18.06

-18.63

Continuing activities

Winding up activities

-13.04

9.46

5.01

Diluted earnings per share are consistent with the Basic earnings per share.

36. RESEARCH AD DEVELOPMENT
In 2017, the Group spent 28 242 TCZK (2016: 30 233 TCZK) on research and development.

37. AUDIT COSTS AND TAX CONSULTING
				
Accounting audit
Tax consulting
2017
2016
2017
2016
Group total

3 389
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3 085

1 208

1 074

Audit of an integrated
management system
2017
2016
421

299

38. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Group has entered into an agreement to lease railcars for a fixed period till 29 September 2018. According to this
agreement the Group will pay 17 887 TCZK for one year.

As at the reporting date, the Group did not conclude any significant contracts from which future result potential acquisition or repair of fixed assets or investment property.

39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Removal of environmental damage

The Group has a contract with the National Property Fund (since 2006 the Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic, re-

ferred to as the “MF”), in which the MF has undertaken to cover the cost of removing old environmental burdens identified
as at the date of privatisation of up to 2 900 000 TCZK.

If these costs exceed the level of state guarantees, it would be obliged to pay these expenses. As at the date of financial
statements the management has no information about the reality of this situation, so no provision has been created.

So far, a total of 2 779 631 TCZK was spent for these purposes of which 1 021 304 TCZK was spent to complete the lan-

dfill remediation in Chabařovice. Currently, there is a soil remediation of the manufacturing facility of the Company being
carried out (Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu, a.s.).

The estimated expenditure of the Ministry of Finance on the removal of old environmental burdens does not exceed the
adjusted contract between the Group and the Ministry of Finance. Since there is no withdrawal or acceptance of the
Group’s funds during the cleaning process of the area, the estimated costs are not reported as a provision.
Other

EPISPOL, a.s. gave a guarantee to SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis to provide a grant from the Ministry of the Environment to
the New Electrolysis Project, up to 100 000 TCZK.
Other contingent liabilities

In 2017, the Company was informed of the issuance of an Exchange Order in connection with the bill issued by the
Company for the amount of 40 116 TCZK. The bill of exchange in question was a reinsurance (not a payment) promissory

note, while the obligation provided by the present promissory note had already been fulfilled and therefore the Company
considered the claims of the Exchange Order to be irrelevant. The management of the Company is convinced that the

above facts will be demonstrated in the opposition proceedings against the payment order, which will result in the can-

cellation of the payment order. Based on the recomendation from the auditor the Company accounted for a provision in
2017 for the potential risk from the legal dispute about payment of a bill.

Management is not aware of any other significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2017.
40. INVESTMENT INCENTIVES
The group was not the recipient of investment incentives in 2017 or 2016.
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41. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Part of the result of the Company‘s re-financing negotiations was also the change in the creditor‘s liability for some non-bank
loans as follows.
As of 31 March 2018, most of the receivables from loans provided by MONTE BRAVIA, a.s. to the Group (or the companies of the
Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu, a.s., CHS Epi, a.s. and SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis a.s.) as well as the related obligations
are assigned to ISTROKAPITAL, a.s., which completely took over all the rights and obligations of MONTE BRAVIA, a.s. arising
from related credit documentation.
Credit conditions changed as of 1 April 2018. The maturity of the loans was extended until 30 September 2032, with a four-year
postponement of principal repayments. At the same time, the interest rate was reduced to 5.2534% p.a. Assigned receivables (or
liabilities of the Group) were, under a separate agreement, subject to liabilities to AB - CREDIT a.s. and ISTROKAPITAL, a.s. The
subordination of the Group‘s liabilities was abolished on 1 April 2018.
As of 31 March 2018, most of the receivables from loans provided by Pembroke Trading Limited to the Group (or the companies
Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu, a.s., CHS Epi, a.s. and SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis a.s.) as well as the related obligations are
assigned to ISTROKAPITAL, a.s., which completely took over all the rights and obligations of Pembroke Trading Limited arising
from related credit documentation.
Credit conditions changed as of 1 April 2018. The maturity of the loans was extended until 30 September 2032, with a four-year
postponement of principal repayments. At the same time, the interest rate was reduced to 5.2534% p.a. Assigned receivables
(or liabilities of the Group) were, under a separate agreement, subject to liabilities to AB - CREDIT a.s. and ISTROKAPITAL, a.s.
Subordination of the Group‘s liabilities was abrogated on 1 April 2018.
On 11 July 2018, the loan terms and conditions of all loans drawn from ISTROKAPITAL, a.s. were changed as at 31 December
2017. The maturity of the loans was extended until 30 September 2032.
On 11 July 2018, there was also a change in the credit terms of non-bank loans No. 2 transferred to ISTROKAPITAL, a.s. referred
to in Chapter 18. The maturity of the loans was extended until 30 September 2032.
On 29 October 2018 a court hearing was held in the case of the plaintiff Ing. Aleš Klaudy, the insolvency administrator of VIAMONT, a.s. against Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu as the defendant on the issuing of a promissory note payment order
for the payment of the promissory note amount of TCZK 40 116 with appurtenances (see the description in point 24 Provisions),
during which the submitted documentary evidence of both the parties was taken and other proposed evidence of the defendant
was refused for alleged redundancy. In concluding, the court delivered the judgment that the promissory note payment order shall
remain valid, with the defendant obliged to pay the court costs.
The brief justification of the court of the first instance stated that it did not see any connection between the accused promissory
note and the documents submitted by the defendant and also that it was not demonstrated that it was a security promissory
note. The defendant’s other objections are, according to the court, irrelevant.
Seeing that the court of the first instance, according to the preliminary verbal grounds, did not deal with all the defendant’s objections (especially the existence of the cause of the promissory note), did not take all the defendant’s proposed evidence without
an evident reason, insufficiently determined the facts (especially the circumstances of the issuing of the promissory note) and
also with regard to the fact that, according to the Group management, there was apparently an error of law in the case, Spolek
is convinced that it will be necessary for a higher court to review the given decision as part of an appeal. The management of
the Group believes that the senate of the higher court will look at Spolek’s relevant objections, which were properly applied from
the beginning or, due to the evident procedural irregularities, it will return the case to the court of the first instance for additional
evidence and the complete determination of the facts of the case by the court of the first instance.
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Spolek’s (and thus the Group’s) opinion on the possibility of success in the case remains unchanged even after the decision of
the court of the first instance.
At the end of 2018, the Group reached an agreement with the creditor AB - CREDIT to prolong the maturity date of loans in total
amount of CZK 1 169 million. The prolongation was agreed until 31 December 2019. The Group has already prenegotiated further
possible prolongation of the AB – CREDIT loans with maturity of 7 years. Within the scope of restructuralization, a transfer of
subsidiary (EPISPOL, SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, CHS Epi) to the creditor’s group, at a value set by an independent appraiser,
and the subsequent long-term rent of the enterprises of these entities by the Group, is envisaged. The Group would simultaneously obtain the right (option) to formally buy-back the subsidiary companies at a pre-defined price after the repayment of the
loans. This envisaged scheme requires formal approval of both secured creditors which, at the date of issuing these consolidated
financial statements, had not yet been granted.
After the balance sheet date, there were no other events that were not disclosed in the previous sections of the notes to the financial statements and which would have a material impact on the financial statements as at 31 December 2017.

42. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These consolidated financial statements were approved for dislcosure on 21 December 2018.

In Ústí nad Labem, 21 December 2018

Ing. Daniel Tamchyna, MBA
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Ing. Jaromír Florián
Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Non-consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU
for the period from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017
of

SPOLEK PRO CHEMICKOU A HUTNÍ VÝROBU,
AKCIOVÁ SPOLEČNOST
In Ústí nad Labem, 21 December 2018

NON-CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
		
Year ended
Year ended
Note
31 December 2017
31 December 2016
		
TCZK
TCZK
ASSETS			
			
Tangible assets
6
1 244 925
1 277 046
Investment property
7
241 057
274 912
Intangible assets
8
25 030
20 351
Long-term financial investments
9
567 192
319 192
Provided loans and other long-term receivables 12
927 564
897 717
Deferred expenses
20
100 705
0
Deferred tax receivables
28
25 312
0
		
Total non-current assets		
3 131 785
2 789 218
			
Non-current assets as held for sale
10
0
263 133
			
Inventories
11
457 764
366 097
Trade receivables
13
663 391
672 593
Other short-term receivables
13
63 778
51 382
Advances paid		
15 912
11 776
Deferred expenses
20
12 184
0
Cash and deposits		
21 431
15 881
Total current assets		
1 234 460
1 380 862
			
Total assets		
4 366 245
4 170 080

The notes on pages 122 to 170 are an integral part of these non-consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended
Year ended
Note
31 December 2017
31 December 2016
		TCZK
TCZK
EQUITY			
			
Share capital
14
1 939 408
1 939 408
Reserve fund
14
77 500
77 500
Gains/losses from hedging instruments
28
0
-17 050
Accumulated losses		
-1 529 222
-1 398 475
			
Vlastní kapitál total		
487 686
601 383

LIABILITIES			
			
Non-current liabilities			
Other loans
19
1 620 951
225 898
Deferred tax payable
28
0
13 264
Provisions
17
60 921
7 194
			
otal non-current liabilities		
1 681 872
246 356
		
		
Current liabilities		
Trade and other payables
15
1 055 633
1 255 138
Other loans
19
908 381
922 537
Short-term bank loans
18
0
944 893
Advances received
16
225 776
188 591
Provisions
17
6 897
11 182
Total current liabilities		
2 196 687
3 322 341
			
Total liabilities		
3 878 559
3 568 697
			
Total equity and liabilities		
4 366 245
4 170 080

The notes on pages 122 to 170 are an integral part of these non-consolidated financial statements.
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NON-CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
		
Year ended
Note
31 December 2017
		
TCZK
Revenues

21

Change in inventories of finished goods
and work in progress		
Capitalisation of own production		

Year ended
31 December 2016
TCZK

4 441 003

3 927 928

67 028

11 235

5 297

3 213

Consumption of material and energy

22

-3 776 981

-3 075 076

Personnel expenses

24

-251 382

-251 885

Logistics, leases and other services
Depreciation and amortisation

23

-380 260

-345 080

6,7,8

-111 590

-127 054

25

-117 937

-153 555

Operating profit/loss		

-89 274

6 108

Other operating income

Other operating expenses

25

35 548

16 382

			
Financial income
Financial costs

26

25 964

16 565

26

-146 687

-142 395

Loss before income tax		

-209 997

-119 722

42 575

11 444

-167 422

-108 278

10

36 675

19 436

NET LOSS 		

-130 747

-88 842

			
			
Income tax

28

		
LOSS FOR THE FURTHER WORK		
Profit for period of winding-up activities

			

The notes on pages 122 to 170 are an integral part of these non-consolidated financial statements.
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME			

			
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Gains/losses from hedging instruments

28

17 050

Total other comprehensive income		

10 596

17 050

10 596

			
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME		

-113 697

-78 246

			
Earnings per share in CZK

Basic and diluted profit/loss per share

30

               For further work

-33.71

-22.90

-43.16

               For winding up activities

-27.91

9.46

5.01

NON-CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Share
capital

Reserve
fund

Accumulated
losses

1 939 408

77 500

0

0

TCZK

Balance at 1 January 2016
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Balance at 31 December 2016
Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income

Balance at 31 December 2017

0

1 939 408

0

0

1 939 408

TCZK

0

77 500

0

0

77 500

TCZK

Gains/losses
from hedging
instruments

Total

tis.Kč

TCZK

-1 309 633

-27 646

679 629

0

10 596

10 596

-88 842

0

-1 398 475

-17 050

0

17 050

-130 747

-1 529 222

-88 842

601 383

0

-130 747

0

487 686

The notes on pages 122 to 170 are an integral part of these non-consolidated financial statements.
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NON-CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
		

Year ended
Note
31 December 2017
		 TCZK
Cash flows from operating activities			

Year ended
31 December 2016
TCZK

			
Profit/loss for the period		

-130 747

-88 842

Adjustments for non-cash transactions:		

205 021

296 484

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets

6,7,8

111 590

134 754

25

-33 936

59 506

			

Change in adjustments and provisions

Loss/(gain) on sale of non-current assets

Loss/(gain) on sale of financial investments
Interest income and expenses
Income tax

Other non-cash transactions

		

6,11,12,13,17
26
28
28

6,7,8

78 879
0

76 510

-42 575
14 553

5 454
378

98 154

-11 444
9 682

			
Changes in non-cash components
of working capital:		

-447 285

-210 087

Change in receivables and deferrals

12,13

-193 140

-252 947

11

-91 826

-23 999

			
Change in short-term payables and accruals
Change in inventories

15,16

-162 319

Cash flows from operating activities
before interest and taxes		
-373 011

66 859

-2 445

Interest expense

26

-57 687

-89 896

Refund of income tax

28

0

2 702

Interest revenue

26

13 951

1 262

			
Net cash flows from operating activities		

-416 947

-88 377

			

The notes on pages 122 to 170 are an integral part of these non-consolidated financial statements.
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Year ended
Note
31 December 2017
		TCZK

Year ended
31 December 2016
TCZK

Cash flows from investing activities			

			
Acquisition of non-current assets

Acquisition of financial investment

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets

Proceeds from sale of financial investment
Dividends and share of profit received

6,7,8

-318 240

-90 964

13

303 500

64 035

0

0

9

10

6,7,8

0

2 000

-2 000
3 010

			
Net cash from (used in) investing activities		

-12 740

-25 919

			
Cash flows from financing activities			

			
Proceeds from long-term liabilities and loans

18,19

461 280

Leasing interest paid

6,19

1 349

Expenses from long-term liabilities and loans

18,19

-26 626

301 607

-217 789
-1 420

			
Net cash used in financing activities 		

436 003

82 398

Net increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents		

6 316

-31 898

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January		

15 881

47 767

-766

12

21 431

15 881

			
			

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 		

The notes on pages 122 to 170 are an integral part of these non-consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the non-consolidated
financial statements
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu, akciová společnost
(the “Company”) was incorporated on 31 December 1990.
The address of its registered office is Ústí nad Labem,
Revoluční 1930/86, ID 000 11 789. The Company is
recorded in the Commercial Register kept by the Regional
Court in Ústí nad Labem, Section B, Insert 47.
The Company’s principal activity is the research,
development, manufacturing and processing of chemicals
and chemical products.
The Company’s principal shareholder as at 31 December
2017 was Via Chem Group, a.s. holding, with its address
at Rudolfovská tř. 303/113, České Budějovice 4, 370 01
České Budějovice, ID: 266 94 590 (“Via Chem Group”) with
a 33.12% share in the Company’s registered capital and
voting rights. Via Chem Group exercises control over the
Company and is considered to be the controlling entity of
the Company within the meaning of Section 74 (1) of Act
No. 90/2012 Coll., on Business Corporations, as amended.
The company that controlled the controlling enterprise
in 2017 was EURO CAPITAL ALLIANCE LTD., with its
registered office in Tortolla, Road Town, second floor,
ZIP 3321, British Virgin Islands, which had voting rights
according to information available in this period. These
voting rights are with stocks which exceed the share of
100% of the voting rights of the company.
Members of the Board of Directors
as at 31 December 2017: 			
Name
Position
Ing. Daniel Tamchyna, MBA
předseda
Ing. Jaromír Florián
místopředseda
Ing. Jan Šrubař
člen
Ing. Jan Dlouhý, CSc.
člen
Mgr. Jan Křička
člen
Members of the Supervisory Board
as at 31 December 2017:
Name
Position
JUDr. Petr Sisák
předseda
Ing. Pavel Jiroušek
místopředseda
Mgr. Ing. Ivo Hala
člen
Mgr. Petr Kovařík
člen
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Changes in the Board of Directors and the Supervisory
Board in 2017
In December 2017 Ing Jan Šrubař was re-elected as a
member of the Board of Directors after his term of office has
expired. In November 2017, members of the Supervisory
Board, in accordance with the Articles of Association of
the Company, co-opted Mgr. Petr Kovařík as a member of
the Supervisory Board of the Company until the election of
new members of the Supervisory Board of the Company,
in order to compensate Ing. Martin Procházka, who was
in office until March 2016. In December 2017, after his
term of office has expired, members of the Supervisory
Board, in accordance with the Articles of Association
of the Company, co-opted JUDr. Petr Sisak again as a
member of the Supervisory Board of the Company until the
election of new members of the Supervisory Board of the
Company. JUDr. Petr Sisák was re-elected Chairman of the
Supervisory Board afterwards.
Statement of compliance:
The Board of Directors of Spolek pro chemickou a hutní
výrobu, akciová společnost declares that, in its opinion, the
following non-consolidated (individual) financial statements
and comparative information have been prepared in
accordance with applicable accounting principles applied
in the Company (described in note 2) and give a true and
fair view of the financial position and financial results of the
Company including basic risks and exposures.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
a) Statement of compliance
These non-consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS“) adopted by the International
Accounting Standards (International Accounting Standards
Board, IASB) approved for use in the European Union (EU).
The consolidated financial statements of the Company
were prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS“) adopted by the International
Accounting Standards (International Accounting Standards
Board, IASB) approved for use in the European Union
(EU) together with non-consolidated financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements are available in its
registered office.
These non-consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in compliance with the requirements of Czech
Accounting Standards. The Company does not prepare
a non-consolidated annual report, because the relevant
information is included in the consolidated annual report.

b) Basis of preparation of financial statements
The financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for hedging instruments and
derivatives, financial instruments at fair value charged to
profit or loss and financial assets held for sale. There is an
applied valuation at fair value.
These financial statements are presented in Czech crowns
(CZK), which is the Company’s functional currency. All
financial information presented in CZK has been rounded
to the nearest thousand (TCZK), unless stated otherwise.
These non-consolidated financial statements comply with
all the requirements of IFRS approved by the EU and provide
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company
as at 31 December 2017 and the financial performance
and its cash flows for the period from 1 January 2017 to 31
December 2017.
The financial statements, except for the statement of cash
flows, are prepared on the accrual basis of accounting.
c) Use of estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity
with IFRS as adopted by the European Union requires
management to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of accounting
policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
income and expenses as at the reporting date. These
estimates and assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are considered to
be reasonable under the circumstances that form the basis
for estimating the carrying values of assets and liabilities
and that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates mainly relate to the assessment of fair
values of financial instruments and investment properties,
the remaining useful life of the building and equipment,
non-current intangible assets, impairment losses on nonfinancial and financial assets, adjustments to inventories
and the valuation of provisions.
Estimates are reviewed on an ongoing basis and any
change (if no error is detected) is recognized in the period
in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods
affected.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
a) Intangible assets
Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets
without physical substance. Intangible assets are identifiable
when they are separable i.e. they can be separated from
the group of the Company’s assets and sold, transferred,
licensed, rented or exchanged, either individually or
together with a related contract, by an identifiable asset or
liability regardless of whether the Company intends to do so
or it arises from contractual or other legal rights regardless
of whether those rights are transferable or separable from
the Company or from other rights and obligations.
Intangible assets are measured at acquisition cost
less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Internally-generated intangible assets
are measured at direct costs and overheads or replacement
costs, if lower.  
Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives, usually for up to five years.
Amortisation begins when the intangible asset is available
for use, i.e. when it is in the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management, over its estimated useful life.
The appropriateness of amortisation periods and rates is
reviewed on a regular basis (at least at each reporting date),
with any changes in amortisation applied in subsequent
periods.
b) Land, constructions and equipment
Land, constructions and equipment are initially measured
at acquisition cost after the deduction of related grants and
subsequently carried at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any accumulated impairment losses.
The cost of these assets includes all expenditures that are
directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working
condition for their intended use. Self-constructed assets are
measured at internal production costs. Acquisition costs of
these assets include the estimated cost of dismantling and
removing the items and restoring the original condition of
the place where the assets are located, if such an obligation
is associated with the acquisition and construction of these
assets.
The Company capitilizes borrowing costs that are
directly attributable to the construction or production of a
qualifying asset as part of the acquisition cost of the asset.
Borrowing costs are those borrowing costs that would not

non-consolidated financial statements
arise if expenses on a qualifying asset were not incurred.
The Company begins to capitalize borrowing costs as
part of the acquisition cost of the qualifying asset on the
commencement date and terminates the capitalization of
borrowing costs when all essential activities necessary to
prepare a qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are
completed.

date when the construction is completed and ready for
rent.

The depreciation of plant and equipment items begins when
they are available for use, i.e. from the month that they are in
the location and condition necessary for them to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management.

The income from investment property is recognized when
the rental service is rendered, and is classified as revenues
from services.

Depreciation is recognized in order to depreciate the cost of
assets, except for land, to their residual value on a straightline basis over their estimated useful lives:
Buildings
Machinery and equipment
Fixtures and fittings
Vehicles

10-50 years
4-20 years
4-25 years
4-25 years

The appropriateness of amortisation periods, rates and
residual value are reviewed on a regular basis (at least at
each reporting date), with any changes in amortisation
applied in subsequent periods. Land, constructions
and equipment (components) which are significant with
regard to the overall assets are depreciated separately in
accordance with their useful lives.
The cost of significant repairs and regular maintenance
is recognized as a tangible asset and is depreciated in
accordance with their useful lives. The costs of the dayto-day servicing and repairs of the property, plant and
equipment are recognized as incurred in the profit or loss.
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an asset is determined as the difference between the net
selling price of the property and the carrying amount of the
asset. The difference is recognized in the profit or loss and
in other comprehensive income.
c) Investment property
IInvestment property is land or buildings held either to earn
rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, not for
the Company’s own use.
Investment property is measured at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.
The purchase costs of real estate investments include
the purchase price and all directly attributable costs,
i.e. professional fees for legal services, property transfer
taxes and other transaction costs. The cost of the
investment property by the Company is its cost at the
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Investment property is depreciated on a straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life, i.e. 10-50 years, from the date
of acquisition. Every year there is a revision of the estimates
used in the depreciation.

Investment property is derecognized when it is retired or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn
from use and no future economic benefits are expected.
The Company leases part of the manufacturing and office
space to third parties in its registered office in Usti nad
Labem. Items of land, constructions and equipment are
reviewed annually to see whether they fulfill the conditions
of recognition as an investment property. Annual transfers
between classifications of the item of land, constructions
and equipment and investment property are presented
separately under “Transfer of land, constructions and
equipment”. Due to the use of the cost model for the
investment property valuation, i. e.   the same method as
for land, constructions and equipment, there is no valuation
adjustment from the transfers. The conversion only changes
the way the item is presented.
d) Impairment of non-financial assets
At each reporting date, the Company reviews each asset
individually to determine whether there is any indication of
impairment, i.e. the carrying amount of the asset exceeding
its recoverable amount. Whether there is any impairment
of tangible fixed assets and other assets is reviewed at the
level of the identified cash-generating units, i.e. depending
on production segments. An impairment loss is recognized
to the extent that the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an
asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
selling costs.  
e) Leases
Leases under which all the substantial risks and rewards
of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases
are recognized as costs in the profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease.
If an operating lease is terminated early, all penalty payments
required by the lessor for early termination are charged to
expenses for the period in which the operating lease was
terminated.

Leases of tangible assets in terms of which the Company
assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as financial leases. Upon initial recognition the
leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower
of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease
payments. Each lease payment is apportioned between
liabilities and financial expenses. The interest element of
the finance expense is charged to loss over the lease term
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Lease obligations after the
deduction of financing costs are included in other short-term
and long-term payables (depending on maturity). Tangible
assets acquired under finance leases are depreciated over
the shorter of their useful lives and the term of the lease.
The sale and leaseback operation includes the sale of the
asset and the reverse lease of the same asset. Leaseback
is considered a finance lease in cases where the lessor
provides the Company with the leased asset as a guarantee.
Therefore, the surplus between the proceeds from the sale
and the reported carrying amount is not considered a profit
at the time the asset is disposed but is recognized and
deferred to profit over the lease term.
f) Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if the
management of the Company has firmly accepted the
plan to sell the asset, an active buyer search program
and plan completion are commenced and the sale is
considered highly probable within one year from the date
of classification.
Non-current assets held for sale are valued at the lower
of their   book value at the date of classification and fair
value less costs to sell. Non-current assets held for sale
(whether individually or as part of a disposal group) are not
depreciated.
g) Winding up activities
Winding up activities represent part of the Company that is
either for sale or sold/disposed in the current period, and
at the same time (i) represents the Company’s individual
significant business activity or a significant area of the
Company’s geographical scope; and (ii) is part of the
coordinated plan (intention) to dispose of such a part of the
Company.
h) Investments in subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Company. Control
means that the Company has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

Investments in subsidiaries and associates are measured at
cost less any impairment losses in these non-consolidated
financial statements.
i) Other securities and investments
The Company classifies securities and investments other
than ownership interests into the following categories:
trading securities, available-for-sale securities and securities
held to maturity. These securities, except for securities held
to maturity, are measured at either the current market value
or the current value of the share of the entities’ assets.
Securities held to maturity are measured at amortised cost.
Financial assets are recognized in the Company’s accounts
as at the settlement date.
j) Inventories
Inventories are assets held for sale in the ordinary business,
in the process of production for sale or as material including
raw materials for consumption or supplies that are
consumed in the production process or in the provisioning
of services.
The cost of materials and goods for resale includes
expenditures associated with acquiring the inventories and
bringing them to their present location and condition, e.g.
freight costs, customs duties and insurance costs. Finished
products, semi-finished goods and work in progress are
initially measured at the cost of production. The costs of
finished products and semi-finished goods include raw
materials, direct wages, other direct costs and related
production overheads. The cost is determined using the
first-in first-out method.
Inventories are valued at the end of the financial year in
production costs or net realizable value, if lower. The net
realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business, less the costs of completion and selling
expenses.
k) Receivables
Trade receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or pre-determined payments that are not quoted in
an active market. Receivables are initially recognized in fair
value, which is usually equal to the nominal value in the
case of short-term receivables and subsequently carried at
the initial measurement value, net of impairment loss.
Loans and long-term receivables are financial assets that
are measured at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs.
Fair value corresponds to the present value of future cash
flows using the internal interest rate at the time of the
borrowing taking into account the credit risk of the borrower.
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For the period of time until maturity, long-term receivables
(loans) are measured and carried at amortized cost using
the effective interest method.
Loans granted are classified as short-term receivables if
they are due within 12 months of the balance sheet date.
As at the date of the financial statements the Company
reviews events or changes which suggest or could cause
the accounting value to exceed the value of the cash flows
from the asset in the future (individually for each asset).
The impairment loss of financial assets which is measured
at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between
its accounting amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate. This amount of the impairment loss is the difference
between the carrying amount and the recoverable amount.
This impairment is reflected in the current year net result.
An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
loss was recognized. The reversal of impairment losses is
recognized in the profit or loss as an increase of the net
result of the current year.
l) Cash and cash equivalents / statement of cash flows
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank deposits
and money market instruments with original maturities of
less than three months.
The cash flow statement is processed using the indirect
method in cash flow from operating activities.
Received dividends are reported in cash flows from
investing activities. Paid dividends are reported in cash
flows from financing activities. Interest income from finance
leases, provided loans, short-term securities and the cash
pool system are reported in cash flows from financing
activities. Interest paid on bank loans, cash pools, issued
debt securities and interest paid on leases are reported in
cash flows from operating activities. Interest revenues are
part of cash flows from operating activities.
m) Foreign currency translation
Transactions in foreign currencies are converted to Czech
crown, which is the Company’s functional currency, at
exchange rates as at the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period:
- finances denominated in foreign currencies held by
the Company as well as receivables and liabilities due
in foreign currencies are converted at the closing rate i.e.
the spot rate at the year-end;
- non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
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historical costs in a foreign currency are converted at the
dates of the transactions; and
- non-monetary items that are measured at fair value are
converted at the rates prevailing on the date when their
fair value was determined.
Gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from transactions involving monetary
assets and liabilities executed in foreign currencies are
recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. This
does not apply to cash flow hedging instances in which
the effective portion of FX differences arising from hedging
instruments is reported in “Other comprehensive income”.
n) Loans and non-current liabilities
Received loans and non-current liabilities are financial
instruments that are measured at fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs. For the period of time until maturity,
received loans and non-current liabilities are measured
and carried at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.
Received loans and liabilities are classified as current
liabilities if they are due within 12 months from the balance
sheet date.
o) Income tax
The income tax expense comprises current and deferred
tax. Current and deferred tax is recognized in the profit or
loss statement, except amounts related to items charged to
other comprehensive income (eg. cash flow hedges).
The current tax is the expected liability or receivable from
the taxable base calculated using tax rates enacted as at the
balance sheet date. The tax base is derived from the profit
adjustments on non-deductible income and expenses.If
the amount of the income tax that was paid by advances
during the period exceeds the amount due, the difference is
recognized as a receivable.
Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method of the
balance sheet, i.e. on all temporary differences between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts.The deferred tax is calculated using the tax rates
and legal provisions that are expected to be enacted or
substantively enacted when the asset is realized or liability
settled.  
A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which the deductible temporary difference can be utilized.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized and
presented as long-term assets or long-term liabilities.

p) Revenue
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, net of all discounts and value added
tax (VAT).

be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
At the same time, there must be a reasonable estimate of
the amount that can achieve the commitment.

Revenues from own products and services are recognized
when it is probable that the economic benefits of a sale will
be transferred to the Company and can be measured when
the significant risks of ownership have been transferred
to the customer, and the income and costs arising in
connection with the transaction can be estimated reliably.

If the Company expects a reimbursement of some or all
of the costs of creation of provisions by another party,
the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset, but
only when it is virtually certain that the company will fulfil
its commitment. The reimbursement amount shall not
exceed the amount of the provision. In the statement of
comprehensive income, the expense relating to the provision
is recognized together with revenue from reimbursements.

Rental income from investment property is recognized in
the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease.
Revenues for services are recognized according to the
degree of completion of the services, which, due to the
nature of the services, mostly corresponds to a one-off
recognition of revenue at the time the service is rendered.
Part of the service revenue is also the cost of reprocessing
material supplied by the customer using the production
technology and employees of the Company.
q) Other operating income and expenses
Other operating income and expenses particularly include
the net result from the liquidation and sale of non-financial
assets, surplus of assets, court fees resp. their return, received
or paid contractual penalties and fines, property acquired/
granted free of charge, the creation/cancellation of provisions
(excluding those recorded as financial expenses), the cost
of recovery and loss on sales of investment properties and
amortisation of construction in progress which have not
produced the desired economic effect.
r) Financial income and financial expenses
Financial income includes income from the sale of shares
and other securities, dividends received, interest earned from
cash in bank accounts, term deposits and loans, increasing
the value of financial assets and net foreign exchange gains.
Dividend income from investments is recognized when the
shareholders are entitled to receive payment.
Financial costs include losses from sales of securities and
investments and costs associated with this sale, impairment
losses relating to financial assets such as stocks, bonds
and interest receivables, net foreign exchange losses,
interest on own bonds and other securities issued, interest
on finance leases, fees for bank loans, loans, guarantees.
s) Provisions
A provision is recognized when, as a result of a past event,
the Company has a legal or contractual obligation that can

Where the effect of the time value of money is material,
provisions are recognized at the present value of the
estimated costs of meeting the respective obligation if they
are recorded in the same accounting period.
t) Employee benefits
The Company recognizes and observes the following
categories of employee benefits:
Short-term employee benefits
The short-term employee benefits include monthly wages
and salaries, health and social insurance (adjusted for the
amount of pension contributions) paid by the company for
employees, annual incentive bonus, contributions towards
in-house catering, preferential phone and internet packages
and recreational packages for employees. A provision is
established for incentive bonuses based on the probability
of their payment. Most short-term employee benefits are
governed by a collective agreement.
Employee benefits after termination of employment (defined
contribution pension plans)
The Company pays to the state pension plan each
month for employee pension contributions. The Czech
government is responsible for providing pensions. The
Company pays monthly contributions for its employees in
the plans of pension funds. In both cases, the scheme is a
defined contribution pension plan and these contributions
are charged to the profit and loss in the period when the
employee is entitled to these benefits.
Other long-term employee benefits
A provision is established for retirement benefits. The
provision is calculated annually using reasonable statistical
estimates.
Employee benefits - early termination of employment
These benefits are governed by a collective agreement.
Statutory severance pay is due to employees who terminate
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their employment for organizational reasons during the
year. Severance pay increases to three times average
earnings, depending on the length of employment. The cost
associated with the provision of such employee benefits is
recognized in profit or loss at the time of the decision to
terminate the employment prematurely.
u) Grants
Government grants are support from the state, state
agencies and similar local, national or international
institutions in the form of the transfers of funds in favor of
the company in exchange for the past or future compliance
of certain conditions relating to the operating activities of
the entity.
Grants related to expenses are recognized as compensation
of the expenses in the period in which they are incurred. A
surplus of the received grants over the expenses recognized
in the same period is presented in “Other operating income”.
A grant related to the acquisition of an asset is recognized
by subtracting the amount of the grant from the cost of the
asset and ultimately leads to lower depreciation related
assets.
v) Research and development
Expenditures on research and development are recognized
in the profit or loss, except for expenditures on development
projects accounted for as intangible assets where future
measurable benefits are expected and the related costs
are measurable. Development expenditures previously
recognized in profit or loss shall not be considered noncurrent assets in any subsequent period.
Development expenditures that are recognized as intangible
assets are amortised from the start of production of the
product to which they relate on a straight-line basis over
the estimated useful life of the intangible asset, which shall
not exceed five years.
w) Hedge accounting
Within the overall currency risk management strategy, the
Company is required to manage its exposure to changes
in cash flows from business activities resulting from the
fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. In accordance with
these requirements, the Company enters into hedging
transactions (foreign currency financing) aimed at reducing
the risk of changes in the amount of future cash flows from
foreign currency collection (converted to Czech crowns).
The Company applies hedge accounting based on a
decision to define a hedge relationship and upon the
fulfilment of hedge accounting criteria. Hedge relationships
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are properly documented from the date they are established
and their effectiveness is assessed regularly.
For cash flow hedging, the effective portion of gains or
losses from hedging instruments is reported in “Other
comprehensive income”. The ineffective portion of these
gains or losses is recognized in profit or loss.
The balance reported in “Other comprehensive income”
is charged to expenses or revenues at the moment the
hedged cash flows affect the result of operations.
If a hedge relationship no longer meets the criteria for the
application of hedge accounting, i.e. the hedging instrument
is terminated, sold, utilized or its validity has expired or the
Company has decided to terminate the hedge relationship,
hedge accounting is terminated. The balance reported in
“Other comprehensive income” is charged to expenses or
revenues at the moment the hedged cash flows affect the
result of operations.
If it is expected that a hedged future transaction will not
take place, hedge accounting is terminated and the balance
reported in other comprehensive income is immediately
charged to expenses or revenues.
The Company determines the proportionate parts of the
principals relating to received loans denominated in EUR as
hedging instruments.
The hedged items were always the adequate parts of
expected collections from the sale of services and products
to customers denominated in EUR and applicable to the
individual periods (quarters) of the financial plan according
to planned revenues.
In 2017, the remaining part of the hedging instrument
was applied and the hedge accounting application was
terminated. In 2017, the Company did not set up a new
hedging instrument to apply hedge accounting.

x) Subsequent events
The impact of events that occur between the reporting date
and the date of the signing and approval of the financial
statements is recognized in the financial statements if the
events provide further evidence of conditions that existed
at the reporting date.
If any significant events indicative of conditions that arose
after the reporting date occur between the reporting date
and the date of the signing and approval the financial

statements, the effects of such events are disclosed in the
notes but are not recognized in the financial statements.
y) Changes in accounting policies, estimates and errors
of previous periods
The entity only changes a used accounting policy if:
- the change is required by IFRS, or
- it results in the financial statements providing reliable
and more relevant information about the effects of
transactions and
- events affect the financial position, financial
performance or cash flow.
In the event of a change in the accounting policy, unless
otherwise specified by IFRS, it is expected that the procedure
has always been used. The entity has to amend comparative
information in the financial statement of the reporting period
and the start of the comparative period is adjusted with
an impact on the opening balances of equity. This will not
happen if it is impracticable to determine the effects for the
current period or the cumulative impact of the changes.
The items accounted in the financial statements based on
the estimates are regularly revised if the circumstances on
which they are constituted change, the company obtains
new information or extends its experience. In this case there
are corrections of accounting estimates with a prospective
impact on the financial statements.
The correction of a significant mistake from previous periods
is performed similarly to a change in accounting policy, i.e.
retrospectively with the correction of the reported period
and with a correction of the opening balance of the same
period with an impact on equity. During the preparation of
the financial statements it is expected that all mistakes were
recorded in the period in which they occurred.

4. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED IFRS STANDARDS
AND INTERPRETATIONS
Newly released and revised IFRS standards and IFRIC
interpretations adopted by the Company
The Company has considered the following IFRS amendments in the preparation of these financial statements, effective from 1 January 2017 and which, with the exception of the
first amendment with impact on disclosure, did not affect the
results and disclosures in these financial statements compared with the previous financial statements for the year 2016:
• Amendments to IAS 7, ‘Statement of Cash Flows’ named
‘Disclosure Initiative’ that require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to eval-

uate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities,
including both cash and non-cash changes. The Group’s
liabilities arising from financing activities consist of borrowings including finance lease obligations and certain other
financial liabilities. A reconciliation between the opening
and closing balances of these items is newly provided in
the notes. Consistent with the transition provisions of the
amendments, the Group has not disclosed comparative information for the prior period. Apart from the additional disclosure, the application of these amendments has had no
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.
• Amendments to IAS 12, ‘Income Taxes’ named ‘Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses’ that
clarify how an entity should evaluate whether there will be
sufficient future taxable profits against which it can utilise a
deductible temporary difference. The application of these
amendments has had no impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements as the Group already assesses the
sufficiency of future taxable profits in a way that is consistent with these amendments.
• Amendments to IFRS 12, ‘Disclosure of Interest in Other
Entities’ resulted from Annual Improvements to IFRSs 20142016 Cycle, state that an entity need not provide summarised financial information for interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures that are classified (or included in a
disposal group that is classified) as held for sale. This is the
only concession from the disclosure requirements of IFRS
12 for such interests. The Company has no assets held for
sale.
Newly released and revised IFRS standards and IFRIC
interpretations, which have been issued but are not yet
effective and have not been used by the Company
By the date of approval of these financial statements, the
following new and revised IFRSs were issued but were not
effective at the beginning of the current period and were not
used by the Company in the preparation of these financial
statements:
Amendments to IFRSs effective since 1 January 2018
• IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’, issued in June 2014 sets
out requirements for recognising and measuring financial
assets, financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or
sell non-financial items. This standard replaces IAS 39, ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’.
Classification – Financial assets
IFRS 9 contains a new classification and measurement
approach for financial assets that reflects the business
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model in which assets are managed and their cash flow
characteristics. IFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories for financial assets: measured at amortised
cost, at fair value through other comprehensive income
and at fair value through profit or loss. The standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categories of held to maturity,
loans and receivables and available for sale.
Based on its assessment, the Company does not believe
that the new classification requirements will have a material impact on its accounting for trade receivables and
loans that are presented as at 1 January 2018. The Company does not present any investments in both debt and
equity securities that are managed on a fair value basis.
All financial assets presented as at 31 December 2017 are
classified in the category “loans and receivables” under
IAS 39 and measured at amortised cost and these assets
will be classified in the category “measured at amortised
cost” under IFRS 9.
Impairment – Financial assets
IFRS 9 replaces the “incurred loss” model in IAS 39 with a
forward-looking “expected credit loss” (ECL) model. This
will require considerable judgement about how changes in
economic factors affect ECLs which will be determined on
a probability-weighted basis. The new impairment model
will apply to financial assets measured at amortised cost
or at fair value through other comprehensive income, except for investments in equity instruments, and to contract
assets. Under IFRS 9, loss allowances will be measured
on either of the following bases: (i) 12-month ECLs: these
are ECLs that result from possible default events within
the 12 months after the reporting date; and (ii) lifetime
ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all possible default
events over the expected life of a financial instrument. The
lifetime ECL measurement applies if the credit risk of a
financial asset at the reporting date has increased significantly since initial recognition and the 12-month ECL
measurement applies if it has not. An entity may determine that a financial asset’s credit risk has not increased
significantly if the asset has low credit risk at the reporting
date. However, the lifetime ECL measurement always applies for trade receivables and contract assets.
Regarding the Company’s financial statements, all financial assets are measured at cost and are represented by
trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents. Therefore, the Group will apply the lifetime ECL measurement to
trade receivables and the 12-month ECL measurement to
cash and cash equivalents to determine impairment losses. The Company believes that impairment losses are likely not to increase in the scope of the IFRS 9 impairment
model. Moreover, based on actual credit risk loss experi-
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ence over the past three years regarding trade and other
receivables, the value of receivables written-off was low.
The Company’s business partners are, in particular, major
international companies, and all claims in the past have always been paid, albeit sometimes with a slight time delay.
The impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 as of 1 January 2018
should therefore be minimal, insignificant and should not
substantially impact the results and financial position of
the Company presented in future financial statements
compared to the presentations provided so far.
Most of the cash of the Company is held at banks - Česká
spořitelna a.s.; Poštová banka, a.s.; Raiffeisenbank a.s. a
Expobank CZ a.s. The Company assessed the possible
depreciation of cash deposited with banks as a low rate.
Classification – Financial liabilities
IFRS 9 largely retains the existing requirements in IAS 39
for the classification of financial liabilities. However, under
IAS 39 all fair value changes of liabilities designated at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss,
whereas under IFRS 9 these fair value changes are generally allocated between other comprehensive income (if the
change of fair value is due to changes in the credit risk of
the debtor) and profit or loss (for the remaining changes).
The Company has not designated any financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss except for derivative instruments, to which the change in the rules does not apply, and therefore the use of IFRS 9 as of 1 January 2018
will not result in any changes in the reporting.
Hedge accounting
Upon the initial application of IFRS 9, a decision may be
taken either to continue with the amendments in IAS 39
or to adopt the new adjustments included in IFRS 9. The
Company has decided to apply the IFRS 9 rules.
IFRS 9 requires an entity to reconcile its hedge accounting with its internal risk management objectives and to
use a more qualitative and forward-looking approach to
assess hedge effectiveness. IFRS 9 also introduces new
requirements for the reassessment of hedging relationships and prohibits the voluntary interruption of hedge
accounting. According to the new model, more risk
management strategies, which include, in particular, the
hedging of non-financial risk, may be classified as hedge
accounting. However, this does not currently apply to the
Company.
The Company has used hedge accounting. In 2017, the
remaining part of the hedging instrument was applied
and the hedge accounting application was terminated. In

2017, the Company did not set up a new hedging instrument to apply hedge accounting.
Transition to IFRS 9
Changes in accounting policies resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 will generally be applied retrospectively.
However, the Company will take advantage of the exemption allowing it not to restate comparative information for
prior periods with respect to classification and measurement (including impairment) changes. Differences in the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
resulting from the adoption of IFRS 9 will generally be recognised in retained earnings as at 1 January 2018. Furthermore, the determination of the business model within
which a financial asset is held is made on the basis of the
facts and circumstances that exist at the date of initial application of IFRS 9, i.e. as at 1 January 2018.
• IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’, issued in May 2014 (effective for annual reports beginning
on or after 1 January 2018) establishes a comprehensive
framework for determining whether, how much and when
revenue is recognised. It replaces existing revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18, ‘Revenue‘, IAS 11,
‘Construction Contracts‘ and IFRIC 13, ‘Customer Loyalty
Programmes‘.   
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods
or services to a customer in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. Specially, the
Standard introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition: (i) Identify the contract(s) with a customer; (ii) Identify the performance obligations in the contract; (iii) Determine the transaction price; (iv) Allocate the transaction
price to the performance obligations in the contract; (v)
Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation. Under IFRS 15, an entity recognises
revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied,
i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in
IFRS 15 to deal with specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by IFRS 15.
The Company’s core business is the production and processing of chemicals and chemical products. Revenue is
recognized at the time the product is transferred to the customer. The product cycle is technologically short-term. Within the manufacturing process, chemical substances are produced that are either separately marketed or are further used
as a manufacturing raw material for a higher level product.

The Company also realizes the revenues from the sale of
goods in connection with the core business activity and
the revenue is recognized at the moment of transferring
the control of the goods to the customer. The Company
does not carry out complex multiple deliveries, it does not
concern the long-term financing of the activity by the customer.
Revenues also include revenue from services of reprocessing of the material supplied by the customer using the
production technology and employees of the Company.
Such reprocessing is of a technologically short-term nature, and the payment for the service provided is realized
at the moment of its provision (completion). Therefore, the
nature of the services provided does not require the use of
the percentage completion method or for longer periods
of time deferred revenue method. Services are provided
continuously on the basis of a customer’s order (demand)
and are also continuously captured in the profit or loss.
Therefore, the adoption of IFRS 15 will have a minimal impact on the Company’s income statement. The Company
will continue with the accounting policies used so far and
will only assess whether the financial statements for the
year 2018 should be accordingly adjusted.
Other revenues arise from real estate rent that is outside
the scope of IFRS 15 and falls within the scope of IAS 17
and of IFRS 16 from 2019 and therefore will not be affected by the adoption of IFRS 15.
• Amendments ‘Classification and Measurement of Sharebased Payment Transactions’ on IFRS 2, ‘Share-based
Payments’ (effective for annual reports beginning on or after 1 January 2018) was issued in June 2016. The Company does not report any transactions in the scope of IFRS
2, therefore the amendment will have no impact on the
Company’s financial statements.
• In December 2016, IFRIC 22 ‘Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration’ (effective for annual
reports beginning on or after 1 January 2018) was issued
and it relates to IAS 21, ‘The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates’. It clarifies when and when not to
calculate transaction differences from the advance payments when transaction denominated in foreign currency is realized (acquisition of fixed assets and inventories
or their sale). When advance payment is classified as a
non-monetary item as defined in IAS 21, no exchange
differences are recognized. The Company records foreign currency and therefore perceives the amendment
as it affects its operations, but no significant impact is
expected in the Company’s financial statements in following years.
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• The amendment ‘Transfers of Investment Property‘ to
IAS 40, ‘Investment Property’ (effective for annual reports
beginning on or after 1 January 2018) was issued in December 2016 and it clarifies conditions that shall be met
for the transfer of property between the categories of investment property and property, plant and equipment.
The transfer is recognised only when a way of use has
been changed. Management of the Company perceives
the amendment as it affects its operations, but no significant impact on the Company’s financial statements is expected in following years.
• Amendments to IFRS 1, ‘First-time Adoption of IFRS’
and IAS 28, ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’ resulting from Annual Improvements to IFRSs 20142016 Cycle (effective for annual reports beginning on or
after 1 January 2018) were issued in December 2016. The
amendments to IAS 28 clarify that the option for a venture
capital organisation and other similar entities to measure
investments in associates and joint ventures at fair value
through profit or loss is available separately for each associate or joint venture, and that election should be made
at initial recognition of the associate or joint venture. Since
the Company is not a venture capital organisation or any
other similar entity, the amendments to IAS 28 do not have
any effect on the Company’s financial statements. Amendments to IFRS 1 delete short-term exceptions included in
IFRS 1 but not needed any more. These amendments
have no effect on the Company’s financial statements.
Amendments to IFRSs effective since 1 January 2019
and later
• In January 2016, IFRS 16, ’Leases’ (effective for annual
reports beginning on or after 1 January 2019) was issued
and introduces a comprehensive model for the identification of lease arrangements and accounting treatments
for both lessors and leases. It brings especially significant
change in accounting policies for lease contracts for lessees.  IFRS 16 will supersede the current lease guidance
including IAS 17, ’Leases’ and the related interpretation
when it becomes effective. IFRS 16 distinguishes leases
and service contracts on the basis of whether an identified
asset is controlled by a customer (lessee). Distinctions of
operating leases (off balance sheet) and finance leases (on
balance sheet) are removed for lessee accounting, and are
replaced by a model where a right-of-use asset and corresponding liability have to be recognised for all leases by
lessees (all on balance sheet) except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value underlying assets. The right-ofuse asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any remeasurement of the
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lease liability. The lease liability is initially measured at the
present value of the lease payments that are not paid at
that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. It would lead to an increase
of the value of non-current assets and liabilities and would
have a positive effect on operating income because interest
expenses are presented under the line “Profit from operations” in the statement of comprehensive income. Furthermore, the classification of cash flows will also be affected
as operating lease payments under IAS 17 are presented
as operating cash flows, whereas under the IFRS 16 model, the lease payments will be split into a principal and an
interest portion which will be presented as financing and
operating cash flows respectively. As a consequence of the
new model, IFRS 16 requires extensive disclosures.
Operating leases currently used are of a short-term nature
and are not irrevocable for a long time. The specific impacts of the adoption of IFRS 16 by the Group’s management will be analyzed during 2018.
• In May 2017, IFRS 17 ‘Insurance Contracts’ (effective for
annual reports beginning on or after 1 January 2021) was
issued and it will supersede the currently effective IFRS
4. The standard provides complex accounting policies
(recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure)
regarding insurance contracts. Since the business of the
Company is different than an insurance company and it
does not present any insurance contracts, the standard
will not affect the financial statements.  
• In June 2017, IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments‘ (effective for annual reports beginning on or
after 1 January 2019) was issued and it relates to IAS 12,
‘Income Taxes‘. The interpretation provides accounting
policy on how to reflect uncertainty over income tax treatment used by an entity in the financial statements – uncertainty whether the tax authority will accept the tax treatment used by the entity. The Company’s management will
evaluate the impact of the new interpretation on the financial position and performance and will consider whether
there is a situation that would result in adjustments in the
information presented as a result of the adoption of the
new interpretation. At present, after the initial analysis of
the new rules, no major changes are expected.

5. CRITICAL JUDGMENTS FOR THE APPLICATION OF
ACCOUNTING RULES AND KEY RESOURCES OF UNCERTAINTY IN ESTIMATES
Critical judgments when applying accounting policies

In applying the accounting policies set out in the previous
section, management is required to make judgments, assess the content of economic transactions and events, and
decide to apply accounting policies in such a way that the
financial statements provide users with useful information
for their decision-making.
In the year 2017, no specific considerations or decisions
regarding the use of appropriate IFRS accounting policies
were made in connection with the preparation of these unconsolidated financial statements.
Key sources of uncertainty in estimates
The Company makes some estimates and assumptions
about the future. Estimates are continuously reassessed
based on historical developments and experience. In the
future, the reality may differ from the currently made and
recognized estimates and judgments. Estimates and assumptions that are associated with a significant risk that the
Company will be forced to accrue significant changes in the
carrying amounts of the presented assets and liabilities in
the next financial year are as follows:
a) Depreciation period of buildings and equipment and
intangible assets
Non-current assets in the land, buildings and equipment
category and intangible assets are measured over their
useful life using the cost model, i.e. the acquisition cost less
depreciation and any impairment. The Company makes relevant estimates of the useful life of the assets used and the
depreciation is calculated on an equal basis over its useful
life. In the following years, a reassessment of the useful life
may occur, which may result in adjustments in the calculation of future depreciation, as well as the premature disposal of the asset, resulting in a loss in the amount of the
unrecognized carrying amount of the asset. The Company
annually performs a revision of the accounting estimates
associated with the depreciation of assets.
b) Provisions to bad debts
Before the customer is offered standard payment and delivery terms, the customer goes through an individual credit rating. This rating takes into account external ratings and other
referrals from specialized companies. Trade receivables are
continually evaluated for any impairment and, if there is objective evidence that casts doubt on the smooth conduct of
expected future cash flows, an impairment loss is recognized
and the impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss.
c) Income taxes
The Company and the most of its subsidiaries are subject
to the same tax legislation, and according to the applicable
regulations, they calculate the tax impact. The Company

does not recognize the tax liability as at 31 December 2017,
nor the tax payable in profit or loss because it has a tax
profit to which it uses the tax loss transferred from the past.
The balance of accumulated tax losses can be used in the
coming years as a reduction in taxable profits, and since
the Company demonstrated the ability to use the loss in the
past, the deferred tax asset is recognized and recorded in
the financial statements that offset and partially reduce the
total deferred tax liability resulting from a comparison of the
accounting and tax values of the balance sheet items.
However, if future business developments do not meet expected plans and the Company will suffer tax losses in the future,
there may be a situation where a deferred tax asset cannot be
accounted for and will have to be derecognised, which may
have a negative impact on profit or loss in the future.
Deferred tax is measured using tax rates that arise from the
applicable tax legislation, which may be amended in the future without the Company’s influence and may result in a
change in the amount of deferred tax. The actual tax impact
in the future may be different from current estimates caused
either by a change in the tax law or by a change in the Company’s business conduct.
d) Litigation and other legal disputes
The Company, in the context of its business activities, is
part of court and other legal disputes for which it evaluates
their capture and/or disclosure in the financial statements.
In most cases, it acts as a plaintiff, and in the successful
conclusion of the dispute, the Company may incur cash
payments. In these cases, the Company only charges the
dispute when the dispute is terminated.
If the Company is in the position of a defendant, it captures
a provision if there is a present obligation arising from a past
event, its settlement is probable and the amount of settlement is reliably measurable. If these conditions are not met,
the Company considers disclosure of a contingent liability
in the notes to the financial statements if its potential impact on the Company would be material. Liabilities that result from published contingent liabilities or even those not
recognized and disclosed in the financial statements may
have a material impact on the Company’s financial position,
therefore the Company continuously evaluates on-going
and unresolved court and other legal disputes. The Company´s management cooperates with legal counsel and results
in a decision to capture a provision or to disclose a contingent liability or conditional asset, if the Company is a party
to the claimant’s claim.
Information on litigation is disclosed in the commentary on
contingent liabilities in Part 17.
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6. LAND,CONSTRUCTION AND EQUIPMENT

Acquisition cost

Balance at 1 January 2017
Additions

Disposals

Transfers from investments to property
At 31 December 2017

Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2017
Depreciation
Disposals

Transfers from investments to property
At 31 December 2017

Adjustments

Balance at 1 January 2017
Additions to adjustment
At 31 December 2017
Carrying amount

Balance at 1 January 2017
At 31 December 2017

Property,
plant and
structures

1 939 738
10 153

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles
2 668 118

45 318

-842

-39 206

1 997 736

2 674 230

Property,
plant and
structures

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles

48 687

-996 312
-33 378
837

-24 005

-1 052 858

Property,
plant and
structures
-40 812
0

0

-2 372 793
-67 133
37 822

0

-2 401 104

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles
-15 248

-5 790

Other
196

Under
construction
and advances

Total

192 039

4 800 091

0

-6 074

-46 122

196

192 179

4 864 341

Other

Under
construction
and advances

0
0

0

0
0
0

0

Other
0

0

6 214
0

61 685
48 687

Total

0

-3 369 105

0

39 659

0
0

0

Under
construction
and advances

-100 511
-24 005

-3 453 962

Total

-97 879

-153 939

-5 725

-11 515

-40 812

-21 038

0

-103 604

-165 454

902 613

280 077

196

94 160

1 277 046

904 066
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252 088

196

88 575

1 244 925

Comparable period balances:
Acquisition cost

Balance at 1 January 2016
Additions

Property,
plant and
structures

2 245 780
10 755

Disposals

Transfers to inv. property

Transfer of assets held for sale
Transfers

At 31 December 2016
Accumulated depreciation

Balance at 1 January 2016
Depreciation

At 31 December 2016

35 283

-69 049

-176 316

-436 499

1 939 738

2 668 118

Property,
plant and
structures

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles

21 038

-139 532*

-1 164 034
-36 607
21 987

Transfers to inv. property
Transfers

2 947 431

-21 987

Disposals

Transfer of assets held for sale

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles

-576

70 030

112 888*

-996 312

0

190 952*

-2 527 057
-81 549
69 049

0

279 652

-112 888*

-2 372 793

Other
196

Under
construction
and advances

Total

325 964

5 519 371

-120 613

-211 649

0

-612 815

196

192 039

4 800 091

Other

Under
construction
and advances

Total

0

0

0
0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
0

38 108
0

-51 420

84 146

21 038
0

0

-3 691 091

0

91 036

0
0

-118 156
-576

0

349 682

0

-3 369 105

0

0

* Transfers represent the reclassification of part of the fixed assets.

Adjustments

Balance at 1 January 2016

Property,
plant and
structures
-40 812

Additions to adjustment

0

Release of adjustments

0

At 31 December 2016
Carrying amount

Balance at 1 January 2016
At 31 December 2016

Machinery,  
equipment and
motor vehicles
-15 621
0

373

-40 812

-15 248

1 040 934

404 753

902 613

280 077

Other
0
0
0

Under
construction
and advances

Total

-87 964

-144 397

0

373

-9 915

-9 915

0

-97 879

-153 939

196

238 000

1 683 883

196

94 160

1 277 046

The Company’s assets are pledged under the contract of the pledge of the Company in favour of the creditors, as the
participants of the stabilisation contract.
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The recognized depreciation included the depreciation of the asset until the reclassification decision is made between the
assets held for sale. The depreciation value in 2017 is 0 TCZK (2016: 7 700 TCZK).
The Company did not capitalize any interest expenses in 2017 or 2016.

In 2017, the following key properties were completed and put into use (depreciation started):
Asset		
		
Calcium milk technology
Reservoir lining
Pilot model glycidol preparation unit
Transformer station modernization

Total expenditures
mil CZK
20.0
4.2
1.7
1.3

In 2017, expenses were realized on these major investments in progress:
Asset		
		
Calcium milk technology

Expenditures 2017
mil CZK
20.0

Financial leasing
In 2013, the Company entered into several lease agreements for the acquisition of fixed assets (forklifts) in the total
amount of 5 919 TCZK. Also at the end of 2016, the Company entered into several lease agreements for the acquisition of
fixed assets (forklifts) in the total amount of 2 820 TCZK and in the last quarter of 2017 in the total amount of 3 464 TCZK.
Rent was recognized as at 31 December 2017 in the amount of 6 395 TCZK, as at 31 December 2016 it was 5 141 TCZK.
According to the expectation of the transfer of assets to the Company´s ownership, it was classified as financial leasing.
The depreciation of the assets in question for the year 2017 amounted to 2 116 TCZK (2016: 2 116 TCZK) and the interest
related to the financing of these purchases, reported in expenses in 2017, was 194 TCZK (in 2016: 189 TCZK).
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7. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Balance at 1 January 2017

Acquisition costs
508 180

Depreciations

Transfers to property, plant and structures
At 31 December 2017

Balance at 1 January 2016
Depreciations

At 31 December 2016

-233 268

0

-9 173

-48 687

24 005

459 493

Acquisition costs

Transfers to property, plant and structures

Accumulated depreciation

529 218

-218 436
Accumulated depreciation
-223 588

0

-10 256

-21 038

576

508 180

-233 268

Carrying amount
274 912
-9 173

-24 682

241 057

Carrying amount
305 630
-10 256

-20 462

274 912

Assignable items of statement of comprehensive income

Revenue

Depreciation

Direct operating costs (maintenance)
Operating result

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

-9 173

-10 256

52 130

50 880

69 946

-8 643

69 694

-8 558

The Company rents properties to subsidiary companies. It is especially a specific property in the production area in Ústí nad
Labem. Due to the type and location inside the production area, alternative market recovery is limited.
As at 31 December 2017, the total acquisition cost of these properties is in the amount of 358 203 TCZK (as at 31 December
2016: 357 982 TCZK), the total carrying amount is 201 878 TCZK (as at 31 December 2016: 209 469 TCZK). The major lease
agreement is the contract with CHS Epi, a.s. which rents properties in the total amount of 183 289 TCZK (as at 31 December
2016: 190 880 TCZK).
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Acquisition costs
Balance at 1 January 2017
Transfers

Additions

Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2017

Licenses 		
and patents
Software
40 353

4 538

0

0

10 722
-1 261

49 814

0

0

4 538

Accumulated amortisation/adjustments
Licenses 		
and patents
Software
Balance at 1 January 2017
Depreciation
Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2017
Carrying amount

At 1 January 2017

At 31 December 2017

Acquisition costs
Balance at 1 January 2016
Transfers

Additions

Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2016

-35 759

-1 900
1 261

-4 538

0

Depreciation
Disposals

Balance at 31 December 2016
Carrying amount

At 1 January 2016

At 31 December 2016

Total

15 757

60 648

6 580

6 580

-10 722
0

0

-1 261

11 615

65 967

Under
construction

Total

0

0

-40 297

-1 900

-36 399

-4 538

0

0
0

-40 937

4 594

0

15 757

20 351

13 415

0

Licenses 		
and patents
Software
59 997

24 883

14

164

-19 822
40 353

11 615

Under
construction

1 261

25 030

Total

12 657

97 537

0

3 264

3 278

4 538

15 757

0

-20 345

Accumulated amortisation/adjustments
Licenses 		
and patents
Software
Balance at 1 January 2016

Under
construction

-164
0

Under
construction

-40 167
60 648

Total

-50 078

-24 656

19 822

20 345

0
0

-40 297

9 919

227

12 657

22 803

-5 503

-35 759

4 594
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-227

-4 538

0

0

0

0

15 757

-74 734

-5 730

40 167

20 351

9. LONG-TERM FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS
Investments in subsidiaries and associates comprise investments in ordinary shares and ownership interests:

As at 31 December 2017:

Share in
Acquisition 		
Carrying
equity
costs
Impairment
amount
Equity
%
TCZK
TCZK
TCZK
TCZK
					
EPISPOL, a.s.

SYNPO, akciová společnost
SPOLCHEMIE N.V.

SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, a.s.
CHS Resins, a.s.

90

270 086

100

1 185

100
100

100

43 921

252 000

2 500

0

270 086

514 786

0

1 185

-106 552

0

-35 492

0

0

-2 500

Total		
569 692
-2 500

Impairment loss on ownership interests:

Balance at 1 January 2017
Release due to sale of the investments
Balance at 31 December 2017

2017
TCZK
2 500
0
2 500

43 921

252 000

54 299

255 530

567 192

2016
TCZK
64 228
-61 728
2 500

Changes in the structure of investments in subsidiaries
In 2016, the Company acquired a 100% stake in MARWALMEN, a.s. later renamed SPOLCHEMIE Polyesters, a.s. In December 2016, the Company, as the sole shareholder of this company in the capacity of the General Meeting, decided to increase
its registered capital by 297 000 TCZK. By subscribing new ordinary shares in the amount of 29 700 shares with a nominal
value of one share at 10 000 CZK, the subscription of these new shares was offered to the Company as a predetermined bidder, with the issue of the issue price of these new shares being paid by a non-monetary contribution, immovable and movable
goods used for the production of polyesters. The increase in registered capital was realized and registered in the Commercial
Register on 31 January 2017.
On 8 February 2017, the Company sold part of the shares issued by SPOLCHEMIE Polyesters, a.s., representing a share of
87.3% of the registered capital and voting rights of SPOLCHEMIE Polyesters, a.s., to a third party. SPOLCHEMIE Polyesters,
a.s. continues to produce polyester resins under the toll-fee regime for the Company. In June 2017, the Company sold the
remaining 12.7% stake in the company. The proceeds from the sale of this equity interest were used to finance the investment
in new membrane electrolysis. The purchase price for a 100% share was 299 000 TCZK.
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Headquarters of the companies included in ownership interests
EPISPOL, a.s.
Ústí nad Labem, Revoluční 1930/86, Postal code 400 01
SYNPO, akciová společnost
Pardubice - Zelené Předměstí, S. K. Neumanna 1316, Postal code 532 07
SPOLCHEMIE N.V.
Barbara Strozzilaan 201, 1083 HN, BR Amsterdam, The Netherlands
SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, a.s.
Ústí nad Labem, Revoluční 1930/86, Postal code 400 32
CHS Resins, a.s.
Ústí nad Labem, Revoluční 1930/86, Postal code 400 32

As at 31 December 2016:

EPISPOL, a.s.

Share in
equity
%
90

270 086

100

2 000

SYNPO, akciová společnost

100

SPOLCHEMIE N.V.

100

CHS Resins, a.s.

100

SPOLCHEMIE Polyesters, a.s.
SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, a.s.

Acquisition 		
costs
Impairment
TCZK
TCZK

100

43 921

Carrying
amount
TCZK

Equity
TCZK

0

270 086

512 525

0

2 000

2 000

0

1 185

0

2 000

0

2 500

-2 500

Total		
321 692
-2 500

43 921

53 342

1 185

-141 055

0

-742

2 000

-32 493

319 192

10. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND WINDING UP ACTIVITIES
In 2016 Production technologies and real estate related to the production of polyesters are classified and presented in

the financial statement as held for sale following the approval of their sale by the management of the Company on 29
April 2016. The completion of the transaction took place in February 2017 in the form of an increase in the share capital
of the subsidiary Spolchemie Polyesters by non-cash deposit and subsequent sale of the business share to a third party.

The valuation of the assets held for sale is at the level of the carrying amount at the date of classification. As at 31 December 2016, no impairment loss was recognized as the sale realized was at a cost that exceeded the carrying amount
of the asset.

Structure of non-current assets as at 31. 12. 2016 held for sale

Acquisition cost

Accumulated depreciation
Net value

Property, plant  
and structures

Machinery, equipment
and motor vehicles

-70 030

-279 652

176 316

106 286

436 499

156 847

Profit from the sale of fixed assets is presented under other operating income, comments in chapter 25.
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Total

612 815

-349 682
263 133

The analysis of the result of winding up activities follows:

Revenues - services

Change in inventory from own products

31 December 2017
TCZK
6 594
-138

31 December 2016
TCZK
81 042

-1 028

Material, energy consumption

-1 134

-11 815

Personnel expenses

-1 057

-12 736

Logistics, rent and other services
Depreciation

Other operating revenues

Other operating expenses

-1 255
0

33 874
-9

-24 017
-7 700
3 092

-215

		
Operating profit/loss

36 875

26 623

-200

-7 187

36 675

19 436

0

0

36 675

19 436

		
Financial expenses

		
Profit/loss before tax of winding up activities

		
Income tax

		
Profit of winding up activities
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Cash flow of winding up activities in 2017 follows:

Profit/loss for 2017

Winding up
activities

Further
work

Total
cash flow

36 675

-116 796

-80 121

-34 067

188 462

154 395

-78

-447 207

-447 285

			
Adjustment of non-cash operations
Change in non-cash components
in working capital
Interest and taxes

-200

-43 736

-43 936

			
Net operating cash flow

2 330

-419 277

-416 947

0

436 003

436 003

Cash and cash equivalent
on 1 January 2017			

15 881

Cash flow from investment activities
Cash flow from financing activities

33 867

-46 607

-12 740

			
Net increase/decrease
of cash and cash equivalent
36 197
-29 881
6 316

			
Impact of FX differences

-766

			
Cash and cash equivalent
on 31 December 2017			

21 431

Cash flow of winding up activities in 2016 follows:
Winding up
Further
Total
activities
work
cash flow
Profit/loss for 2016
19 436
-108 278
-88 842
			
Adjustment of non-cash operations

14 887

281 597

296 484

Interest and taxes

5 108

-7 187

-215 195

-210 087

Net operating cash flow

32 244

-120 621

-88 377

2

82 396

82 398

Change in non-cash components
in working capital

Cash flow from investment activities
Cash flow from financing activities

-2 942

-78 745

-22 977

-85 932

-25 919

			
Net increase/decrease
of cash and cash equivalent

29 304

-61 202

-31 898

Cash and cash equivalent on 1 January 2016			

47 767

			
			
Impact of FX differences

12

			
Cash and cash equivalent on 31 December 2016			
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15 881

11. INVENTORIES

Raw materials

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

278 827

212 894

172 404

Finished goods

Goods for resale

6 533

Carrying amount

457 764

152 629
574

366 097

The gross amount of inventories as at 31 December 2017 is 473 958 TCZK (2016: 382 132 TCZK) and the fair value of
inventories less cost to sell is 457 764 TCZK (2016: 366 097 TCZK).

The amount of inventories charged to cost in 2017 is 2 789 544 TCZK (2016: 2 491 219 TCZK).
12. PROVIDED LOANS AND OTHER LONG-TERM RECEIVABLES

STZ Development, a.s.
Impairment

SPOLCHEMIE N.V.
Impairment

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

-213 239

-213 239

339 533

378 147

514 454
301 215

514 454
301 215

-153 321

-153 321

SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis a.s.

440 137

295 176

Total

927 564

897 717

EPISPOL, a.s.  

186 212

0

224 826

76 500

In 2008, the receivable from STZ Development was acquired by assignment in the nominal value of 400 000 TCZK. The receivable bears an interest rate of 1Y PRIBOR plus 2.5% p.a. STZ Development is a subsidiary of Via Chem Group, a.s.
In previous years, an impairment loss of 213 239 TCZK was recognized considering an analysis of the credit risk associated
with the receivable. In 2017 as well as in 2016, the Company recorded an interest receivable which does not record, as there
are doubts concerning its collectability. The Company´s receivable is subordinate to other long-term STZ Development liabilities.
The Receivable for Spolchemie N.V. in the total amount of 126 623 TCZK, including unpaid interest for the years 2014 to 2017,
totalling 19 211 CZK, was created in 2013 from a licensing contract relating to the right to use the know-how of the production of Chlorine Chemistry, Tetraper, Epichlorhydrin, whose production was transferred to CHS Epi, a.s., 100% owned by this
subsidiary of the Company. This receivable is payable in regular instalments between 2020 and 2024. The debt is priced at 3M
PRIBOR plus 2.5% p.a.
The remaining part of the receivable for Spolchemie N.V. in the amount of 212 910 TCZK was created on the basis of a license
sale agreement. Settlement of the receivable by Spolchemie N.V. is only expected based on the acquisition of funds from the
resale of the license to a third party. The Company‘s receivables are continually evaluated for a possible reduction based on
the revision of the business plans of Spolchemie N.V., and as a result, as of 31 December 2017, an impairment loss of 153 321
TCZK was recorded in the profit or loss.
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In 2016, the Company entered into a loan agreement with SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis a.s. as a borrower to finance the project
for the construction of membrane electrolysis. The receivable is remunerated at a rate of 5.5% p.a. Maturity is in 2022. As at 31
December 2017, the loan value amounted to 304 675 TCZK (as at 31 December 2016: 219 066 TCZK). In 2017, the borrower
drew additional resources to finance the project for the construction of membrane electrolysis. At the same time, in 2017 the
Company recorded a part of the loan receivable against the payable from the Contract for a surplus in equity of 250 000 TCZK.
The remaining part of the claim for SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis a.s. in the amount of 135 462 TCZK is due to the re-accounting
of the aliquot part of the re-financing reward.

13. TRADE RECEIVABLES AND OTHER SHORT-TERM RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables
31 December 2017
TCZK

Gross value of trade receivables

31 December 2016
TCZK

829 531

Impairment loss

821 341

-166 140

Total

-148 748

663 391

Other short-term receivables (net)

672 593

31 December 2017
TCZK

Tax receivables

31 December 2016
TCZK

62 790

Unpaid interest EPISPOL

45 430

0

Other

5 107

988

Total

845

63 778

51 382

Tax receivables in 2017 and in 2016 represent excessive VAT deductions, especially for the Czech tax administrator. The Company is convinced of the profitability of the aforementioned receivables.

The credit risk analysis is described in the Financial Risk Management section.

14. REGISTERED CAPITAL AND FUNDS

Authorized and issued shares

Ordinary shares with a nominal
value of CZK 500, fully paid

Number
units

31 December 2017
TCZK

Number
units

31 December 2016
TCZK

3 878 816

1 939 408

3 878 816

1 939 408
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Issued Shares

As at 11 December 2007, the Company had issued 3 878 816 ordinary certificated bearer shares at the nominal value
of CZK 500 per share. The Company recorded no receivables as at 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016 for sub-

scribed equity; the share issue was fully paid. None of the entities controlled by the Company or companies in which the
Company has property participation own any shares of the Company.
Change in the form of shares from 1 January 2014

As at 1 January 2014, certificated bearer shares that are not immobilized, i.e. including those issued by the Company,

are automatically transformed into certificated registered shares pursuant to Act no. 134/2013 Coll., some measures to
increase the transparency of joint-stock companies and on the amendment of other laws.

The Company proceeds in line with valid legal regulations. In March 2014, the Board of Directors of the Company called
upon the shareholders to exchange their shares in a manner required for the summoning of the General Meeting.

In 2017, the exchange of shares is still pending. As at 31 December 2017 all shares were exchanged in the amount of

TCZK 1 634 090 (i.e. 3 268 180 units of shares), even though the proportion of previously redeemed shares amounts to
16% (resp. 610 636 units).
Shareholders

Via Chem Group, a.s., holding a 33.12% share in the registered capital and in the voting rights in the Company, is its

major shareholder as at 31 December 2017. According to the information of the Company, no other entity has a higher

share in the Company, it can be assumed that the parent company is the Via Chem Group, Inc. Information about the
controlling entity is listed in point 1.

Pursuant to Section 333 of Act No. 182/2006 Coll., on Insolvency and Methods of its Resolution (the Insolvency Act), the
shareholder rights in Via Chem Group were transferred to the insolvency trustee, with the exception of the appointment
of members of statutory bodies.

The reserve fund is created in accordance with the current statutes of the Company by contributions from the period net
profit up to a minimum of 20% of the registered capital.

The Company procedures according to Section 777 (2) of Act. no. 90/2012 Coll., on Business Corporations (hereinafter

referred to as the “BCA”) adapted its statutes according to the provisions of the BCA and the revised text of the rules
within the statutory deadline delivered to the Registry Court. It has not been decided about the submission of the Company to the BCA as a whole within the meaning of Section 777 (5) of the BCA.

The accumulated other comprehensive income was mainly the result of hedging instruments and its value at the balance
sheet date was 0 TCZK. (As of 31 December 2016: -17 050 TCZK). In 2017, the remainder of the hedging instrument was
applied and the hedge accounting application was terminated.
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15. CURRENT LIABILITIES – TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

970 806

1 136 401

Trade		
Trade payables

Accrued expenses
Accrued revenues

Estimated payables
Total trade
Other

Payables to employees

Payables to social security

Payables to health insurance
Tax liabilities

Other payables
Total other

14 770

52 353

747

2 265

35 100

31 829

1 021 423

1 222 848

13 013

12 087

4 700

5 159

9 782

8 591

3 764

3 389

2 951

3 064

34 210

32 290

1 055 633

1 255 138

		
Total

The major part of tax liabilities in 2017 is the personal income tax of 3 555 TCZK (2016: 3 265 TCZK).

Trade payables breakdown according to their maturity

Up to the maturity date

0-90 days after the due date

90 to 180 days after the due date

180 to 360 days after the due date

More than 360 days after the due date

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

791 155

932 028

10 579

3 392

167 958
897

217

200 734
205
42

		
Total

970 806

1 136 401

16. ADVANCES RECEIVED
As at 31 December 2017, the Company has advances received amounting to 225 776 TCZK (2016: 188 591 TCZK), of
which 194 554 TCZK (2016: 186 222 TCZK) are advances received based on regression factoring.
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17. PROVISIONS
Short-term provisions:

Balance as at 1 January 2016
Additions

Utilisation
Release

Balance as at 31 December 2016
Additions

Utilisation
Release

Transfer into long-term provisions
Balance as at 31 December 2017

Litigation and
other disputes

Short-term
employment benefits

2 594

1 013

50

3 657

0

10 069

0

10 069

0

-243

0

0

-1 531

1 063
0

-770

50

6 847

0

-6 251

0

-3 818

-1 063

0

0

0

10 069

0
0

Other

6 847

Total

-2 544

11 182
4 744

0

-4 264

0

-1 063

50

-5 403

6 897

Short-term provisions for employee benefits constitute the provision for bonuses for 2017 and part of the one-off pay
paid to employees on retirement for which payment is expected during 2018.

The provision for Court and other disputes is comprised of the possible compensation for damage for a faulty delivery

from the year 2001. In light of the development of the case, the reporting of the provision was re-evaluated and included
among long-term provisions.
Long-term provisions:
The Company creates long-term provisions for employee benefits to which the Company is committed due to the collective agreement. These are one-off bonuses paid to employees upon retirement, the redemption of which is expected
over a period of more than 12 months from the balance sheet date. Towards the end of 2017 the provision amounted to
6 388 TCZK (2016: 7 194 TCZK).

In 2017, the Company defined a new 3 year bonus policy for selected key employees. Payments for fulfilment of the conditions will be paid in the course of 2019. As at 31 December 2017, the amount of the reserve was 2 844 TCZK (2016: 0 TCZK).

In 2017 the Company created a provision for the potential risk ensuing from the litigation for the payment of the submitted
promissory note for TCZK 40 116, in the amount of the promissory note increased by interest and an estimate of expenses for the litigation, i.e. in a total amount of TCZK 50 626. The promissory note was issued to the Company in 2013 as

a security promissory note, whereas it secured the debt of the Company’s controlling entity. The promissory note was
applied by the creditor’s insolvency administrator at the end of 2017. Seeing that the debt of the controlling company,

the fulfilment of which was secured by the promissory note in question, was fulfilled to the full extent back at the end of
2009, the security was extinguished and the promissory note was supposed to have been destroyed. Seeing that the
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promissory note no longer has any case which should be fulfilled on it, the Company is convinced that the unjustified right
from the promissory note applied in the litigation will not be recognised for the plaintiff and it will not be necessary to draw
on the provision. A description of the status of the litigation is given in point 34 of the Subsequent events.

Since it cannot be expected that the dispute would be concluded before the end of 2018, the Company has reported the
provision as long-term.

18. BANK LOANS
As part of the consolidation of credit relationships with banks, a Stabilization Contract due on 30 June 2017 was concluded with
the bank creditors as at 29 June 2012.

In 2014, the postponed repayment of bank loans maturing in the period from 30 June 2014 to 31 March 2015 was agreed with the
bank creditors. The Company is to continue repaying loans under the Stabilisation Agreement starting from 30 June 2015. Due

to the final maturity of bank loans set out in the Stabilisation Agreement of 30 June 2017, all bank loans as at 31 December 2016
were classified as short-term (see table below).

Already in 2016, it took over the position of a creditor from Raiffeisenbank, a.s. AB-CREDIT, a.s. Similarly, in 2017 this company
entered the same position for loans from EXPOBANK CZ, a.s.

During the first half of 2017, the Company conducted intensive negotiations with its funding partners, and in September 2017, a
partial agreement was reached on the restructuring of the Company‘s total lending burden as follows.

The company concluded with AB-CREDIT, a.s. as of 30 September 2017, supplements to existing (taken over) loan agreements,

which set the interest rate of 2% p.a. for all loans and the maturity of all loans was set at 30 September 2018 with an option to
extend the maturity date as of 30 September 2019. Due to these conditions, these loans are reported as short-term.

At the same date, the Company and Poštová banka, a.s. concluded additions to credit agreements which set an interest rate of

2% p.a. for all loans and set a new repayment schedule with a final maturity of 30 September 2032 and a two-year postponement
of loan repayments.

In December 2017, ISTROKAPITAL, a.s., took over the position of the creditor from Poštová banka.
As of 30 June 2017, the Stabilization Agreement expired. Its provisions are superseded by the determination of loan parameters in
individual loan agreements, respectively in the supplements to these contracts and by separate Treaties on adjustment of mutual
rights and obligations in the case of ISTROKAPITAL, a.s. and the By-Laws for AB-CREDIT, a.s.

Given that the two lending entities are not banking institutions, the liabilities from these loans are reported as non-bank loans.

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

Current 		
Overdrafts

0

Non-current loan instalments due within one year

0

Other loans due within one year
Total
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0

0

29 745

620 359

294 789
944 893

In 2009 a lien on the Company’s assets was established in favour of bank creditors as collateral for loans provided to the
Company.

Extending the maturity of the described loans to 15 years adequately extended the maturity of subordinated short-term non-bank
loans to the same maturity, i.e. 15 years.

An analysis of currency and interest rate risks is described in the notes to the financial statements.
Meeting conditions of bank loans (covenants)

The company must comply with selected financial indicators (EBITDA, Equity ratio, DSCR, Default rate, and CAPEX) on a half-ye-

arly and annual basis with EPOSPOL, CHS Epi and SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis. These indicators are calculated on the basis of the
simplified consolidation of the aforementioned companies. The required minimum benchmarks for 2017 were met.

19. OTHER LOANS AND BORROWINGS
As at 31 December 2017 the Company has received non-bank loans of 2 529 331 TCZK (2016: 1 148 425 TCZK) from
the following companies:

AB - CREDIT a.s.

ISTROKAPITAL, a.s.
EPISPOL, a.s.

Via Chem Group, a.s.

Pembroke Trading Limited
Other loan No. 1

MONTE BRAVIA, a.s.
Other loan No. 2
Other loan No. 3
Other loan No. 4
Other loan No. 5
Other loan No. 6
Other loan No. 7

Spolchemie Distribution, a.s.
Leasing contracts
Other loan No. 8
Other loan No. 9

Bakelite Epoxy GmbH
Total

of which short-term
of which long-term

31 December 2017
TCZK
751 438
715 225
298 026

31 December 2016
TCZK
413 743

0
0

281 956

267 761

103 063

101 839

153 240
93 604
32 555
30 468
18 815
14 783
11 633
9 718

162 120
99 028

40 209
0
0
0
0

0

6 952

6 660

1 460

0

6 396

5 047

0

51 805

2 529 332

1 148 435

1 620 951

225 898

0

908 381

223

922 537

Liabilities to AB-CREDIT, a.s. were created in 2017 by taking over the credit claims of the financing banks as described in point 18.

Bank loans. The loans are at a rate of 2% p.a. Maturity was set at 30 September 2018 with an option to extend the maturity date as
of 30 September 2019. Due to these conditions, these loans are reported as short-term.

Liabilities to ISTROKAPITAL, a.s. were created in 2017 by taking over the credit claims of the financing banks as described in point 18.
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Bank loans and the assumption of non-bank loan No. 9. The bank loans received are remunerated at a rate of 2% p.a. Maturity was set
at 30 September 2032 and with a two-year postponement of loan repayments. Non-bank Loan No. 9 is payable in September 2018.

Liabilities to EPISPOL, a.s.: The Company entered into an agreement to extend the maturity of its business liabilities until January
2018 as Borrower 2017.

The Company entered into a loan agreement as a debtor on 5 October 2009 with Via Chem Group, a.s., according to which it was gran-

ted a loan of 200 000 TCZK with a maturity of one year from the date of conclusion of the contract. The agreed interest is 7%  p.a. Under

a separate agreement, this is a commitment subject to commitments vis-à-vis both bank and non-bank creditors. In 2016, the principal

and interest on this loan were reported as short-term as the senior payables were to be due by 30 June 2017 as at 31 December 2016.
Due to the changes in the maturity of senior commitments in 2017, this liability is classified as long-term as of 31 December 2017.

In 2014, the Company entered into a credit agreement with Pembroke Trading Limited with a credit line of up to 6 000 TEUR. The
loan drawn is remunerated at a fixed rate of 10% p.a. The maturity of the loan is at the creditor‘s request; but not earlier than 30
September 2017, but under a special agreement this is a commitment subject to other credit commitments. In 2016, the loan was

presented under short-term liabilities as senior liabilities were due to mature by June 30, 2017 as at December 31, 2016. Due to the

changes in the maturity of senior commitments that occurred in 2017, this liability is classified as long-term as at 31 December 2017.
Non-bank Loan 1: In 2016, the Company entered into a contract with a non-bank entity, the essence of which was the provision
of funds secured by movable property. The transaction resulted in a liability of 109 723 TCZK, which was already partially reduced
in 2016. In 2017, the structure of the repayment schedule, which defines deferred instalments, was modified. According to the
repayment schedule, the outstanding balance as at 31 December 2017 totals 103 063 TCZK, including related interest, of which a
short-term portion of 14 888 TCZK is payable. The effective interest rate is 5.4%.

In 2014, the Company entered into a credit agreement with MONTE BRAVIA, a.s. for up to 3 600 TEUR. In 2015, another tranche
was drawn. The loan is remunerated at a fixed rate of 10% p.a. Under the separate agreement, the loan liability is subject to both
the Company‘s loan commitments and the credit commitments of the subsidiary SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis a.s. and CHP Epi, a.s.
Preferred liabilities are payable in 2032, so the loan is classified as a long-term liability as at 31 December 2016 and 2017.

Via Chem Group, MONTE BRAVIA, a.s., Spolchemie Distribution, a.s. and EPISPOL a.s. companies are related through property or
personnel.

Non-bank Loan 2: In 2016 the Company acquired the 110 kV Substation in the amount of 45 092 TCZK. The investment is financed

by a supplier loan payable until November 2020. In 2017, the Company acquired additional assets financed by supplier loans in the
total amount of 2 019 TCZK, repayable until November 2021.

Non-bank Loan 3: In 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with a business partner to change the maturity of the payable
business commitments in a repayment schedule until December 2018.

Non-bank Loan 4: In 2017, the Company acquired part of the production facility of 18 815 TCZK. The investment is financed by a
supplier loan due by December 2020.

Non-bank Loan 5: In 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with its trading partners to change the maturity of payable
business liabilities in a repayment schedule until December 2018.

Non-bank Loan 6: In 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with a business partner to change the maturity of payable business liabilities by a repayment schedule until February 2019.
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Non-bank Loan 7: In 2017, the Company entered into an agreement with a business partner to change the maturity of payable business liabilities by a repayment schedule until August 2019.

In February 2016, a Loan Agreement was signed, on the basis of which the Company was provided financial means by Spolchemie
Distribution, a.s. amounting to 6 400 TCZK for the agreed interest of 4.5% p.a. The maturity of this loan was 31 December 2017.

Non-bank Loan 9: Before the end of 2016, the Company received a loan from another non-bank entity of 1 916 TEUR. Loan interest

at 8% p.a. The maturity of the loan was 30 September 2017. As of 30 September 2017, the receivable from this loan was transferred
to ISTROKAPITAL, a.s. The principal was increased by unpaid interest, the interest rate was changed to 2% p.a. and the maturity of
the loan was set at 30 September 2018.

In 2018 the maturity of the loans was extended until 30 September 2032, see chapter 34. Subsequent events.
The Company has concluded several leasing contracts for the purchase of forklifts

Minimum
lease payments
TCZK

Short-term payment
Payment (2-5 year)

31.12.2017
2 637

4 436

Present value of
minimum lease payments

31.12.2016
1 986

31.12.2017

3 651

2 347

4 049

31.12.2016
1 748

3 299

Total

7 073

5 637

6 396

5 047

Present value of
minimum lease payments

6 396

5 047

6 396

5 047

2 347

1 748

			
6 396

5 047

Future interest expenses

-677

-590

The balance sheet includes:

     Non-bank loans – short-term
     Non-bank loans – long-term

4 049

590

3 299

20. ACCRUALS
In September 2017, an agreement was reached on the restructuring of the Company‘s total lending burden as at 1 October 2017.

The condition of signing an agreement on the restructuring of the loan burden of a major bank creditor was the granting of

a restructuring fee of 134 771 TCZK. Remuneration represents additional borrowing costs, it has been capitalized to the

principal of the loan and the total cost of the remuneration is accrued over the life of the credit agreement in the form of
the effective interest rate of the loan in question. Prepaid borrowing costs in 2018 are reported separately as short-term

assets (deferred expenses). The balance of prepaid borrowing costs as at 31 December 2017 amounted to a total of 112
889 TCZK, with a long-term part of 100 705 TCZK and short-term part of 12 184 TCZK.
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21. REVENUES
Revenues from services include mainly revenues from fees for the processing of raw materials supplied by customers (i.e.
toll fee), income from rent and other services.

31 December 2017

Sales for goods

158 693

Sales for services

- sales for Toll Fee

Total revenues

Inorganics

Epoxy resins

3 520 889

6 594

Total revenues from further work

2017

3 872 431

6 594

- sales for Toll Fee

Sales for products

419 348

4 447 597

Winding up activities – sales for services

Domestic
TCZK
265 629

68 733

416 473
233 626

Sales for products

31 December 2016

252 116

4 008 970
81 042

77 703

4 441 003

3 927 928

Foreign
TCZK

Total
TCZK

820 772

1 086 401

28 083

1 984 280

Special resins

131 489

368 618

Total sales for products

493 684

3 378 747

3 872 431

Sales for products from further work

493 684

3 378 747

3 872 431

Domestic
TCZK

Foreign
TCZK

Total
TCZK

Polyesters
Alkyds

Winding up activities

2016

Inorganics

Epoxy resins

0

68 484

0

209 592

46 812

158 264

0

865 171

2 012 363
46 812

500 107

226 748

0

1 074 763

72 534

1 611 941

Special resins

107 894

378 901

Total sales for products

462 124

3 058 765

3 520 889

Sales for products from further work

462 124

3 058 765

3 520 889

Polyesters
Alkyds

Winding up activities

0

72 104
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0

35 608

167 144

0

1 684 475
35 608

486 795

239 248

0

Revenues from products - abroad in 2017

Revenues from products - abroad in 2016

Country

Country

Revenues
export in
%
Germany
36.9
Poland
7.1
France
6.8
Italy
5.8
Spain
5.5
Slovakia
4.8
Belgium
3.9
Turkey
3.6
Great Britain
3.3
Austria
3.1
Netherlands
2.5
Russia
2.1
Serbia
1.9
Switzerland
1.8
Sweden
1.3
Other
9.7
Total
100.0
Winding up activities
0
Total revenues from
products from
further work

100.0

22. COST OF SALES

Raw materials
Energy

Raw material processing using Epispol,
CHS-Epi and Spolchemie Electrolysis
Total

Winding up activities
- material
- energy

Raw material and energy from further work

Revenues
- foreign
TCZK
1 246 387
238 978
228 428
194 388
186 326
160 579
131 569
121 536
110 156
104 122
85 906
72 313
65 193
61 686
42 377
328 803
3 378 747
0
3 378 747

Revenues
export in
%
Germany
36.2
Poland
6.7
Slovakia
6.6
France
5.2
Spain
4.6
Italy
4.5
Belgium
4.1
Austria
3.9
Netherlands
3.9
Great Britain
3.3
Turkey
3.0
Russia
2.6
Serbia
1.9
Sweden
1.4
Hungary
1.4
Other
10.7
Total
100.0
Winding up activities
0
Total revenues from
products from
further work

100.0

31 December 2017
TCZK
2 382 491
473 943

921 681

3 778 115

117

1 018

3 776 981

Revenues
- foreign
TCZK
1 105 289
206 238
202 832
157 708
140 049
139 003
124 263
120 297
117 699
101 162
92 325
78 864
57 610
42 109
41 948
331 369
3 058 765
0
3 058 765

31 December 2016
TCZK
2 001 520
500 329

585 042

3 086 891

3 474

8 341

3 075 076

The increase in raw material processing costs is due in particular to the change in production technology and the creation
of new processing costs for raw materials through the subsidiary of Spolchemie Elextrolysis.
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23. SERVICES

Operating lease

Logistics services
Other services
Total

Winding up activities

Total services from further work

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

48 117

55 838

154 396

155 626

179 002

157 633

381 515

369 097

1 255

24 017

380 260

345 080

Mainly railway vehicles are rented under operating leases.

24. PERSONNEL EXPENSES
Personnel expenses

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

181 337

189 234

16 599

17 350

50 127

53 650

916

687

Total

252 439

264 621

Personnel expenses from further work

251 382

251 885

Short-term employee benefits
Wages and salaries

Bonuses to members of statutory and supervisory bodies
Social security and health insurance expenses
Other social expenses

Employee benefits after termination of employment
Pension plans

Employee benefits for early termination of employment
Severance pay

Winding up activities

Average number of employees, personnel expenses
Total average number of employees
- of which winding up activities
- of which managers

Total personnel expenses (TCZK)

- of which winding up activities (TCZK)
- of which managers (TCZK)

2 300
1 159

1 057

2017

585
32
5

2 400
1 301

12 736

2016
627
33
4

252 439

264 621

9 364

5 956

1 057

12 736

The year-on-year decrease in the number of workers is due mainly to the transfer of electrolysis workers to the subsidiary
Spolchemie Electrolysis, a.s.
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The structure of personnel expenses of managers

31 December 2017
31 December 2016
TCZK		TCZK

Wages and salaries

Social security and health insurance expenses

6 862

4 440

1 575		

1 091

599		

Pension plans
Total

9 036		

425

5 956

The item “Managers” comprises the average number of employees in the positions of CEO and directors of various departments.
The Company does not provide any additional monetary or in-kind benefits except for the liability insurance of members of
management and supervisory bodies, including former members.
Pension insurance

Since 2000, the Company has contributed to the employees’ supplementary pension plans with the state insurance contribution. Since January 2014, the monthly individual contribution is 1 TCZK. The total amount of this compensation is 4
112 TCZK in 2017 (2016: 4 841 TCZK).

The Company does not record any incurred or contracted pension liabilities to former members of statutory and supervisory bodies.

Employee benefits in early termination of employment

he Company expenses severance payments to employees whose employment was terminated for organizational reasons. In 2017 it was 916 TCZK (2016: 687 TCZK).

25. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES AND INCOME
Other operating income
Compensation for damage

Proceeds from the right to use know-how

Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets
Profit from inventory disposals
Operating grants received
Inventory surplus

Other operating income
Total

Total from winding up activities
Total from further work

31 December 2017
TCZK
3 452
867

50 697
4 684

0

4 747

4 975

69 422

33 874

35 548

31 December 2016
TCZK
1 253

3 504
0

1 814

237

1 994

10 672
19 474
3 092

16 382

The proceeds from the right to use know-how of 3 504 TCZK recognized in 2016 and 867 TCZK in 2017 comprises the proceeds of Spolchemie N.V. from the license agreement on the right to use manufacturing know-how, manufacturing methodology, expertise and chemical engineering processes related to the production of epichlorohydrin and other products granted to

CHS Epi, a.s., to which manufacturing facilities have been leased and with which a contract was signed; based on the contract,
CHS Epi, a.s. will continue to manufacture the products for the Company in a toll-fee regime. The transactions are aimed at

boosting the production of epichlorohydrin. An independent expert appraisal institute set the value of the know-how at 107
727 TCZK. The proceeds from the right to use the know-how are accounted for on an accrual basis between 2013 and 2017.
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Profit from the sale of fixed assets is generated mainly from sales of long-term assets held for sale in the amount of 33
867 TCZK. And then proceeds from the sale of discarded production technology - amalgam electrolysis.
Other operating expenses
Additions to provisions and adjustments
Insurance

Taxes and fees

Depreciation of receivables
Contributions and gifts
Fines and penalties

Loss of sold non-current assets
Other operating expenses
Total

Total from winding up activities
Total from further work

31 December 2017
TCZK
79 253

31 December 2016
TCZK
5 454

22 102

24 605

3 007

47 854

6 991

6 780

2 783

3 040

666

707

0

59 505

117 946

153 770

9

215

3 144

5 825

117 937

153 555

The creation of provisions and adjustments is primarily influenced by the increase of the long-term provisions, see Chapter 17, Provisions.

26. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS
2017

Interest income		
- bank accounts
- other interest

Profit from sale of held shares
Other finance income
Total finance income

0

24 959

0

1 005

25 964

2016
1

15 566
10

988

16 565

Other interest income primarily comprises interest from non-current receivables. The interest from the non-current receivable from SPOLCHEMIE N.V. is in the amount of 4 865 TCZK (2016: 4 696 TCZK) and interest from non-current receivables from SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, a.s. is in the amount of 20 094 TCZK (2016: 4 279 TCZK).

Interest expenses
- bank loans

- other interest

Exchange losses on foreign currency transactions
Loss from sale of securities
Other finance expenses

Total financial expenses
Of which winding up activities (interests of loans)
Total financial expenses from further work
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2017
TCZK

2016
TCZK

49 909

62 697

7 875

11 021

60 162

0

28 941

146 887

200

146 687

51 025
388

24 451

149 582
7 187

142 395

Other interest expenses are primarily comprised of interest on a loan from Via Chem Group, a.s. at 14 194 TCZK (2016: 14 233
TCZK), from MONTE BRAVIA, a.s. in the amount of 9 639 TCZK (2016: 9 946  TCZK), interest from the loan from Pembroke
Trading Ltd in the amount of 15 610 TCZK (2016: 16 273 TCZK), interest from leasing contracts in the amount of 5 862 TCZK
(2016: 1 987 TCZK) and common interest from overdue payments in the amount of 9 118 TCZK (2016: 8 293 TCZK).
27. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk factors
The overall risk management strategy seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company‘s financial performance. In its activities, the Company faces the following financial risks:
a) Market risk

a. Currency risk

b. Commodity risk

b) Interest rate risk
c) Credit risk

d) Liquidity risk

e) Operating risk
(a) Market risk
The market risk for the Company is derived primarily from changes in market prices, interest rates, share prices or commodity prices and their impact on the Company’s profits. The total exposure to market risk depends on the structure of
profit and loss and the sensitivity of individual assets and liabilities to any changes in market prices.
a. Currency risk
Currency risk is the type of risk generated by the changing value of one currency against another currency. Because the Com-

pany exports and imports most of its production and material, it is exposed to currency risk, primarily with respect to the euro.

The currency risk is significantly eliminated by natural hedging due to the Company´s sales and purchases of raw material and
energy denominated in the same currency.

The Company does not use hedging instruments offered by banks yet. The Company seeks to use natural hedging of exchange rate risks as the most effective way to eliminate currency risk. The supply of electrical energy and gas is also invoiced

in euros, which increases the coverage from natural hedging. The volume of purchases in EUR for 2017 represented 68.0% of
the volume of sales in EUR (2016: 66.8%).

The Company applies hedge accounting to record hedging against currency risks in relation to expected future proceeds
denominated in EUR.

The Company used hedge accounting to capture the hedge of expected future earnings denominated in EUR, to hedge the

currency risk. The effective date of the hedge accounting application is 1 October 2013. The Company terminated the hedge
accounting management as of the expected date of 30 September 2017. The reinsurance instrument was the selected foreign

currency financing received - loans totalling CZK 28 479 TEUR as at 30 September 2017 (2016: 28 479 TEUR), with the effective portion being 36 795 TEUR at the end of 2013.

In relation to the application of hedge accounting in 2017 and as a result of the hedging cash flows from the amount reported

in Other comprehensive income, a loss of 21 049 TCZK (2016 a loss: 13 083 TCZK) was transferred to expenses. The transfer
is reported in Finance costs in the Statement of comprehensive income.
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Receivable and payables classification by currency
As at 31 December 2017
Receivables
Payables

1 184 979
2 148 167

As at 31 December 2016
Receivables
Payables

CZK
TCZK

EUR
TCZK

1 135 807
1 695 517

ostatní
TCZK

397 482

201 073

EUR
TCZK

USD
TCZK

ostatní
TCZK

15 538

1 256

1 721 599

CZK
TCZK

USD
TCZK

373 238

1 856 386

0

8 792

0

124 423

0

total
TCZK

1 783 534
3 878 558
total
TCZK

1 633 468
3 568 697

As mentioned above, the Company’s management seeks the natural hedging of the currency risk including the actual
settlement of receivables and payables.

Sensitivity analysis of financial instruments in foreign currency to changes in foreign exchange rates
The appreciation (depreciation) of the Czech crown by CZK 0.25 against EUR and USD, as described below, would result
in an increase/decrease of the profit/loss as follows:
V TCZK
Appreciation of EUR – impact on income statement
Appreciation of EUR – impact on equity
Appreciation of USD

31 December 2017
TCZK
-12 961

0

31 December 2016
TCZK
13 723
2 403

2 258

-1 062

Depreciation of EUR – impact on income statement

12 961

-13 723

Depreciation of USD

-2 258

1 062

Depreciation of EUR – impact on equity

0

2 403

b. Commodity risk
The Company is exposed to commodity risk arising from changes in the prices of raw materials and energy. The Company

manages the commodity risk in a way that includes contractual agreements with customers to adjust the selling price if a
change in the purchase price of raw materials and energy occurs.
(b) Interest rate risk
The interest rate risk arises from movements in market interest rates. The Company is exposed to changes in interest
rates, particularly in the credit area, depending on the development of the announced interest rates.
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The Company reports the following interest-bearing financial instruments as at the date of the financial statements:

Financial instruments with fixed interest rate
Long-term receivables including short-term
part of long-term receivables
Non-bank loans

Financial instruments with variable interest rate
Long-term receivables
Loans in CZK

31 December 2017
TCZK
518 623

2 529 331

31 December 2017
TCZK
408 941

Loans in EUR

408 676

734 469

31 December 2016
TCZK
526 041

0

413 966

0

650 171

0

Non-bank loans

31 December 2016
TCZK

294 722

Sensitivity analysis of financial instruments with variable interest rates
A change of 100 basis points in the interest rate would increase or decrease profit as follows:
Financial instruments with variable interest rate
Sensitivity to cash flow – increase of interest rate

Sensitivity to cash flow – decrease of interest rate

31 December 2017
TCZK
4 089

-4 089

31 December 2016
TCZK
-8 375
8 375
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Effective interest rate and evaluation analysis
The table shows the effective interest rates of interest-bearing financial assets and financial liabilities as at the balance
sheet date and the periods in which they are revalued.
31 December 2017
Total interest-bearing receivables

Effective
interest rate

Receivable/
liability amount

4.46

842 932

Total loans in CZK		

1 102 086

7.15

*

1 020 964

Total interest-bearing liabilities		
31 December 2016

*

0		

5.16

Total non-bank loans EUR

Due
date

0		

Total loans in EUR		
Total non-bank loans CZK

Future change
in interest rate

*

by 2032
by 2032

2 123 050		

Effective
interest rate

Receivable/
liability amount

Future change
in interest rate

Due
date

Total loans in CZK

6.60

294 724

*

2017

Total non-bank loans in CZK

6.09

715 920

*

2017

Total interest-bearing receivables
Total loans in EUR

Total non-bank loans in EUR

4.55

826 945

4.07

650 170

9.22

*

432 516

Total interest-bearing liabilities		

*

2017

2 093 330		

* No change is expected in the contractual interest rates. The current interest rate depends only on changes in the rates
announced by central banks according to individual bank loan agreements.

In the event of breach of the specified obligations according to the enclosed amendments to the credit agreements, the
creditors of ISTROKAPITAL a.s. and AB-Credit a.s. raise the interest rate by 2% p.a.

In TCZK

Trade receivables and other receivables
excl. tax receivables

Long-term receivables and advances paid
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-bank loans

Unpaid interest on non-bank loans
Loans in CZK

Loans in EUR

Trade and other receivables and advances paid
Total
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Carrying
value
2017
TCZK

Fair
value
2017
TCZK

Carrying
value
2016
TCZK

Fair
value
2016
TCZK

691 849

691 849

690 321

690 321

1 028 269

1 028 269

897 717

897 717

-2 519 683

-2 519 683

-1 139 860

-1 139 860

0

0

-294 722

-294 722

-1 281 409

-1 281 409

-1 443 729

-1 443 729

2 069 191

2 069 191

-1 933 138

-1 933 138

21 431
-9 648

0

21 431

-9 648
0

15 881

-8 575

-650 171

15 881

-8 575

-650 171

(c) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk arising from the inability or unwillingness of counterparties to honour their commitments. Counterparty (customer) solvency is the most important criterion that must be reviewed and evaluated periodically.

The Company has, within its internal credit policy, a defined strategy (internal rules and regulations) which ensures that

products and services are sold to customers under appropriate terms and conditions. Before offering the customer stan-

dard payment and delivery terms, the credit status of each individual customer is assessed. This evaluation takes into
account external credit ratings and references from specialised firms. Customer credit limits are set corresponding to

the score results. The evaluation and implementation of customer credit limits is carried out by the Finance Department

(Credit Manager). The credit policy also includes rules against exceeding the credit limit or the deterioration of payment
discipline.

The Company also uses the services of a credit insurance firm, and insures the major part of its receivables. This insurance also minimizes the negative impact of any expected credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at the balance sheet date was as follows:
Carrying value
Long-term receivables
Trade receivables

Other receivables and advances
Cash
Total

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

663 391

672 593

1 028 269

91 874
21 431

1 804 965

897 717
63 158
15 881

1 649 349

The Company does not have any customer having a more than a 10% share in the total balance of trade receivables.
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Analysis of maturity of short-term trade receivables
		
31 December 2017
TCZK
Due

0 - 90 days overdue

90 - 180 days overdue

180 - 360 days overdue
360 days and over
Total

627 338
61 105
184
471

140 433
829 531

Carrying value 		

Impairment		Impairment
losses
31 December 2016
losses
TCZK
TCZK
TCZK
-24 333

657 087

-24 407

-91

399

-104

123 816

-123 816

-1 309

-139

-140 268
-166 140

39 321

718

821 341

0

-421

-148 748

663 391		
672 593

		
Changes in impairment losses related to trade receivables

Balance at 1 January
Impairment loss

Depreciation of receivable
Balance at 31 December

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

-20 399

-14 015

-148 748
3 007

-166 140

-182 587
47 854

-148 748

The development and balance of accumulated impairment losses on loans granted is evident from the information provided in Part 12.

(d) Liquidity risk
Liquidity is the ability to meet due financial obligations at any time. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be
able to meet its financial obligations at their maturity dates. Prudent liquidity management requires maintaining suffici-

ent cash on hand and cash equivalents and the availability of funding through an adequate number of committed credit
facilities.  

To control the cost of their own products and services, the Company uses a method of cost allocation by activity, which
allows the monitoring of cash flow requirements and optimizes the return on investment.

To ensure sufficient liquidity to cover operating expenses, the Company uses a standardized system of working capital

management, especially the management of receivables and inventory optimisation. Funds tied in inventory are minimized; however the inventory level does not affect the normal course of business. The Company also uses the services of
factoring companies for portfolios of receivables with longer maturities to minimize tied funds.

The payment of the Company’s liabilities according to their maturity including estimated interest payments is stated
below:
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As at 31 December 2017
Contractual cash flows
Due or up
to 2 months
TCZK
Loans

Other liabilities
Total

28 853

1 139 304
1 168 157

2-6
months
TCZK

6 – 12
months
TCZK

1–2
years
TCZK

33 179

846 349

403 076

127 174

1 090 700

2 529 331

124 572

903 959

458 427

128 712

1 094 732

3 878 559

91 393

57 610

2–5
years
TCZK

55 351

1 538

Over 5
years
TCZK

4 032

Total
TCZK

1 349 228

As at 31 December 2016
Contractual cash flows
Due or up
to 2 months
TCZK
Loans

Bank loans

Other liabilities
Total

2-6
months
TCZK

6 – 12
months
TCZK

1–2
years
TCZK

2 225

473 869

446 443

19 836

48 728

157 334

1 148 435

876 123

547 507

20 099

13 264

0

0

1 456 993

87 462

965 811

857 431

1 878 806

0

466 542

2–5
years
TCZK

0

33 100

0

48 728

Over 5
years
TCZK

0

157 334

Total
TCZK

944 893

3 550 321

(e) Operational risk
Operational risk is generally defined as the possibility of loss due to operational deficiencies and errors. In the narrower

definition, operational risk is a risk arising from operating business activities. In a broader sense, operational risk includes
all the risks that are not attributed to credit risk, market risk or liquidity risk.

The Company manages its operational and production risks to avoid financial losses and damage. These risks primarily

relate to gradual depreciation (wear and tear) of the Company’s machinery and equipment, potential shutdowns and
insurance.

The effects of everyday use of equipment and machinery continually increase over time. Every year the Company prepares plans to carry out preventive maintenance and shutdowns to eliminate the risk of unplanned shutdowns.

A significant reduction in operational risk occurred during April 2017, when the operation of old amalgam electrolysis was
terminated and the operation of new membrane electrolysis was successfully launched in 100% subsidiary SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis a.s. The membrane electrolysis technology is also called Best Available Technology (or BAT) - it is a much
greener and more cost-effective technology (mainly the cost of maintenance and operations).

The Company has insurance coverage for most of its important assets (e.g. insurance for property and equipment and
liability insurance) to cover most of the risks and major claims.
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28. INCOME TAX
31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

Current tax		
Current year

0

2 702

42 575

8 742

Deferred tax		
Impact of changes in temporary differences
Total income tax

Reconciliation of effective tax rate
Profit/loss before tax from further work

Profit/loss before tax from winding up activities
Profit before tax
Income tax rate

Income tax calculated

42 575

11 444

31 December 2017
TCZK

31 December 2016
TCZK

36 675

19 436

-209 997

-119 722

-173 322

-100 286

32 931

19 054

-17 332

-38 954

42 575

8 742

19 %

19 %

		
Impact of tax non-deductible expenses
Impact of tax-exempt income
Total calculated income tax
Effective income tax rate

Repayments of income tax from previous period
Total calculated income tax
Effective income tax rate

26 976

24.56 %

0

28 642

8.72 %
2 702

42 575

11 444

24.56 %

11.41 %

The Company does not report any tax arrears with the local tax authority. The company reported a tax loss for 2017, and
for the year 2016 it did not report any tax payable due to tax losses incurred in the past years.
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Deferred tax
2017
Non-current assets
Inventories
Provisions

Unpaid penalties and insurance
Hedge accounting

Assets

2016

Liabilities
2017
2016

24 815

10 651

-28 331

-42 297

3 413

3 491

0

0

3 077
0
0

Tax losses carried forward

22 338

eferred tax assets/(liabilities)

53 643

3 047

2 639
3 999

5 206

29 033

0

0

0

30

-78

3 389
464

791

-2 639

0

17 132

-3 999

-2 486

-42 297

29 811

6 256

0

0

Recorded deferred tax liability			
25 312

28 130

0

0

-28 331

Difference
2017/2016
2016/2015

1 286

2 812

-13 264		

As at 31 December 2017, the Company reports a tax loss of 105 670 TCZK (2016: 4 737 TCZK).

The breakdown of the revaluation of the amount before tax and after tax is shown in the following table:
Revaluation of hedging derivatives under cash flow hedge
Revaluation before tax

Tax effect - deferred tax
Revaluation after tax

31 December 2017
0

0
0

31 December 2016
21 049

-3 999

17 050
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29. TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES

The Company is involved in the following transactions with related parties:
Receivables and payables with related parties
Receivables as at 31 December
2017
2016

Payables as at 31 December
2017
2016

Shareholders				
Via Chem Group, a.s.

0

Total shareholders

0

0

0

2 548

2 548

2 663

2 663

				
Subsidiaries				
EPISPOL, a. s.

SPOLCHEMIE N.V.
CHS Resins, a.s.

SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, a.s.

SPOLCHEMIE Distribution, a.s.

383 585

147

0

16 704

17 244

67 957

63 414

51 437

13 408

29 729

50

0

0

549 880

483 653

19

1 674

19

496 376

313 414

*

1 360

14 190

SpolchemieRus OOO

Total of consolidated companies

367 004

26 999

SPOLCHEMIE Polyesters, a.s.
Spolchemie, a.s.

164 342

1 837

SYNPO, akciová společnost
CHS Epi, a.s.

2 973

50

81

542 672

1 049

15

0
0

23 123

*

0

0
0
0

2 000

0

483 995

				

Other related parties				
CSS, a.s.

24 498

32 789

947

2 906

Total other related parties

24 558

32 849

947

2 906

567 230

582 729

487 148

489 564

HS facility, s.r.o.

60

60

0

0

				
Total

* The company was a related party as at 31 December 2016. In 2017 it is not part of the consolidated group.

The Company‘s payables are generated mainly from the purchase of services under the toll fee and other overhead services and then by received loans. The Company’s receivables are granted loans and receivables from the sale of intangible
assets (licenses) and price adjustments.
Trade receivables are not secured.
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Liabilities from other loans of related parties
Provided loans
as at 31 December
2017

Received loans
as at 31 December

2016

STZ Development, a.s.

301 215

301 215

SPOLCHEMIE N.V.

186 212

224 826

SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, a.s.
EPISPOL, a. s.

440 137
0

MONTE BRAVIA, a.s.

76 500

0

Via Chem Group, a.s.

0

0

Spolchemie Distribution

0

Bakelite Epoxy GmbH
Total

295 176

927 564

2016

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

93 604

99 028

0

281 956

267 761

0

0

223

0

0

2017

897 717

6 952

6 660

382 512

373 672

Purchase and sales volumes with related parties
2017

Purchases

2016

2017

Sales

2016

Subsidiaries				
SYNPO, akciová společnost

10 505

15 666

6 726

3 402

EPISPOL, a.s.

231 048

153 558

34 100

36 837

CHS Epi, a.s.

222 660

273 403

86 612

74 690

*

0

SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, a.s.
SPOLCHEMIE Distribution, a.s.
SPOLCHEMIE Polyesters, a.s.
INFRASPOL, s.r.o.

Total consolidated companies

183 085
0

0

116 257

*

1 751

647 298

560 635

49 786
44 259
*

*

221 483

72 377
90 528
1 125

0

278 959

				

Other related parties				
CSS, a.s.

STZ Development, a.s.
HS facility, s.r.o.

Total other related parties

26 913

33 531

2 582

2 482

0

980

0

83

0

0

0

0

26 913

34 511

2 582

2 565

674 211

595 146

224 065

281 524

				
Total

The most significant purchase and sales volume is with EPISPOL, a.s. This subsidiary produces low molecular weight epoxy resins for
the Company under a toll fee production agreement. In a similar situation, CHS Epi, a.s. manufactures products for the Company in the
field of chlorine chemistry and SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, a.s., which produces sodium and potassium lye. The company provides these
companies with all the necessary infrastructure and administrative services.
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Members of statutory and supervisory bodies, and members of management
In addition to bonuses, the Company also covers the liability insurance of members of statutory and supervisory bodies
and management. In 2017, the Company paid 301 TCZK in liability insurance (2016: 299 TCZK).

In 2017 and 2016, members of the Company´s management did not receive any non-monetary benefits. For more information, see also comments in section 24. ANALYSIS OF EMPLOYEES.

30. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The indicator of comprehensive earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit or loss attributable to shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares issued for the year.

Net profit / loss from further work (in TCZK)
Number of ordinary shares issued

Basic earnings/loss per share indicator in CZK

31 December 2017
-167 422

3 878 816

-43.16

31 December 2016
-108 278

3 878 816
-27.91

		
Net profit / loss from winding up activities (in TCZK)
Number of ordinary shares issued

Basic earnings/loss per share indicator in CZK

36 675

3 878 816

9.46

19 436

3 878 816
5.01

Diluted earnings per share are consistent with the Basic earnings per share.

31. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
In 2017, the Company spent 28 242 TCZK (2016: 30 233 TCZK) on research and development. In-house expenses on
research and development activities amounted to 17 737 TCZK (2016: 15 315 TCZK).  

32. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
The Company has entered into an agreement to lease railcars for a fixed period till 29 September 2018. According to this
agreement, the Company will pay 17 887 TCZK for one year.

As at the reporting date, the Company did not conclude any significant contracts from which future potential liabilities
could arise.
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33. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Removal of environmental damage

The Company has a contract with the National Property Fund (since 2006 the Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic,
referred to as the “MF”), in which the MF has undertaken to cover the cost of removing old environmental burdens identified as at the date of privatisation of up to 2 900 000 TCZK.

If these costs exceed the level of state guarantees, it would be obliged to pay these expenses. As at the date of financial
statements the management has no information about the reality of this situation, so no provision has been created.

So far, a total of 2 779 631 TCZK has been spent for these purposes, of which 1 021 304 TCZK was spent to complete

the landfill remediation in Chabařovice. Currently, there is a soil remediation of the manufacturing facility of the Company
being carried out.

The estimated expenditure of the Ministry of Finance on the removal of old environmental burdens does not exceed the
adjusted contract between the Company and the Ministry of Finance. Since there is no withdrawal or acceptance of the
Company’s funds during the cleaning process of the area, the estimated costs are not reported as a provision.

Provided Guaranty

In 2006 the Company granted a guarantee to the subsidiary EPISPOL, a.s. for an investment loan in the amount of 600
000 TCZK from EXPOBANK CZ (previously LBBW Bank CZ). As at 31 December 2017, the outstanding portion of the loan

amounted to 227 747 TCZK (as at 31 December 2016: 188 184 TCZK). The company was informed that EXPOBANK CZ
submitted the receivables in question through the debt assignment agreement dated 11 April 2017 to AB - CREDIT a.s.

Based on the agreement on the accession to the commitment concluded by the Company, SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis and

Poštovní banka, a.s. as at 30 April 2014, the Company acceded, in full, the obligations of SPOLECHEMIE Electrolysis against
Poštovní banka, a.s. loan agreement no. 013/14/550088 (up to 32 000 TEUR) and loan agreement no. 014/14/550088 (up
to 2 500 TEUR), and commitments to meet all the debts of these commitments jointly and severally with SPOLECHEMIE

Electrolysis. As at 31 December 2015, it drew on the loan. The balance of the loan as of 31 December 2017 amounts to 758
947 TCZK (As at 31 December 2016: 802 926 TCZK). The Company was informed that Poštová banka had transferred the
claim in question to the ISTRO KAPITAL a.s. with a receivable assignment agreement dated 15 December 2017.

Based on the Treaty of Accession to the debt concluded between CHS Epi and Raiffeisenbank a.s. as at 24 November 2014

the Company acceded all the company’s debts to CHS Epi in full as Raiffaisenbank Loan no. US/288379/01/2014 (up to 152
000 TCZK) and undertook to repay all the debts on the loan jointly and severally with CHS Epi. In 2015 there was drawing
on the loan. The amount of this loan as at 31 December 2017 is 187 112 TCZK (as at 31 December 2015 in the value of 151

942 TCZK). The Company was informed that Raiffeisenbank had transferred the claims in question to the contract for the
transfer of claims dated 21 July 2016 to AB - CREDIT a.s.

Other contingent liabilities

In 2017, the Company was informed of the issuance of an Exchange Order in connection with the bill issued by the
Company for the amount of 40 116 TCZK. The bill of exchange in question was a reinsurance (not a payment) promissory

note, while the obligation provided by the present promissory note had already been fulfilled and therefore the Company
considered the claims of the Exchange Order to be irrelevant. The management of the Company is convinced that the

above facts will be demonstrated in the opposition proceedings against the payment order, which will result in the cance-

non-consolidated financial statements
llation of the payment order. The Company accounted for a provision in 2017 for the potential risk from the legal dispute
about payment of a bill.

Management is not aware of any other significant contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2017.

34. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Part of the result of the Company‘s re-financing negotiations was also the change in the creditor‘s liability for some non-bank loans as follows.

As of 31 March 2018, part of the receivables from loans granted by MONTE BRAVIA, a.s., as well as the related liabilities,

were transferred to ISTROKAPITAL, a.s., which fully assumed all rights and obligations of MONTE BRAVIA, a.s. arising
from related credit documentation.

As of 1 April 2018, credit conditions changed. The maturity of the loans was extended until 30 September 2032, with a
four-year postponement of principal repayments. At the same time, the interest rate was reduced to 5.2534% p.a. Assig-

ned receivables (or liabilities of the Company) were, under a separate agreement, subject to liabilities to AB - CREDIT a.s.
and ISTROKAPITAL, a.s. The subordination of the Company‘s liabilities was abolished on 1 April 2018.

In addition, as at 31 March 2018, all receivables from Pembroke Trading Limited‘s loans and related liabilities were assig-

ned to ISTROKAPITAL, a.s., which fully assumed all of Pembroke Trading Limited‘s rights and obligations arising from
the related credit documentation.

As of 1 April 2018, credit conditions changed. The maturity of the loans was extended until 30 September 2032, with a
four-year postponement of principal repayments. At the same time, the interest rate was reduced to 5.2534% p.a. Assig-

ned receivables (or liabilities of the Company) were, under a separate agreement, subject to liabilities to AB - CREDIT a.s.
and ISTROKAPITAL, a.s. Subordination of the Group‘s liabilities was abrogated on 1 April 2018.

On 29 October 2018 a court hearing was held in the case of the plaintiff Ing. Aleš Klaudy, the insolvency administrator of

VIAMONT, a.s. against Spolek as the defendant on the issuing of a promissory note payment order for the payment of the

promissory note amount of TCZK 40 116 with appurtenances (see the description in point 17 Provisions), during which
the submitted documentary evidence of both the parties was taken and other proposed evidence of the defendant was
refused for alleged redundancy. In concluding, the court delivered the judgment that the promissory note payment order
shall remain valid, with the defendant obliged to pay the court costs.

The brief justification of the court of the first instance stated that it did not see any connection between the accused promissory note and the documents submitted by the defendant and also that it was not demonstrated that it was a security
promissory note. The defendant’s other objections are, according to the court, irrelevant.

Seeing that the court of the first instance, according to the preliminary verbal grounds, did not deal with all the defen-

dant’s objections (especially the existence of the cause of the promissory note), did not take all the defendant’s proposed
evidence without an evident reason, insufficiently determined the facts (especially the circumstances of the issuing of the
promissory note) and also with regard to the fact that, according to the Company management, there was apparently an

error of law in the case, the Company is convinced that it will be necessary for a higher court to review the given decision
as part of an appeal. The management of the Company believes that the senate of the higher court will look at the Com-

pany’s relevant objections, which were properly applied from the beginning or, due to the evident procedural irregularities,
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it will return the case to the court of the first instance for additional evidence and the complete determination of the facts
of the case by the court of the first instance.

The Company’s opinion on the possibility of success in the case remains unchanged even after the decision of the court
of the first instance.

At the end of 2018, the Company reached an agreement with the creditor AB - CREDIT to prolong the maturity date of
loans in total amount of 751 MCZK. The prolongation was agreed until 31 December 2019. The Company has already prenegotiated further possible prolongation of the AB – CREDIT loans with maturity of 7 years. Within the scope of restructuralization, a transfer of subsidiary (EPISPOL, SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis, CHS Epi) to the creditor’s group, at a value set

by an independent appraiser, and the subsequent long-term rent of the enterprises of these entities by the Company, is
envisaged. The Company would simultaneously obtain the right (option) to formally buy-back the respective dsubsidiary

at a pre-defined price after the repayment of the loans. This envisaged scheme requires formal approval of both secured
creditors which, at the date of issuing thiese non-consolidated financial statements, had not yet been granted.

After the balance sheet date, there were no other events that were not disclosed in the previous sections of the notes to
the financial statements and which would have a material impact on the financial statements as at 31 December 2017.

In Ústí nad Labem, 21 December 2018

Ing. Daniel Tamchyna, MBA
Chairman of the Board of Directors

Ing. Jaromír Florián
Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors

9
report on relations

report on relations
Report of the Board of Directors of Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu,

akciová společnost on relations between the controlling entity and the controlled
entity and the controlled entity and entities controlled by the same controlling
entity for the 2017 accounting period
(„Report on Relations“)

(According to Section 82 of Act. No. 90/2012 Coll., on Commercial Companies and Cooperatives)
The Board of Directors of Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu, akciová společnost, with its registered office
in Ústí nad Labem-centrum, Revoluční 1930/86, Postal code 400 32, ID no.: 000 11 789,
registered in the Commercial Register at the Regional Court in Ústí nad Labem, Section B, File 47, as the
controlled company, prepared the following Report on Relations for the accounting period from 1 January 2017
to 31 December 2017 (hereinafter the “Decisive Period”).

1 Structure of relationship between the controlling entity and controlled entity and the controlled entity and entities
controlled by the same entity:
1.1 Controlled entity
The controlled entity is Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu, akciová společnost, with its registered office in Ústí nad
Labem, Revoluční 1930/86, Postal code 400 32, company ID no.: 000 11 789, registered in the Commercial Register at the
Regional Court in Ústí nad Labem, Section B, Insert 47 (hereinafter the “Controlled Entity”).

1.2 Controlling entity
According to the information available to the Board of Directors of the Controlled Entity acting with due diligence,
the Controlling Entity of the Controlled Entity was EURO CAPITAL ALLIANCE LTD., having its registered office at
Tortolla, Road Town, second floor, postal code 3321, British Virgin Islands (hereinafter referred to as „the Controlling
Entity“), which, according to the information available to the Board of Directors of the Controlled Entity, controlled
the Controlled Company indirectly through the company Via Chem Group, a.s., with its registered office at České
Budějovice, Rudolfovská tř. 303/113, post code 370 01, Registration No.: 266 94 590, registered in the Commercial
Register maintained by the Regional Court in České Budějovice Section B, Insert 2180 (hereinafter the „Via Chem
Group“), which exercised the voting rights with shares of 33.12% of the voting rights of the company.
The Board of Directors is not informed about the entity or entities controlling the Controlling Entity.
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1.3 Graphical representation of relations between the Controlling Entity and the Controlled Entity
and between the Controlled Entity and entities controlled by the same Controlling Entity
The diagram below shows the relationships between individuals within the structure of controlled relationships during the
decisive period, together with the share of the voting rights of individual entities/companies.

EURO CAPITAL
ALLIANCE ltd.

Via Chem Group, a.s.
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

STZ Development, a.s
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

Spolek pro chemickou
a hutní výrobu, akciová
společnost (33.12%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

CSS, a.s.
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

Via Chem Slovakia, a.s.
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

SPOLCHEMIE
Polyesters, a.s.
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

SPOLCHEMIE
Electrolysis a.s.
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

SYNPO,
akciová společnost
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

CHS Resins, a.s.
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

SPOLCHEMIE N.V
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

EPISPOL, a.s.
(90%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

SPOLCHEMIE
Distribution, a.s.
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

Spolchemie (M) Sdn.
Bhd.
(100%)
(1.1.2017 – 16.6.2017)

Bakelite Epoxy GmbH
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

CHS Epi, a.s.
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

SPOLCHEMIE, a.s.
(100%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)

SpolchemieRus
(99%)
(1.1.2017 - 31.12.2017)
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1.4 Concern of Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu in the Decisive Period
The Controlled Company is the controlling entity of the concern, pursuant to Section 79 of the Act on Business Corporations
and Cooperatives, which included the companies listed below as controlled entities in the decisive period

Legal entity

ID no.

from – to

SYNPO, akciová společnost
Pardubice - Zelené Předměstí, S. K. Neumanna 1316, PSČ 532 07

46504711

1.1.2017 – 31.12.2017

EPISPOL, a.s.
Revoluční 1930/86, Ústí nad Labem – centrum, 400 01 Ústí nad Labem

25449842

1.1.2017 – 31.12.2017

CHS Resins, a.s.
Revoluční 1930/86, Ústí nad Labem – centrum, 400 01 Ústí nad Labem

28207866

1.1.2017 – 31.12.2017

SPOLCHEMIE Electrolysis a.s.
Ústí nad Labem, Revoluční 1930/86, PSČ 40032

29200181

1.1.2017 – 31.12.2017

SPOLCHEMIE N.V.
Barbara Strozzilaan 201, 1083 HN, Amsterdam, Nizozemské království

342778531

1.1.2017 – 31.12.2017

SPOLCHEMIE Polyesters, a.s.
Prokopova 148/15, Žižkov, 130 00 Praha 3

04655443

1.1.2017 – 8.2.2017

Bakelite Epoxy GmbH
Victoriaplatz 2, Düsseldorf, Německo

HRB58704

1.1.2017 – 31.12.2017

Spolchemie (M) SdnBhd
C 15-1, level 15, Tower C, Megan Avenue II, 12 Jalan Yap Kwan Seng,
50450 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia

785686-T

1.1.2017 – 16.6.2017

SPOLCHEMIE Distribution, a.s.
Revoluční 1930/86, Ústí nad Labem – centrum, 400 01 Ústí nad Labem

24150584

1.1.2017 – 31.12.2017

CHS Epi, a.s.
Ústí nad Labem, Revoluční 1930/86, PSČ 40032

28207882

1.1.2017 – 31.12.2017

SPOLCHEMIE, a.s.
Prokopova 148/15, Žižkov, 130 00 Praha 3

037 07 873

1.1.2017 – 31.12.2017

SpolchemieRus
392000, město Tambov, ul. Montažnikov, dům 1, Rusko

6829110736

1.1.2017 – 31.12.2017

2 The role of the Company in the Concern
The Controlled Company is the leading entity in the concern, which is defined in paragraph 1.4 in this Report. The top
management of the Controlled Company participates in governance in other companies in the concern and asserts the
concern’s interests through mandate agreements and other contracts. The Company is a producer of synthetic resins. and
wide range of chemicals, especially in the field of inorganic chemistry. The production and processing is done in cooperation
with other companies in the concern.
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3 Form and means of control
According to the information available to the Board of Directors of the Controlled Entity, the Controlling Entity controlled
the Controlled entity indirectly via Via Chem Group, controlled by Via Chem Group, in which it exercised voting rights with
shares representing 100% of the voting rights of Via Chem Group during the Decisive Period.
Via Chem Group is the largest shareholder in Controlled Entity; as at 31 December 2017, Via Chem Group had a 33.12%
stake in the share capital and voting rights of the Controlled Entity. Since, according to the information of the Board of
Directors of the Controlled Entity, no other entity has a larger stake in the Controlled Entity, it can be assumed that the
Controlling Entity is an entity who can directly or indirectly exercise decisive influence in a business corporation within the
meaning of Paragraph 74 (1) of Act. No. 90/2012 Coll., on Commercial Companies and Cooperatives.
4 An overview of negotiations taken at the instigation or in the interest of the controlling entity or entities controlled
by the controlling entity in accordance with Section 82 (2d) of the Act on Commercial Companies and Cooperatives
In the Decisive Period, the Company made no legal negotiations or other decisions at the instigation of the Controlling Entity
or entities controlled by the Controlling Entity that related to the assets above 10% of the equity of the Company (according
to the latest financial statements).
5 An overview of common contracts in the Concern
5.1 Contracts concluded between the Controlled Entity and Controlling Entity which were valid in the decisive period:
There were no contracts between the Controlled Entity and the Controlling Entity that would be valid in the decisive period.
5.2 Contracts concluded between the Controlled Entity and other entities controlled by the Controlling Entity which were valid in
the decisive period:
CSS, a.s.
• On 1 January 2011 the Company concluded a contract with CSS, a.s. for the provision of services, as subsequently amended.
• On 2 January 2015 the Company concluded a contract with CSS, a.s. for the lease of non-residential premises.
• On 1 June 2010 the Company concluded an IT contract with CSS, a.s.
• On 1 June 2010 a framework agreement was concluded on the regulation of mutual relations in contracting a leased
vehicle rented by the Company to CSS a.s.
• On 23 June 2010 the Company concluded a contract for the provision of telecommunication services with CSS a.s.
• On 23 June 2010 the Company concluded a framework agreement on the regulation of mutual relations, rights,
obligations and services.
• On 1 November 2016 the Company concluded a command contract
• On 5 December 2016 the Company concluded a contract for the establishment of a lien
• On 31 January 2014 the Company concluded an agreement with CSS, a.s. on the recognition and repayment of the
obligation.
STZ Development, a.s.
• STZ Development granted a loan based on a loan contract from 10 August 2007.
Via Chem Slovakia, a.s.
• On 15 July 2016 the Company concluded a service contract with Via Chem Slovakia, a.s.
Via Chem Group, a.s.
• Via Chem Group granted a loan based on a loan contract from 5 October 2009.
• On 23 March 2009 the Company concluded a guarantee contract witch Via Chem Group, a.s.
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6 Assessing whether the Controlled Entity was harmed and the assessment of its compensation
According to the review of the legal relations between the Controlled Entity and the Controlling Entity and between the
Controlled Entity and entities controlled by the same Controlling Entity, it is obvious that the Controlled Entity incurred no
harm at the initiative of related entities due to contracts, other legal acts and other measures concluded, made or received
by the Controlled Entity in the Decisive Period.
The compensation under Sections 71 and 72 of the Act on Commercial Companies and Cooperatives is therefore not taken
into consideration.
7 Risk evaluation and relationships within the Concern
The Company has particular benefits through participation in the Concern. The Concern is a group with a strong financial
background and with convenient access to funding. This is good for the Company, especially when the Company concludes
business with its suppliers and during negotiations with banks and with other lenders, which results in cost reductions.
The Company incurs no disadvantages from participation in the Concern.
The Company faces no risks by being in the Concern.
8 Confidentiality of the information
The Board of Directors of the Company states that this Report on relations does not contain any confidential information,
whereas confidential information that is not publicly disclosed is considered to be information and facts that are part of
the trade secrets of the Controlling Entity, Controlled Entity and related parties and the information that was identified as
confidential by any of these individuals. In addition it also includes all business information that could be on its own or in
conjunction with other information or facts to the detriment of any of these entities.
This report was prepared by the Board of Directors, as the statutory body of the Company, on the basis of information
known by the Chairman and the member of the Board of Directors, as entities acting with due diligence.

Ústí nad Labem, 31 March 2018

Spolek pro chemickou a hutní výrobu, akciová společnost

Ing. Daniel Tamchyna, MBA             
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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 Ing. Jaromír Florián

Vice-Chairman of the Board of Directors

SPOLEK PRO CHEMICKOU A HUTNÍ VÝROBU,
AKCIOVÁ SPOLEČNOST
ADDRESS: Revoluční 1930/86, 400 32  Ústí nad Labem, Czech Republic
PHONE: +420 477 161 111 | FAX: +420 477 163 333
E-MAIL: info@spolchemie.cz | WEB: www.spolchemie.cz

